
Vale of White Horse District Council 
Scrutiny Committee agenda - Monday, 26 July 2021 

 Page 1 

Agenda 

 
Contact: Candida Mckelvey, Democratic Services 
Telephone number: 07895 213820 
Email: candida.mckelvey@southandvale.gov.uk 
Date: 16 July 2021 
Website: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk 
 

 

 

A meeting of the  

Scrutiny Committee 

will be held on Monday, 26 July 2021 at 6.00 pm  
at the Council offices at 135 Milton Park, Abingdon 
 
This meeting will be broadcasted online. The live stream can be watched here: 
https://www.youtube.com/c/southandvalecommitteemeetings 
 
 

Members of the Committee: 

Councillors:  

Nathan Boyd (Chair)  
Jerry Avery 
Ron Batstone 
 

Eric De La Harpe 
Hayleigh Gascoigne 
David Grant 
 
 

Patrick O’Leary 
Ben Mabbett 
Max Thompson 

Substitutes  
 
Councillors: 

Paul Barrow 
Eric Batts 
Samantha Bowring 
 

Andy Foulsham 
Alison Jenner 
Diana Lugova 
 
 

Sarah Medley 
Janet Shelley 
Elaine Ware 
 

 

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These 
include large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read.  For this or any 
other special requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the 
officer named on this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible 
before the meeting. 
 
 
Steven Corrigan 
Democratic Services Manager 
 

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/c/southandvalecommitteemeetings


Vale of White Horse District Council 
Scrutiny Committee agenda - Monday, 26 July 2021 

 Page 2 

 

Agenda 

 

Open to the Public including the Press 
 

1. Apologies for absence  
  
  
To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.   
 

2. Declarations of interest  
  
  
To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on the 
agenda for this meeting.    
 

3. Urgent business and chair's announcements  
  
  
To receive notification of any matters which the chair determines should be considered as 
urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the matters urgent, and 
to receive any announcements from the chair.   
 

4. Minutes  
(Pages 4 - 9)  
  
To adopt and sign as a correct record the Scrutiny Committee minutes of the meetings 
held on 8 February 2021 and 9 March 2021  
 

5. Public participation  
  
  
To receive any questions or statements from members of the public that have registered to 
speak.   
 
REPORTS AND ISSUES FOR THE CONSIDERATION OF THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 
 

6. Vale Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging schedule  
(Pages 10 - 44)  
  
For committee to consider the Cabinet paper and make any recommendations to Cabinet. 

 

7. Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
- Adoption  

(Pages 45 - 134)  
  
For committee to consider the Cabinet paper and make any recommendations to Cabinet. 

 



Vale of White Horse District Council 
Scrutiny Committee agenda - Monday, 26 July 2021 

 Page 3 

8. Work schedule and dates for all South and Vale scrutiny meetings  
(Pages 135 - 139)  
  
To review the attached scrutiny work schedule. Please note, although the dates are confirmed, the 
items under consideration are subject to being withdrawn, added to or rearranged without further 
notice. 
 



Vale of White Horse District Council – Scrutiny Committee minutes 

Monday, 8 February 2021 Sc.1

Minutes
of a meeting of the
Scrutiny Committee
held on Monday, 8 February 2021 at 6.00 pm
This was a virtual meeting. 
You can watch the recording here: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ

Open to the public, including the press

Present: 

Members: Councillors Nathan Boyd (Chair), Jerry Avery, Ron Batstone, Cheryl Briggs, 
Hayleigh Gascoigne, David Grant, Robert Maddison and Max Thompson

Officers: Simon Hewings, Candida Mckelvey, Adrianna Partridge, Margaret Reed.

Also present: Cabinet member Councillor Andrew Crawford

Sc.94 Apologies for absence 

Samantha Bowring sent her apologies.

Sc.95 Minutes 

The public minutes of the meeting on 15 December 2020 were agreed as a correct record and the 
chair will sign them as such.

There was a confidential part of the meeting planned to discuss confidential minutes of 15 
December and one finance appendix that contained some additional figures. The chair asked if the 
committee would be happy to agree these now, or whether a confidential session was deemed 
necessary.

Chair explained that further confidential details from the meeting on 15 December 2020 would be 
revealed at the appropriate time. At present, such details were still commercially sensitive.

The committee agreed that the confidential minutes of 15 December 2020 were a correct record, 
and the chair will sign them as such.

Sc.96 Declarations of interest 

None.

Page 4

Agenda Item 4

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ


Vale of White Horse District Council – Scrutiny Committee minutes 

Monday, 8 February 2021 Sc.2

Sc.97 Urgent business and chair's announcements 

No urgent business, normal housekeeping rules apply.

Chair added that the confidential appendix A6 of the budget report would need discussing in 
private but would not be necessary if there were no questions.

Sc.98 Public participation 

None.

Sc.99 Budget 2021/22 

The budget 2021-22 Cabinet report was introduced by Cabinet member for Finance and Corporate 
assets, Councillor Andrew Crawford. The Interim Head of Finance, Simon Hewings, was present to 
answer questions.
He explained that the budget required a thorough review of all budget codes. Gratitude was 
expressed to officers who worked on this. There were no cuts to frontline services. Comments from 
Scrutiny were welcomed before presentation to Council.

The Interim Head of Finance added that budget setting was a statutory duty, and the council was 
required to set a council tax. 

A question was asked on page ten of the report. The estimate of total capital expenditure was £12 
million. Why were the estimates lower in later years? It was responded that the affordable homes 
commitment part of the growth deal is a large commitment with £8 million budgeted to contribute to 
affordable homes delivery. This was a one off. There were Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
payments also, to Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) and the Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) for this year and next. These distort figures for this year and next.

What were the long-term plans to improve the budget? 
The Cabinet Member for Finance said that a cautious approach was taken to determining what 
funding from government we would get. The council is going ahead with projects despite Covid-19, 
which will contribute positively to the budget. The corporate plan was now in place, and we will 
plan to tackle the unsustainability of the current council tax rate and the caps that were in place. 
We had not accounted for capital receipts that we do not have yet. There was opportunity to save 
money and make income from council property.

The Interim Head of Finance added that a raft of items across all services will be needed to 
balance the budget.

Councillor Avery had connection issues and had no questions on the paper because he was 
unable to hear the meeting until half an hour into the meeting.

On page 16, an explanation was sought regarding small staff increments, reduction in training, the 
Beacon. The Interim Head of Finance explained that items in Appendix A2 were previously agreed 
decisions in last year’s budget.

Paragraph 16 – New Homes Bonus (NHB) – when will we have clarity on the figures?
The Interim Head of Finance answered that the final settlement figures were just published and will 
be debated in Parliament, so are unlikely to change.
It was clarified that in paragraph 25, we had made allowance in 2022/23 for NHB legacy payments. 
Core revenue spending power has been estimated forward over the life of the MTFP period. In 
reference to line 48 in the MTFP it was noted that there was uncertainty over what a future scheme 
will look like at this stage.

Page 5



Vale of White Horse District Council – Scrutiny Committee minutes 

Monday, 8 February 2021 Sc.3

Waste collection service on page 23 – increase in contract cost. What was the cost of garden 
waste collection to the council? Cabinet member answered that there was an indexation increase 
in the Biffa contract. Biffa collected from more properties. Brown bins collection was discretionary, 
and the council was charged by Biffa per bin and there was a small surplus.

On page 16 – regarding the climate emergency budget. Why was there no budget in future years? 
It was responded that in opening budget adjustments – this was a one-off budget last year, a one-
off programme of work. There was new staffing for climate emergency. The corporate plan 
supported this area of work and it will be revisited in due course.

The chair summed up that there was no formal recommendation for scrutiny to make. The 
committee were informed that the Cabinet member for finance noted feedback from the committee.

Cabinet member and officers were thanked for their work and time.

Sc.100 Work schedule and dates for all South and Vale scrutiny 
meetings 

The GLL report had been moved to later in the year.
The GLL confidential item had been moved forward to a meeting on 9 March.
A34 diversion item had been moved as staff had been redeployed to Covid-19 work.
There may be a June 2021 report on office accommodation.
The corporate delivery plan and discretionary growth bid process may be looked at in May 2021. 
Chair is due to meet with officers to set further dates, and the chair encouraged committee 
members to get in touch if they had any other items to add.

Sc.101 Exclusion of the public 

The committee agreed that the confidential session was not required.

Sc.102 confidential minutes 

None.

Sc.103 Budget 21/22: confidential appendix A6 

None.

The meeting closed at 6.41 pm

Page 6



Vale of White Horse District Council – Scrutiny Committee minutes 

Tuesday, 9 March 2021 Sc.1

Minutes
of a meeting of the
Scrutiny Committee
held on Tuesday, 9 March 2021 at 6.00 pm

This was a virtual meeting
View the recording here: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ

Open to the public, including the press

Present: 

Members: Councillors Nathan Boyd (Chair), Jerry Avery, Ron Batstone, Cheryl Briggs, 
Hayleigh Gascoigne, David Grant and Max Thompson

Officers:  Pat Connell, Adrian Duffield, Simon Hewings, Suzanne Malcolm, Candida 
Mckelvey, Lucy Murfett, Adrianna Partridge, Margaret Reed and Melanie Smans

Also present: Cabinet members: Councillors Andrew Crawford, Helen Pighills, Emily 
Smith and Catherine Webber.
David Hutton QC – Bevan Brittan LLP

Sc.104 Apologies for absence 

Apologies were received from Councillor Debby Hallett, who was due to present. Councillor Emily 
Smith was in attendance to present the item on a Joint Local Plan.

Committee member, Councillor Jerry Avery, informed the committee that he had a clash with a 
Parish Council, so he attended for part of the meeting only.

Sc.105 Declarations of interest 

None.

Sc.106 Urgent business and chair's announcements 

Chair had no urgent business but ran through the usual meeting housekeeping.

Sc.107 Public participation 

None.

Sc.108 A joint local plan 

Page 7

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ


Vale of White Horse District Council – Scrutiny Committee minutes 

Tuesday, 9 March 2021 Sc.2

Councillor Emily Smith introduced the report on a joint local plan.
Also present to answer questions was Adrian Duffield, Head of Planning, and Lucy Murfett, 
Planning Policy Manager.
This was a paper regarding the principle of have a joint local plan, not a discussion on the 
governance.
A joint local plan would be worked on over the next 4 years, whilst the current local plan is in place. 
The plan would cover 2021 to 2041. However, there was housing allocation already planned up 
until 2031. The housing allocation for the joint local plan would be for long term.
Both Vale of White Horse (VOWH) and South Oxfordshire (SODC) district councils have Corporate 
Plan similarities and shared boundaries. Both councils had already worked jointly, so are already 
set up for joint working in the future. This will be simpler for policy and would save money.
Neighbourhood plans would remain an important aspect of planning and community involvement. 
A joint plan may have the perception of being less democratic. However, under a Section 28 
arrangement, both councils retain their decision-making powers for respective districts.
The Local development scheme timeline needed approving. A key public consultation will be in 
summer 2022.
Councils would expect to see savings, especially at the examination of the joint plan, as the 
examination costs can be cut by sharing.
To date, around £1 million per year was spent on local plan preparation.

Committee were asked for their views on the principle, and the cabinet member would consider 
them.

Chair highlighted that the confidential advice provided previously could not be discussed at this 
meeting.

The following comments and clarifications were made:
 The difference between a section 28 and a section 29 arrangement was explained. Section 

28 enabled both councils to have separate planning committees. The downside was 
potential delays. A section 29 arrangement would require formation of a new committee, 
including Oxfordshire County Council (OCC). This would likely be a faster process but 
would require relinquishing some power.

 It was confirmed that the Local Development Scheme timetable could be subject to delays, 
especially relating to the Oxfordshire Plan 2050, and confidence was unknown at this 
stage.

 Section 28 arrangement would mean there would be separate planning committees.
 The committee enquired about whether a joint plan can be split in the future – was there a 

point of no return? Officers responded that there was opportunity to split the plan up to the 
Regulation 19, but once submitted it would be harder to do so. This would also cause 
delays and increased costs for examination.

 If one council decided to withdraw from the joint plan, they would be without a plan, and the 
other council could continue with the plan.

 SODC judicial review - it was hard to anticipate the impact. However, any delay would not 
impact on creating a joint local plan.

 Concerns of residents regarding localness – there was opportunity to create sub areas, 
district specific policies to reassure.

 There are national examples of success – West Country, North Devon/Torridge, Plymouth / 
SW Devon, Greater Cambridgeshire. All used a section 28 agreement. Some in 
Lincolnshire used Section 29.

 Use of neighbourhood plans and localised policies can’t be in conflict with the local plan / 
strategic policy.

 There will be a live issues and risk register – with monthly updates and flags to the steering 
group and relevant cabinet members.

 The Arc’s spatial framework was new ground – the government have started engagement 
on a vision.

Page 8



Vale of White Horse District Council – Scrutiny Committee minutes 

Tuesday, 9 March 2021 Sc.3

 Committee want to ensure no erosion of democracy – tied to the Government White Paper. 
This would have no bearing on having a joint plan.

 Confirmed that the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 needed to move forward.
 Officers added that the new Corporate Plan is a trigger for scoping a Joint Local Plan, the 

timing was ideal.

The committee felt that a section 28 arrangement was less complicated. It was confirmed by 
officers that supplementary planning documents (SPD’s) can still be separate but must hang off the 
Joint Local Plan policies.

The committee offered no recommendations but provided the cabinet member with the views 
above.

Sc.109 Work schedule and dates for all South and Vale scrutiny 
meetings 

Chair reminded the committee that a new version had been published and circulated. There was a 
delay to the A34 item and it was hoped to see the item by the end of the year. If there were any 
queries or ideas for the plan, please contact the chair.

Sc.110 Exclusion of the public 

The committee had to consider whether to exclude members of the press and public from the 
meeting for the following item of business under Part 1 of Schedule 12A Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 and as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006 on the grounds that:
(i) it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1-7
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and
(ii) the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information.

Resolved: to
Exclude the press and public to consider agenda items 8 and 9 in confidential session.

Sc.111 Leisure management overview 

The committee considered the report on leisure management overview.

Sc.112 Covid-19 leisure support package 

The committee considered the report on Covid-19 leisure support package.

The meeting closed at 7.17 pm

Page 9



Cabinet Report 

 
Report of Head of Planning 

Author: Alison Williams 

Telephone: 01245 422600 

E-mail: Alison.Williams@southandvale.gov.uk 

Wards affected: All 

 

Cabinet member responsible: Debby Hallett 

Tel: 07545 241013 

E-mail: Debby.Hallett@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 

To: Cabinet 

Date: 1 October 2021 

 

 
 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

Charging Schedule – Adoption 

Recommendations 

To recommend Council to: 
 
(a) Adopt the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (at Appendix 2) 
and the CIL Instalments Policy (at Appendix 3), with an implementation date of 01 
November 2021. 

(b) Delegate to the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and Transformation, any necessary further minor changes to the 
documents or a change to the implementation date for the new CIL rates. 

 
Purpose of Report 

 
1. To consider the Examiner’s report and recommendations, following the independent 

Examination of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule, including 
the Examiner’s required modification to the Schedule. 
 

2. To consider the CIL Charging Schedule (as amended) and the accompanying 
Instalment Policy for adoption by Council on 6 October 2021. 

 

Corporate Objectives 
 
3. Under Theme 1 (Providing the Homes People Need) of the Vale Corporate Plan 2020 

to 2024, developing a Section 106 obligations strategy and updating the Council’s CIL 

 

Page 10

Agenda Item 6



procedures are listed as actions to achieve the corporate objectives of adopting a 
policy framework that ensures the homes people need can be delivered in a way that 
supports the environment and people living healthy lives. 

 

Background 
 

4. Funding for the infrastructure necessary to support new development across the 
District can be sought in a variety of ways. The Council currently utilises the following 
main mechanisms for securing infrastructure contributions from developers: 
 

 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  

 Section 106 planning obligations (S106) 
 

5. Following the adoption of Part 1 of the Local Plan 2031 in December 2016, the Council 
adopted its current CIL Charging Schedule and Developer Contributions SPD in 
September 2017, with the commencement of CIL in November 2017. The Council 
subsequently adopted Part 2 of the Local Plan 2031 in October 2019, which included 
new site allocations and additional infrastructure requirements. There have also been 
changes to the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations1, including: 
 

 the removal of pooling restrictions for S106 obligations (i.e. the now cancelled 
requirement that no more than five S106 obligations can fund a single infrastructure 
project); 

 removing the need for a Regulation 123 list (i.e. a list of infrastructure projects to be 
funded by CIL as opposed to S106); and 

 introducing a new requirement to produce an annual Infrastructure Funding 
Statement. 

 
6. Furthermore, it is evident that the 2017 CIL rates are not generating sufficient funds to 

help deliver the necessary infrastructure to support planned development. In particular, 
funding for education is falling short and it is now proposed, in the main, to secure 
education through S106. 
 

7. In light of all the above, the Council considered it was necessary to conduct a review of 
both the CIL Charging Schedule and Developer Contributions SPD. The CIL review 
has been carried out in accordance with the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended) and a 
draft version of the Charging Schedule together with associated viability evidence, was 
approved by Cabinet for public consultation on 18 Dec 2020. The review of the 
Developer Contributions SPD has been completed and is the subject of a separate 
report which Cabinet will consider for adoption on 1 October.  
 
Consultation and Independent Examination of the Draft Charging Schedule 

 
8. Public consultation was carried out between 12 January and 8 February 2021. The 

Council subsequently considered all the representations received and produced a 
Statement of Representations document, which provided a summary of the main 
issues raised by the 31 respondents and detailed the Council’s response on each of 
these issues. It also set out modifications to the Draft Charging Schedule. On 19 March 
2021, the Council formally submitted the Draft CIL Charging Schedule March 2021 

                                            
1 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010, as amended by the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(Amendment) (England) (No. 2) Regulations 2019. 

Page 11



(Submission Version, as modified) and associated evidence documents for 
independent Examination. Anyone wishing to comment on the modifications was, in 
accordance with the Regulations, given from 19 March to 16 April 2021 to do so. Only 
one response was received, which just acknowledged notification, with no comments 
made.  
 

9. Mr Keith Holland BA (Hons) DipTP MRTPI ARICS conducted a virtual hearing session 
on Thursday 27 May 2021, which followed an agenda circulated prior to the meeting. 
The virtual hearing was live streamed via the Council’s YouTube channel, to enable 
anyone interested to follow proceedings online.  

 
10. The Examiner issued his report with recommendations to the Council on 2 July 2021. 

His report has now been published on the Council’s website and can be found at 
Appendix 1 to this Cabinet report.  

 
11. In his report, the Examiner seeks answers to four key questions: 

 

 Q1 – Has the charging authority complied with the legislative requirements set out 
in the Planning Act and the CIL Regulations, including undertaking an appropriate 
level of consultation? 
 

 Q2 - Is the draft charging schedule supported by background documents containing 
appropriate available evidence? 

 

 Q3 - Are the proposed rates informed by and consistent with the evidence on 
viability across the charging authority’s area? 
 

 Q4 - Has evidence been provided that shows the proposed rate or rates would not 
undermine the deliverability of the plan? 
 

12. Mr Holland considered that the draft charging schedule complied with the CIL 
Regulations and national planning policy/guidance and that it was supported by 
detailed evidence of community infrastructure needs, underpinned by a comprehensive 
viability assessment. He also considered that the evidence used to inform the Charging 
Schedule was robust, proportionate and appropriate. 
 

13. Overall, Mr Holland concluded that the Council had provided sufficient evidence that 
showed the proposed rates would not threaten delivery of the Local Plan and that the 
draft Charging Schedule would provide an appropriate basis for the collection of CIL in 
the District. He therefore recommended that the draft Charging Schedule be approved. 

 
14. The Examiner specified one modification (EM1) to the draft Charging Schedule. This 

reflects a request from the Council to correct paragraph 5.4 and the legend to Figure 1, 
removing reference to ‘Shippon’. In addition, ‘Woolton’ should read ‘Wootton’ in 
paragraph 5.4.  

 
15. The Council also asked the Examiner to consider one further modification to Table 1, to 

clarify that schemes of between 6 and 9 dwellings in the Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty will be charged as major development, ‘where affordable housing contributions 
are sought’. The Examiner included this modification as EM2 in his final report. The CIL 
Charging Schedule (Appendix 2) has been updated to incorporate these required 
modifications, which are simply minor corrections. 

Page 12



 
16. In light of the above, Officers recommend that the CIL Charging Schedule, as modified, 

is considered for adoption by Council on 6 October 2021.  
 

CIL Instalments Policy 
 

17. National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) recognises that few, if any, developments 
generate value until they are complete (either in whole or in phases). Regulation 69B of 
the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended) consequently allows charging authorities to 
introduce a CIL Instalments Policy and gives each authority the freedom to decide the 
number of payments, the amount and when instalments are due. The Council 
introduced a CIL Instalments Policy in September 2017 alongside the adopted CIL 
Charging Schedule (2017). Officers consider that administration of this policy has 
worked well to date and no changes are proposed, except the date of implementation, 
so that it is clear that the Instalments Policy will be applicable to the revised Charging 
Schedule, when adopted (see Appendix 3). 
 
Implementation of the new CIL Rates 
 

18. Officers consider that an implementation date of 01 November 2021 will be achievable. 
However, it is recommended that the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Corporate Services and Transformation, is given the power to alter this 
implementation date if necessary. 
 

Options 
 
19. Not updating the CIL Charging Schedule is an option, but this would mean relying on 

the current 2017 version and the Council not being able to increase its CIL rates in 
order to contribute towards plugging the significant infrastructure funding gap that has 
been identified in the Vale district. 
 

Climate and ecological impact implications 
 

20. The Council and town or parish councils will be able to use CIL receipts to contribute 
towards: (i) carbon reduction measures which will help to mitigate the impact that new 
development and associated infrastructure has on local and global climate change; (ii) 
improving biodiversity, green spaces and green infrastructure; and (iii) mitigating any 
air quality, flood prevention and water management impacts arising from new 
development. 
 

Financial Implications 
 

21. Once adopted and implemented, the CIL Charging Schedule will help the Council to 
secure significant funding towards necessary infrastructure in the district.  

 
Legal Implications 
 

22. The CIL Charging Schedule has been prepared, consulted upon and independently 
examined under the provisions of the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended). There are 
no wider legal implications.  
 

Page 13



 
 
Risks 
 

23. As due process has been followed (as set out in the CIL Regulations 2010, as 
amended) and the Draft Charging Schedule has been assessed by an independent 
Examiner, any risk of a legal challenge following the Council’s adoption and 
implementation of the Charging Schedule is limited.  

 
Other implications 
 

24. There are no other implications arising from this report. 
 

Conclusion 
 

25. Once the Council has adopted the CIL Charging Schedule and the new CIL rates have 
come into force, it will sit alongside the adopted Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 
(Parts 1 and 2) and the Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document 
and will help us deliver our development objectives and secure funding towards 
necessary infrastructure to support planned growth in the District. 

 

Background Papers 
 

 Appendix 1 – Examiner’s report with recommendations 

 Appendix 2 – Vale CIL Charging Schedule 

 Appendix 3 – Vale CIL Instalments Policy 

 

Page 14



Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL 

Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84 

1 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

AN EXAMINATION UNDER SECTION 212 

OF THE PLANNING ACT 2008 (AS AMENDED)  

 

REPORT ON THE DRAFT VALE OF WHITE HORSE DISTRICT COUNCIL   

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY CHARGING SCHEDULE 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
Independent Examiner (appointed by the Council): Keith Holland BA (Hons) 
DipTP MRTPI ARICS 

 
Charging Schedule Submitted for Examination: 19 March 2021 

 
Date of Report: 2 July 2021 

 

 

Page 15



Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL 

Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84 

2 
 

Main Findings - Executive Summary 

 
In this report I have concluded that the draft Vale of White Horse Community 
Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule provides an appropriate basis for the 

collection of the levy in the area.  
 

The Council has provided sufficient evidence that shows the proposed rates 
would not threaten delivery of the Local Plan. 
 

The specified modifications EM1 and EM2 requested by the Council and 
recommended in this report do not alter the basis of the Council’s overall 

approach or the appropriate balance achieved. 

 

 
Introduction 

 
1. I have been appointed by the Vale of White Horse District Council, the 

charging authority, to examine the draft Vale of White Horse Community 

Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule.  I am a chartered town 
planner with more than 50 years’ experience, including 25 years’ experience 

inspecting and examining development plans and CIL Charging Schedules 
as a Government Planning Inspector.   

 
2. This report contains my assessment of the Charging Schedule in terms of 

compliance with the requirements in Part 11 of the Planning Act 2008 as 

amended (‘the Act’) and the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 as 
amended (‘the Regulations’).1 Section 212(4) of the Act terms these 

collectively as the “drafting requirements”. I have also had regard to the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the CIL section of the 
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG).2 

 
3. To comply with the relevant legislation, the submitted Charging Schedule 

must strike what appears to the charging authority to be an appropriate 
balance between helping to fund necessary new infrastructure and the 
potential effects on the economic viability of development across the 

District. The PPG states3 that the examiner should establish that: 
 

- the charging authority has complied with the legislative requirements 
set out in the Act and the Regulations; 
 

- the draft charging schedule is supported by background documents 
containing appropriate available evidence; 

 

                                       
1 The Regulations have been updated through numerous statutory instruments since 

2010, including notably the Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) (England) (No. 

2) Regulations 2019, which came into force on 1 September 2019 (subject to a 

transitional arrangement in relation to Part 3 of the 2010 Regulations). 
2 The CIL section of the PPG was substantially updated on 1 September 2019. 
3 See PPG Reference ID: 25-040-20190901. 

Page 16

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/29/part/11


Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL 

Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84 

3 
 

- the charging authority has undertaken an appropriate level of 
consultation; 

 
- the proposed rate or rates are informed by, and consistent with, the 

evidence on viability across the charging authority’s area; and 
 

- evidence has been provided that shows the proposed rate or rates 

would not undermine the deliverability of the plan (see NPPF 
paragraph 34). 

 
4. The basis for the examination, which took place through a virtual hearing 

on 27 May 2021, is the version of the draft Charging Schedule consulted on 
under Regulation 16 (11 January 2021 to 8 February 2021) combined with 

the Statement of Modifications submitted with the draft Schedule on 19 
March 2021. Public consultation on the Statement of Modifications took 

place from 19 March 2021 until 16 April 2021. 
 

5. The Council’s CIL Charging Schedule was approved in July 2017 and came 

into effect in September 2017. That schedule identified three charging 
zones for residential development, with rates ranging from £0 to £120 per 

sq. m for residential development (excluding extra care, nursing and care 
homes) and £100 for supermarkets and retail warehousing.  The Council 

decided to revise the existing Charging Schedule to reflect the adoption of 
its Part 2 Local Plan (LPP2).4  In summary, the Council now propose a 
matrix approach as follows:  

 

Development Type 

 

Proposed CIL Rate (£ per sq. m) 

Residential development 

(including student 
accommodation, HMOs5, 

age restricted and 
sheltered housing) 

Zone 1: 

Eastern 
Parishes 

Zone 2: 

Built up areas of 
Wantage, Grove 

and Faringdon 
including Grove 
Technology Park 

Zone 3: 

Rest of 
the 

District 

Major Schemes (10 
dwellings and more net).  

Schemes of between 6 and 
9 dwellings in the Area of 

Outstanding Beauty are 
charged as major 
development 

£280 £100 £200 

Minor Schemes (9 
dwellings and fewer net). 

Other chargeable 
residential development 

(e.g. residential extensions 
over 100 sq. m and 

£340 £160 £260 

                                       
4 Adopted 9 October 2019. 
5 Houses in Multiple Occupation. 

Page 17



Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL 

Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84 

4 
 

annexes) will be charged 

at the relevant zone rate 

  
Strategic sites  £0 

Institutional accommodation: 
Extra-care, nursing and care homes 

£0 

Supermarkets and Retail 
Warehousing  

£117 

Residential rural exception site  £0 

All other development £0 

 
The Eastern Parishes are Cumnor, Wytham, North Hinksey, South Hinksey, 

Kennington, Wootton, Sunningwell, Radley, Abingdon, Drayton, Sutton 
Courtenay, Appleford-on-Thames, Milton, Harwell, Chilton, Upton and 
Blewbury.  It should be noted that the Council has drawn attention to the 

mistake in paragraph 5.4 and in the legend to Figure 1 of the draft 
Charging Schedule.  In both instances the reference to Shippon is incorrect 

as Shippon is not a Parish itself - it lies within St Helen Without Parish.  The 
references to Shippon should be removed and the Council has requested 
that these corrections be included in any recommendation. I further note 

the reference to Woolton in paragraph 5.4 should be to Wootton (see 
EM1).  The strategic sites are Crab Hill, Didcot Power Station, East of 

Coxwell Road, Faringdon, Grove Airfield, Land South of Park Road 
Faringdon, Monks Farm, North of Shrivenham, South of Faringdon, Valley 
Park, North West Valley Park, Dalton Barracks, East of Kingston Bagpuize 

and North West Grove – (see Vale of White Horse Local Plan Part 1 (LPP1) 
and LPP2).  The Council proposes that the infrastructure requirements for 

these strategic sites should be delivered through S106 and S278 
agreements. For clarification, the Council has requested that the words 
"where affordable housing contributions are provided" be added to the end 

of the sentence denoted by a single asterisk in Table 1 of the draft 
Charging Schedule (EM2).     

       
Has the charging authority complied with the legislative requirements 
set out in the Act and the Regulations, including undertaking an 

appropriate level of consultation? 
 

6. The consultation process undertaken by the Council involved publishing the 
full range of supporting documents and the draft Charging Schedule on its 
website, informing the Regulation 16 “consultation bodies” and notifying all 

those registered on the Council’s notification base (around 2,200 
consultees).  The documentation was not put on public deposit because of 

the Covid-19 pandemic but any interested party could make arrangements 
with Council officials to inspect the documents on an appointment basis.  No 

requests to inspect the documents were received.  In total there were 31 
written responses to the Regulation 16 consultations and a further response 
was received as a result of the consultation on the Statement of 

Modifications.    

Page 18



Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL 

Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84 

5 
 

7. The Charging Schedule complies with the Act and the Regulations, including 
in respect of the statutory processes and public consultation, consistency 

with the adopted Local Plan and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan, and is 
supported by an adequate financial appraisal. I also consider it compliant 

with the national policy and guidance contained in the NPPF and PPG 
respectively. 

 

Is the draft charging schedule supported by background documents 
containing appropriate available evidence? 

 
Infrastructure planning evidence 

8. LPP1 for the Vale of White Horse District was adopted in 2016.  LPP1 sets 

out the spatial strategy and the strategic policies for the District.  LPP1 sets 
a housing requirement of 20,560 new homes between 2011 and 2031.  

LPP2 complements LPP1 by setting out detailed policies and additional 
allocations, including locations for housing to accommodate some of Oxford 
City’s unmet housing need.  LPP2 was adopted in October 2019, with a 

revised housing requirement of 22,760 homes to take into account the need 
to assist with Oxford’s unmet housing need.  Both LPP1 and LPP2 were 

supported by Infrastructure Delivery Plans (IDPs).  The IDP for LPP1 related 
to the growth levels set in LPP1 while the IDP for LPP2 focused on 

development identified in LPP2 without updating the IDP produced for LPP1.     

9. The IDPs for the Vale detail a number of infrastructure projects set against 
potential and known funding sources.  Sub-regional and national funding 

sources have been taken into account including the Oxfordshire Housing 
and Growth Deal, the City Deal and the Housing Infrastructure Fund.  The 

total cost of the identified infrastructure is around £1.3 billion.  After taking 
into account identified sources of finance, a funding gap of at least £285 
million remains.  The most significant gap relates to strategic highways 

infrastructure.  None of the representations made seriously challenge the 
existence of a significant funding gap.       

10. In the light of the information provided, the proposed charge would make 
only a modest contribution towards filling the likely funding gap.  The 
figures clearly demonstrate the need to levy CIL. 

Economic viability evidence     

11. Aspinall Verdi (AV) has produced viability evidence to support the Council’s 

proposed changes to the existing CIL charging schedule.  An initial report 
was produced in April 2019 which was then supplemented by an Addendum 
Report in August 2020.  The 2020 work provided an update to the initial 

assessment.  AV have also referred to the viability work undertaken by HDH 
in 2015 to inform LPP1 and the Council’s first CIL.  

12. AVs work has demonstrated that based on both new build and second hand 
prices, residential values are higher in the eastern part of the District than in 
the west.  The higher value zone lies to the east of the A34 road.  Within the 

lower value western zone there are three built up areas (Faringdon, Grove 

Page 19



Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL 

Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84 

6 
 

and Wantage) that are likely to be the location of the majority of brownfield 
development in the western zone.  Given that the development of brownfield 

land is likely to be more costly than green field land, a lower CIL charge is 
proposed for these towns.  Hence the 3 zone approach proposed. 

13. In assessing viability, it is necessary to have regard to the type of 
development anticipated in the area.  The use of typical anticipated 
development site types (typologies) rather than specific site examples is 

frequently used in CIL viability assessments.  For residential development 
AV used typologies informed by the Oxfordshire Strategic Housing and 

Economic Land Availability Assessment.  The typologies matrix is 
comprehensive and convincing and was informed by data derived from the 
Council’s Strategic Housing Market Assessment.  It includes greenfield sites, 

brownfield sites and strategic sites.  Sites in both the lower and higher 
value zones are tested on the basis of net developable area.  A variety of 

types of development are assessed, including houses with up to 5 
bedrooms, 1-2 bed flats, student housing, age restricted housing, care 
homes and sheltered housing.  Assumed densities are generally 30 

dwellings per hectare (dpha) but there is variation for specialist forms of 
housing such as student housing and extra care homes.  Site specific S106 

and S278 mitigation costs ranging from £2,500 to £7,500 are included 
where appropriate, as are CIL payments based on the current (indexed) 

charges.  Where required by policy, affordable housing at a rate of 35% is 
included.  For each of the typologies a series of sensitivity scenarios is 
tested to include key variables such as the CIL rate, construction costs, 

density and profit levels.   

14. The 2019 study by AV includes a review of both the direct and the indirect 

costs that are likely to flow from the Council’s adopted policies, including 
the affordable housing policy. The viability assessment work carried out has 
taken into account these costs.  Hence the imposition of the CIL charge by 

the Council should not compromise the policies in the LP. 

15. For the purposes of assessing how the CIL impacts on the viability of 

development using a residual valuation approach, it is necessary to have 
data for three broad areas.  First, the anticipated costs of development 
including profit and costs associated with planning policies, but excluding 

land costs.  Second, end sales values in the locality.  The difference 
between the cost and the value is the residual land value (RLV) i.e. the 

amount of money available to purchase the development site.  Third, a 
judgement then has to be made about how much of any RLV can be used to 
pay a CIL charge.  Clearly the CIL charge cannot be set at a level that 

would discourage a reasonable landowner from selling their land for 
development.              

16. In relation to the cost of development, the 2019 work by AV sets out the 
assumptions used in the viability assessments.  The 2020 Addendum adds 
costs that have been introduced by expected Government policy/legislative 

requirements.  These include costs relating to biodiversity net gain and the 
Future Homes Standard.  Build costs based on Building Cost Information 

Service (BCIS) figures are updated in the 2020 work.  Based on information 

Page 20



Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL 

Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84 

7 
 

from the Council, the S106 assumptions have changed and been updated to 
include education, with the consequence that the upper figure is now set at 

nearly £23,000 per unit, in contrast to the £7,000 amount in the 2019 
assessment.  A number of the cost assumptions have been challenged by 

some of those making representations.   

17. The April 2019 work sought to establish residential market values on the 
basis of national and regional data, evidence from previous viability work, 

Land Registry data for both new build and second hand properties and new 
build asking prices from national agency websites.  Floor space data was 

derived from Land Registry data and information from the Energy 
Performance Certificate register.  AV concluded that values ranged from 
£200,000 for a 1 bedroom flat in the western part of the District to 

£600,000 for a 5 bedroom house in the eastern parishes.  The AV work 
sought to exclude exceptional properties that could distort the general 

picture. 

18. AV’s August 2020 Addendum updates the residential market values.  Using 
Land Registry House Price Indices for the Vale of White Horse, South East 

England and the United Kingdom, AV conclude that there was a minor 
increase in house prices from February 2019 to December 2019.  This work 

was supplemented by achieved values in March 2020 from a number of 
developments in Wantage, Abingdon, Swindon, Faringdon, and on the edge 

of Oxford and by current asking prices on sites under construction in the 
Vale.  As a result of the research, AV conclude that the values in its April 
2019 assessment should be increased by 2%.  AV note that Covid-19 and 

Brexit do not appear to have had a significant dampening impact on the 
Vale property market.  Their 2020 residential values range from £204,000 

for a 1 bed flat in the western part of the Vale to £612,000 for a 5 bedroom 
house in the eastern parishes.  

19. For student housing AV have not been able to identify any recent student 

housing schemes in the Vale.  The lower end of the Oxford market has been 
used as a proxy.  This is a reasonable approach given the proximity of the 

Vale to Oxford and the likelihood that the Vale market will not be as strong 
as the Oxford market.  In general terms AV have based their views on 
market reports by JLL, Knight Frank and Savills.  Clearly the student 

housing market is an attractive investment option, particularly in places 
such as Oxford with a large student population.  Student housing enjoys 

strong demand, high occupancy rates and tightening yields. 

20. As regards other specialist housing, AV have analysed the types of 
development most likely to be developed by the private sector.  For new 

build, age restricted housing and extra care developments, recent schemes 
have been assessed.  These show a range of dwellings, from one bed flats 

to four bedroomed detached properties.  The analysis shows prices from 
£270,000 to £775,000.  For these types of housing the second hand market 
is assessed using Right Move.  Just under 30 properties were reviewed with 

asking prices per square metre (per sq. m), ranging from £2,500 to £3,200.  
For sheltered housing AV rely on data from the Retirement Housing Group 

which acknowledges that this type of housing enjoys a premium over typical 

Page 21



Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL 

Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84 

8 
 

apartments.  Using the research data AV assumes prices per sq. m of 
£4,800 for one bed units and £4,000 for two bed retirement/sheltered 

accommodation.  For extra care housing the assumptions are £5,000 for 
one bed units and £4,688 for two bed properties. 

21. For affordable housing transfer values AV relies largely on the pre CIL 
viability work done by HDH in 2016.  This work assumed affordable rents at 
80% of market rents capped at the Local Housing Cap allowance.  HDH put 

affordable housing values at 55% of market value, with intermediate tenure 
values at 65%, assuming 50% initial purchase and a rent of 2.5% pa on the 

retained equity.  Rental income was capitalised at 5.5% after allowing 10% 
for management charges.  AV uses data from the Council to update the 
value assumptions to 76% for intermediate tenure and 60% for affordable 

rent.       

22. As regards commercial development, AV refer to a number of sources for 

their research.  These include the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors 
(RICS) UK Property Market Chart Book Q4 2018 and the Q3 2018 
Commercial Market Survey by the same organisation, the 2019 Real Estate 

Market Outlook by CBRE, the June 2018 UK Retail Warehouse Market work 
by Savills, the Carter Jonas Prime Property Outlook 2019 and the Knight 

Frank yield guide of January 2019 and Retail Property Outlook 2019.  In 
relation to the more local market, 2018 research by Carter Jonas into the 

Oxfordshire office and industrial market is quoted.  Studies for the Council 
in relation to Retail and Town Centres 2017, viability work for the existing 
CIL and the Local Plan are referenced, as is the Employment Land Review 

Update 2012.  AV researched current asking prices and achieved rents for 
offices and industrial premises in three sub-regions: Abingdon-on-

Thames/Oxford; the South Eastern area (including Milton Park and the 
Harwell Science Campus); and the more rural Western sub-area.  Asking 
rents for a small number of second hand retail units are also quoted. 

23. The third broad area to be considered in a CIL viability assessment is to test 
the RLV against a benchmark land value (BLV) to establish the level, if any, 

of viability headroom. The PPG is clear that BLV should be based on the 
principle of existing use value plus a premium (EUV+) to incentivise the 
owner of the site to release it for development.  While there is no specified 

premium for brownfield land, a figure of 20% above EUV is commonly used.  
This is the premium adopted by AV for brownfield sites.  AV note the 2010 

Homes and Communities consultation paper on benchmark values  
concluded that the premium should be between 10-30% for urban areas 
and 10-20 times agricultural value in rural areas.  For greenfield land AV 

note that Oxfordshire is a high value area and the uplift multiplier applied in 
the appraisals is between 20 and 28 times the agricultural/paddock value.  

Based on advertised prices and stakeholder evidence AV quoted £33,700 
per ha as an average for agricultural land in the area.          

24. AV have checked their conclusions about benchmark values with the 

viability work done for the Council by HDH for the first CIL and LPP1.  The 
work by HDH used an approach based on alternative use plus 20% 

premium with an additional £350,000 per ha for greenfield sites.    

Page 22



Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL 

Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84 

9 
 

25. The draft Charging Schedule is supported by detailed evidence of 
community infrastructure needs and underpinned by a comprehensive 

viability assessment.  On this basis, the evidence which has been used to 
inform the Charging Schedule is robust, proportionate and appropriate.  

 
Are the proposed rates informed by and consistent with the evidence on 
viability across the charging authority’s area? 

 
Residential development  

26. For strategic sites the Council has decided that infrastructure can best be 
delivered through S106/S278 agreements.  This is an acceptable approach 
supported by the PPG.  Accordingly, the testing that AV have done for three 

strategic sites includes substantial S106 payments per unit and a nil rate for 
CIL.  Given the decision by the Council about how infrastructure is to be 

funded on the strategic sites there is no need for any further consideration of 
this matter in this report, especially as the proposal is to leave the rate 
unchanged at nil.    

27. For greenfield sites in the lower value zone, the testing done by AV shows a 
RLV of at least £1,561,000 to £2,647,000 per ha depending on the size of 

the scheme.  The BLV per ha for these sites in this lower value area is 
between £1,112,000 and £1,235,000.  AV conclude that there is scope in 

this area to increase the CIL charge per sq. m to £430 for smaller schemes, 
£330 for medium size schemes and £570 for larger schemes without 
prejudicing viability. 

28. For brownfield sites in the lower value zone, AV conclude that there is a RLV 
ranging from at least £1,488,000 per ha to £2,645,000.  The BLV is put at 

£1,334,000.  AV conclude that without prejudicing viability there is scope for 
increasing CIL per sq. m to £370 for smaller sites, £170 for medium size 
sites and £490 for larger schemes.      

29. In the higher value zone on greenfield land, AV calculate a RLV of between 
£2,572,000 per ha and £4,632,000.  The BLV per ha is between £1,161,000 

and £1,359,000.  AV conclude that the CIL charge could be raised to over 
£570 per sq. m without prejudicing viability. 

30. For brownfield land in the higher value zone, the RLV is put at between 

£2,504,000 per ha and £4,630,000, with a BLV of £2,076,000.  AV consider 
that these figures provide scope to increase CIL per sq. m to over £570 on 

smaller and larger sites and £350 on medium size sites. 

31. Small apartment schemes (below the affordable housing threshold) have 
been assessed in both lower and higher value areas.  In the lower value zone 

these schemes generate a RLV of between £2,284,000 and £4,235,000 per 
ha in the higher value zone.  The BLV ranges from £1,334,000 to 

£2,076,000 per ha.  AV say that the sensitivity tests show that there is 
scope to increase the CIL charge to £230 per sq. m in the lower value zone 
and £430 in the higher value zone. 

Page 23



Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL 

Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84 

10 
 

32. For small sites in the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), affordable 
housing may be required and hence there is an AONB typology involving a 6 

unit scheme on greenfield land.  The assessment of the scheme shows a RLV 
well in excess of the BLV, leading AV to conclude that there is scope for a 

CIL charge of £450 per sq. m.          

33. Turning to sheltered and retirement housing, average new build asking 
prices in Wantage and Faringdon have been used on the assumption that if a 

scheme is viable in a lower value area it will be viable in the higher value 
areas.  Extra care housing has been allocated a 25% premium and median 

BCIS construction costs have been applied.  For age restricted and sheltered 
housing on brownfield land, the assessment produces a RLV of £2,099,000 
per ha, with a BLV of £1,334,000.  The conclusion is that a CIL of £210 per 

sq. m could be supported without prejudicing viability.  For greenfield land 
the assessment shows a greater difference between RLV and BLV and hence 

a CIL charge of £290 per sq. m could be supported.  For both brownfield and 
greenfield sites there is an assumption that that there will be a 35% 
affordable housing off-site commuted sum. 

34. Extra care and assisted living housing on brownfield land is currently exempt 
from CIL in the Vale and AV conclude that there is no scope for introducing 

CIL for this typology.  On greenfield land the sensitivity work by AV shows 
that a relatively modest charge of £70 per sq. m could be supported. 

35. For purpose built student accommodation AV assume a BLV of £1,161,000.  
There is a strong market for student housing and AV consider that on 
greenfield land the difference between BLV and RLV is around £14,000,000 

per ha.  On brownfield land the difference is assessed at £13,000,000.  AV 
consider that for both greenfield sites and brownfield sites this type of 

development could accommodate a CIL of over £600 per sq. m.        

Commercial rates 

36. AV have been unable to identify any recent supermarkets/food stores/retail 

warehouse transactions.  Based on their research and a comparison with the 
previous CIL viability work, AV note that supermarket chains are 

consolidating existing stores in response to the discount food stores.  
Overall, the view is that viability in the sector is not strong and hence no 
change is recommended to the existing CIL rate.  High Street retail does not 

currently have a CIL charge in the Vale.  Given negative sentiment, falling 
rents and high yields, no change is recommended by AV.     

37. Yields for offices have improved but there has been little rental growth and 
any growth in capital value is expected to be offset by increased BCIS costs 
since 2014.  AV conclude that office development remains at the margins of 

viability and recommend no change in the existing nil charge.  HDH 
concluded in 2014 that industrial development was unviable.  AV note that 

although market sentiment for industrial development is now more positive, 
viability has only moved from negative to marginal and hence no CIL charge 
is recommended.               

Page 24



Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL 

Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84 

11 
 

Has evidence been provided that shows the proposed rate or rates 
would not undermine the deliverability of the plan (see National 

Planning Policy Framework paragraph 34)? 

 

38. The substance of some of the representations made is that the viability 
assessment by AV has not adequately taken into account sales values, has 

underestimated development costs and has not taken into account the 
uncertainties flowing from the pandemic and Brexit.  Also, there is a 
challenge to the viability buffer provided on the grounds that it is not clear 

what buffer/s have been applied and why. 

39. The indexing approach used to establish sales values by AV was checked 

against recent sold data and advertised prices in the August 2020 Addendum 
report.  The research for this checking was based on values from March 

2020.  The March 2020 evidence does not indicate that the indexing 
approach is flawed to any material extent. 

40. The evidence challenging the AV approach is based on a limited number of 

new build transactions for the period January 2019 to July 2020 in the 
Eastern Parishes zone.  For 3 and 4 bed houses, the evidence is based on 22 

transactions which show that the indexing approach overvalues these types 
of dwellings by about 6-7%.  For 1 bed houses the transactional evidence, 
based on 14 units, indicates an undervaluation of some 10%.  For 4 and 5 

bedroomed units there is no material differentiation.  The limited evidence 
against the indexing approach is not convincing given the checking done by 

AV, which was based on 148 transactions in both the lower and higher value 
areas.  In addition, the differences referred to in the challenging evidence 
are not all in the same direction, are relatively modest and in some cases are 

no different.   

41. In relation to affordable housing values the challenge is essentially to the 

transparency of the evidence and the failure to involve Registered Providers.  
While it may have been better for the Council to detail the evidence there is 
no reason to believe that the information provided by the Council to AV is 

materially incorrect.  Furthermore, at the virtual hearing the Council 
confirmed that it has recently checked its evidence with Registered Providers 

and that the evidence it provided is consistent with the view of the 
Registered Providers.       

42. Turning to the costs of development, the argument against AV is that there 

are a number of elements that have been underestimated and that taken 
cumulatively these undermine the viability assessment.  Those challenging 

the assessment do not specify which are the most critical elements or 
attempt to provide alternative assessments. 

43. In relation to BCIS construction costs, the use of lower quartile rates is 

justified by AV on the grounds that volume housebuilders build at or below 
lower quartile rates.  Furthermore, AV point out that the use of lower 

quartile rates has been standard practice in many areas including the 
adjoining authority area, South Oxfordshire, where the use of these rates 

Page 25



Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL 

Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84 

12 
 

has recently been accepted for the Local Plan viability work.  AV accept that 
RICS have adjusted the BCIS costs upwards for Oxfordshire but point out 

that the revision is reflected in the sensitivity tables that form part of the 
viability assessment.  Based on the sensitivity work, the revised costs can be 

accommodated without undermining viability.  The challenge to the AV work 
refers in general terms to building costs in Southern Regions without 
providing any convincing specific evidence. 

44. The allegation that site servicing/infrastructure costs are not adequately 
catered for is refuted by the reasonable argument from AV that these costs 

are included within the external works costs for the generic typologies.  It is 
also considered reasonable for AV to say that any specific abnormal costs 
should be reflected in the price paid for the land.  

45. The challenge in relation to the failure of AV to take into account the cost of 
garages has merit.  AV’s argument that it is impossible in an area wide study 

to take what it describes as a “fine grained approach” is not convincing.  Nor 
is their argument that where garages are provided, one would expect 
corresponding increases in value.  There is no reason why, in assessing 

development costs, reasonable assumptions cannot be made about what sort 
of properties would usually have garages and to include these costs in the 

calculations.  As far as a corresponding increase in values is concerned, it is 
illogical to exclude a cost element for garages on the one hand when the 

sales values on the other hand will obviously include the value of any 
garaging provided. 

46. In relation to indexing of Building Regulation costs, AV reasonably point out 

that these costs effectively become embedded in general building costs. 

47. AV allow 7% for professional fees.  This is at the lower end of the range that 

might be expected but it is not exceptionally low – for example, the viability 
assessment for the South Oxfordshire CIL and Local Plan used a figure of 
6.5%.  In addition, as AV point out they consulted on professional fees on 

two occasions and did not receive any challenges to their figure. 

48. The S106/S278 costs are reasonably based on recent examples from 

development sites in the District.  

49. AV confirmed that the finance rate used in their 2019 viability appraisals was 
6.25% and not 6.5% as incorrectly cited in Table 5.9 on page 53 of their 

2019 report. Several respondents to the public consultation argued that the 
finance rate should have been 6.5%, but AV pointed out that the 0.25% 

difference makes little difference to the overall conclusions. 

50. The contingency rate of 3% is relatively low but it is the rate that was 
consulted upon in 2019 and 2020 without challenge and is the rate that has 

been applied and accepted in other local plan and CIL viability studies. 

51. Drawing the above points together the conclusion is that AV have, to some 

extent, underestimated development costs for residential schemes by 
omitting the cost of providing garaging.  However, not all properties will 

Page 26



Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL 

Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84 

13 
 

have garaging and the extra cost involved would be relatively modest in 
comparison with the overall costs.  The various assumptions used tend to 

favour reduced development costs but not to an extent that is exceptional or 
unacceptable.  The claim that the cumulative impact of underestimated costs 

invalidates the viability conclusions reached by AV is not substantiated by 
convincing evidence.   

52. In addition, it is necessary to bear in mind the significance of any 

underestimation of development costs in relation to whatever viability buffer 
is provided.  There is no standard buffer endorsed by Government policy.  

Perhaps unfortunately the viability report does not make the buffer/s applied 
explicit – one needs to interpret the sensitivity tables for the various 
typologies.  The buffer applied varies within a range of 40% to almost 60%.  

A lowest level of 40% still proves a sizable buffer which is adequate to 
ensure that the proposed CIL charge does not threaten the viability of 

development in the area, even if the cost of development has been slightly 
underestimated.  Contrastingly, the CIL rate suggested by Wantage Town 
Council would result in a buffer of under 20%.  This is too small to provide 

an adequate level of protection against unforeseen changes in circumstances 
or underestimation of development costs.      

53. The benchmark land values used have been criticised on the grounds that 
they are not based on policy compliant greenfield land transactions.  

However, the approach taken by AV is a conventional one that is seen in 
many successful viability appraisals.  In addition, no hard evidence has been 
produced showing that the transactions referred to would result in a 

materially different benchmark value. 

54. Some argue that the CIL review should be delayed until the consequences of 

the Covid-19 pandemic and/or Brexit are better understood.  The Council 
and AV contend that a “business as normal” approach is sensible in these 
uncertain times.  It is considered that the Council’s view is the logical one.  

At this point in time the housing market in areas such as the Vale remains 
strong and, if anything, seems to be strengthening.  On the other hand, the 

cost of development is being adversely affected by labour and material 
shortages.  It is not possible to predict with any degree of certainty when 
and how the housing market will change.  Delaying the CIL review would 

damage the Council’s ability to help to fund the essential infrastructure that 
needs to go hand in hand with development.  The same applies to the point 

that the CIL review should be done in step with the emerging Local Plan.  
Whist this may be theoretically ideal, the Local Plan is at a very early stage 
and linking the CIL review to it would be likely to result in several years 

delay.   

55. In relation to strategic sites there are representations that express concern 

that these sites will not make a fair contribution to the provision of 
necessary infrastructure.  The Council’s approach, which is acceptable in 
terms of Government policy, is to require developments on these sites to 

provide infrastructure through the S106 mechanism.  The viability appraisals 
show that these sites cannot be viably developed if both a CIL charge and a 

S106 charge are levied.   

Page 27



Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL 

Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84 

14 
 

56. There are some challenges to the proposed rates on the grounds that they 
are not high enough on the one hand or that they are too high for small 

builders on the other.  A concern is raised that the rates fail to take into 
account the considerable variations in geography, development costs and 

sales returns across the District.  However, the Council’s approach is already 
relatively complicated, with three zones and differential rates for major and 
minor housing schemes.  Overall, it is considered that the Council is correct 

to resist further complicating the Charging Schedule which, as it stands, 
reasonably relates to varying property values in the area. 

57. No convincing evidence has been presented to challenge the proposals for 
commercial and retail development in the District.                                                

58. A number of the representations relate to how the funds raised by the CIL 

should be spent, including a challenge to the proposal to contribute to 
funding for the Didcot Garden Town infrastructure.  As the Council points 

out, the Didcot Garden Town Master Plan will have direct impacts on the 
Vale.  In any event, the way CIL funds are spent is a matter for the Council 
and is not relevant to this examination of the Charging Schedule. 

59. I consider the viability assessment to be robust and conclude that the 
residential and commercial rates proposed would not threaten delivery of the 

Local Plan. The proposed rates are justified therefore. 

Overall Conclusion 

 
60. I conclude that the draft Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule, 

subject to the making of the modifications requested by the Council set out 

in EM1 and EM2, satisfies the drafting requirements.  I recommend that the 
draft Charging Schedule be approved. 

 

Keith Holland 
Examiner 

 

Appendix A – Modifications that the examiner specifies so that the Charging 
Schedule may be approved. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL 

Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84 

15 
 

Appendix A 
 

Examiner Modifications (EM) recommended in order that the charging schedule 
may be approved. 

 

Examiner 

Modification 

(EM) 

Page no./other 

reference 

Modification 

EM1 Paragraph 5.4 and the 

legend to Figure 1 of 

the draft Charging 

Schedule 

Paragraph 5.4  

Remove reference to Shippon 

 

 

 

Replace Woolton with Wootton 

EM2  Table 1 of the draft 

Charging Schedule 

Add ", where affordable 

housing contributions are 

provided." to the asterisk 

relating to Major Schemes 

 

Page 29



 

Contents 

 

1. Background ........................................................................................................... 2 

2. Introduction ........................................................................................................... 2 

3. Infrastructure ......................................................................................................... 3 

4. CIL and S106 agreements .................................................................................... 3 

5. Viability and rate setting ........................................................................................ 4 

Residential development ................................................................................. 4 

Non-residential rates ....................................................................................... 5 

Rate setting ..................................................................................................... 5 

6. CIL rates ............................................................................................................... 5 

7. Neighbourhood funds ............................................................................................ 8 

8. Calculating the chargeable amount ....................................................................... 8 

9. Exemptions ........................................................................................................... 9 

10. Spending CIL and Reporting ............................................................................... 10 

Appendix A- Zone 2 inset maps ............................................................................... 11 

 

 

  

Page 30



2 
 

1 Background 
 
1.1 In 2010, Government introduced the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) as 

the preferred mechanism for securing developer contributions towards 
infrastructure to support growth in an area. 
 

1.2 The Council’s first CIL Charging Schedule came into effect in November 2017 
and was subsequently reviewed to reflect the adoption of Part 2 of the Vale of 
White Horse Local Plan 2031 in October 2019 and changes to the CIL 
Regulations in September 2019.  

 
1.3 This revised Charging Schedule will be implemented from 1 November 2021 

and includes a brief explanation of CIL and the rationale behind rate setting. 
New CIL rates for three separate zones across the District are set out in Table 
1 on page 6. 

 
1.4 Preparation of the Charging Schedule was supported by the following evidence 

documents, which can be found on the Council’s website.  
 

 Two Infrastructure Delivery Plans (IDPs), which set out infrastructure 
requirements to support the delivery of planned development within the 
VOWH Local Plan 2031 at the time they were compiled;   

 A CIL Viability Assessment, undertaken by consultants on behalf of the 
Council, which comprised: Viability Assessment (April 2019); Viability 
Addendum (August 2020); and Viability Assessment Executive Summary 
(October 2020); and 

 An Infrastructure Funding Gap Statement, which compared the likely CIL 
income from anticipated new developments with the cost of infrastructure 
identified in the Infrastructure Delivery Plans. 

 
1.5 Alongside the adoption of this CIL Charging Schedule, the Council has also 

adopted a revised Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD), with the same implementation date of 1 November 2021. 

 

2 Introduction 
 
2.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) came into force in April 2010 and is a 

levy that local authorities can choose to charge on new development in their 
area.  The money raised can be used to fund a wide range of infrastructure 
such as transport schemes, schools, community facilities, health and social 
care facilities, parks, green spaces and leisure facilities. 

 
2.2 Amendments to the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 were 

introduced in September 2019. Significant changes included: removal of 
pooling restrictions for S106 obligations (i.e. the requirement that no more than 
five S106 obligations can fund a single infrastructure project); removal of the 
requirement for a Regulation 123 list (i.e. a list of infrastructure projects that CIL 
might be spent on); and introduction of a new requirement to produce an annual 
Infrastructure Funding Statement. 

Page 31



3 
 

 
2.3 Vale of White Horse District Council, as the local planning authority, is classed 

as a charging authority and may therefore charge CIL in respect of development 
that takes place in the District1.  The Council has been charging CIL since 
November 2017 and reviewed its CIL rates in 2021 to take account of new 
policies and allocations set out within the VOWH Local Plan 2031 Part 2, as 
well as amendments to the Government’s CIL Regulations.   

 
2.4 CIL is not charged on affordable housing, buildings used for charitable 

purposes or self-build housing.  CIL applies to all ‘chargeable development’ 
which is defined as: 

 

 All new buildings, but excluding those into which people do not usually, or 
only occasionally, go (e.g. only to inspect machinery or structures such as 
electricity pylons or substations) 

 Developments of 100m2 or more of additional gross internal floorspace 

 The creation of one additional dwelling, even if the gross internal floorspace 
is less than 100m2 

 Some developments not requiring planning permission (permitted 
development) will also be liable for CIL if they do not meet the exemption 
criteria. 
 

3 Infrastructure 
 
3.1 The infrastructure requirements to support the growth set out in the adopted 

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 are set out in in the Infrastructure Delivery 
Plans, which provide the details of the infrastructure required to support growth 
in the District. The funding of this infrastructure comes from different sources 
(including Section 106 agreements, CIL, Government’s Housing Infrastructure 
Fund and business rate retention). The CIL regulations require that, in order to 
justify charging CIL, the Council must demonstrate that there is a ‘gap’ between 
the infrastructure needs of the District and the funding that is available, 
including anticipated CIL income. An Infrastructure Funding Gap Report was 
prepared to demonstrate this need. 

 

4 CIL and S106 agreements 
 
4.1 Section 106 agreements and Section 278 Highways Agreements will continue 

to be used to secure mitigation and affordable housing following the CIL review. 
The amended CIL regulations no longer contain a restriction on the pooling of 
monies from more than five S106 obligations to fund a single infrastructure 
project and both CIL and S106 funding can be secured towards the same piece 
of infrastructure without the limitation of pooling. 

 
4.2 The Council has adopted a revised Developer Contributions Supplementary 

Planning Document (SPD), which identifies how the Council will ensure new 
development contributes towards the provision of infrastructure such as roads, 
schools, community facilities, leisure facilities, green and open spaces. 

                                            
1 Under the terms of Part 11 of the Planning Act 2008.  

Page 32



4 
 

 
 

5 Viability and rate setting 
 
5.1 In order to establish levy rates for development, a charging authority should 

carry out a broad test of viability across its district, together with specific viability 
testing for strategic sites.  

 
5.2 The Council commissioned consultants Aspinall Verdi to carry out a review of 

viability across the District, examining the cumulative impact of the policies in 
the Local Plan 2031 and CIL. This review was undertaken to assess the effect 
that any revised CIL rates would have on development viability. 

 

Residential Development 
 
5.3 The viability assessment has shown that development across the District is 

viable and that maximum CIL rates in the region of £570psm have been found 
to be achievable without compromising development viability. 

 
5.4 The viability assessment provides evidence to support different residential CIL 

rates based on differing land values across the District. The eastern parishes 
(i.e. Abingdon, Appleford, Blewbury, Chilton, Cumnor, Drayton, Harwell, 
Kennington, Milton, North Hinksey, Radley, South Hinksey, Sunningwell, 
Sutton Courtenay, Upton, Wootton and Wytham) have higher land values and 
can therefore sustain a higher CIL rate, which is reflected in the charging 
schedule. As the majority of brownfield development is likely to come forward 
in the built-up areas of Wantage, Grove and Faringdon, new development in 
these locations would not be able to sustain a higher CIL rate without 
prejudicing viability. Consequently, the Charging Schedule includes a separate 
charging zone covering these areas, which allows a higher CIL rate to be set 
for the rest of the District. 

 
5.5 The strategic allocations within Part 2 of the Local Plan 2031 have also been 

tested against CIL. The sites which have been included within the Viability 
Assessment are: 

 

 East of Kingston Bagpuize; 

 Dalton Barracks; and 

 North West Grove. 
 
5.6 The infrastructure requirements to bring forward these sites are considerable 

and although some sites could bear a small CIL charge, our viability consultants 
have recommended that these sites do not pay CIL, but instead deliver their 
infrastructure requirements fully through S106/S278 agreements. 

 
5.7 In addition, there are several strategic allocations which were exempt from 

paying CIL in the previous Charging Schedule. The exemption on these sites 
has been carried forward into this Charging Schedule. These sites are: 

 

Page 33



5 
 

 Crab Hill; 

 Didcot Power Station; 

 East of Coxwell Road; 

 Grove Airfield; 

 Land South of Park Road; 

 Monks Farm; 

 North of Shrivenham; 

 South of Faringdon; 

 Valley Park; and 

 North-West Valley Park. 
 

5.8 The viability assessment found that minor development (fewer than 10 
dwellings) could support a higher CIL rate than major development, as it does 
not have to provide affordable housing. 
 
Non-Residential Rates 

 
5.9 The viability of non-residential development in the District has also been 

assessed. Business uses (including offices, industrial and distribution and 
retail) have been found unable to support a CIL charge. Although the 
assessment has shown that town centre retail uses cannot support a CIL 
charge, supermarkets and retail warehousing can continue to support the CIL 
rate of £1172(rounded).  

 

Rate Setting 
 

5.10 In arriving at our CIL rates, we must strike an appropriate balance between the 
need to fund the infrastructure required to support development and the 
potential effects that imposing CIL rates may have on the economic viability of 
development across our area. It is therefore important not to set rates at the 
margin of viability and we have made a reasoned judgment, providing a 
significant buffer to protect against unforeseen circumstances, such as an 
increase in build costs. Overall, we have taken account of the viability evidence 
in setting the charging zones as set out below. 

 

6 CIL rates 
 
6.1 The CIL regulations allow us to set differential rates (including zero rates) for 

different geographical areas or for different land uses across our charging area. 
The CIL regulations also provide us with the ability to set differential rates in 
relation to scales of development. 

 
6.2 The CIL rates, shown below in Table 1, are based on the recommendations 

from the CIL Viability Assessment. Some of the strategic sites are zero rated 
and not subject to CIL charges, as they will contribute towards infrastructure 

                                            
2 The charge is £116.78 based on current indexation.  When CIL was first introduced the rate was 
£100. 

Page 34



6 
 

solely through S106 agreements. Figure 1 is a map of the CIL charging zones 
for the District. It identifies the strategic allocations which are CIL exempt. 

 

Table 1: CIL Charges 

Development type CIL Rate 
(£ per square metre) 

 

Residential Development (including 
student accommodation3, HMOs, 
age restricted and sheltered 
housing) 

Zone 1: 
Eastern 
Parishes4 

Zone 2:  
Built up areas: 
Wantage, Grove 
and Faringdon5 

Zone 3: 
Rest of 
District 

Major Schemes (10 dwellings and 
more net)* 
 

£280 £100 £200 

Minor Schemes (9 dwellings and 
fewer net)** 
 

£340 £160 £260 

* Schemes of between 6 and 9 dwellings in the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty are charged as 

major development, where affordable housing contributions are provided. 

**Other chargeable residential development (e.g. residential extensions over 100 sq m and annexes) 

will be charged at the relevant zone rate  

Development type  

Strategic Sites6 
 

£0 

Institutional accommodation: Extra-
care, nursing and care homes 
 

£0 

Supermarkets and Retail 
Warehousing  
 

£117 

Residential rural exception site  
 

£0 

All other development £0 

                                            
3 Student accommodation which is self-contained (e.g. studio flats) will be charged CIL at the relevant 
residential rate. Student accommodation of a communal nature (e.g. shared living areas and/or 
kitchens) will be nil rated. 

4 The Eastern Parishes are: Cumnor, Wytham, North Hinksey, South Hinksey, Kennington, Wootton, 
Sunningwell, Radley, Abingdon, Drayton, Sutton Courtenay, Appleford On Thames, Milton, Harwell, 
Chilton, Upton, and Blewbury 
5 This includes Grove Technology Park in East Challow 
6 Strategic allocated sites: LPP1: Crab Hill, Didcot Power Station, East of Coxwell Road, Faringdon, 
Grove Airfield, Land South of Park Road Faringdon, Monks Farm, North of Shrivenham, South of 
Faringdon, Valley Park, North West Valley Park, LPP2: Dalton Barracks, East of Kingston Bagpuize, 
North West Grove. 

Page 35



7 
 

Figure 1 – CIL Charging Map 

P
age 36



8 
 

7 Neighbourhood funds 
 
7.1 The Regulations require the Council to pass on a proportion of the revenues 

from CIL receipts to the towns and parishes within which the chargeable 
development took place. Parishes with a Neighbourhood Plan will receive 25 
per cent of the CIL revenue from new development within their neighbourhood 
plan area. Parishes without a Neighbourhood Plan will receive 15 per cent of 
the levy revenue, subject to a cap of £100 per existing council tax dwelling per 
year.  

 
7.2 CIL must be spent on infrastructure. To ensure transparency, both the Council 

and the town or parish council must report annually on how CIL receipts have 
been spent. By 31 December each year, the Council must produce an 
Infrastructure Funding Statement and the town or parish council must submit a 
financial report to the Council. Both are then published on the Council’s website. 

 
8 Calculating the chargeable amount 
 
8.1 The amount of CIL charge a development is liable to pay is calculated according 

to Schedule 1 of the CIL (Amendment) (England) (No. 2) Regulations 2019. 
The method involves multiplying the relevant CIL rate for the type/location of 
the development by the net additional floorspace – and factoring in an inflation 
measure to allow for changes in building costs over time. A summary of the 
method is set out below: 

 
CIL rate x Net additional new build floorspace x Inflation measure 
 

8.2 The inflation measure used will be the national ‘All-in Tender Price Index’ 
published by the Building Cost Information Service (BCIS) or the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS). The inflation measure involves 
dividing the Index costs from the year planning permission is granted, by the 
Index costs from the year the Charging Schedule is adopted. Full details of the 
method are set out in the Regulations. 

 
8.3 The CIL Regulations specify that where the overall chargeable amount on a 

scheme is less than £50, it is deemed to be zero. 
 
8.4 In certain circumstances, where a development includes the demolition of an 

existing building, the existing Gross Internal Area (GIA) can be deducted from 
the proposed floorspace. These deductions in respect of demolition or change 
of use will only apply where the existing building has been in continuous lawful 
use for at least six months in the 3 years prior to the development being 
permitted and is still in situ on the day planning permission is granted. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



9 
 

9 Exemptions 
 
9.1 Most development that involves the creation of buildings that people normally 

use will be liable to pay CIL7. However, the Regulations provide for several 
exemptions to CIL8 against which the levy will not be charged, including: 

 

 New buildings or extensions under 100 sqm of gross internal floor space, 
which do not involve the creation of a new dwelling; 

 Dwellings built by ‘self-builders’ 

 The change of use, conversion or subdivision of a building that does not 
involve an increase in floorspace; 

 The creation of a mezzanine floor within a building; 

 Temporary development permitted for a limited period; 

 Buildings into which people go only intermittently for the purpose of 
inspecting or maintaining fixed plant or machinery 

 Vacant buildings brought back into the same use; 

 Structures which are not buildings, such as pylons or wind turbines; 

 Affordable housing (defined as social rented and intermediate housing) 
provided through a local housing authority, registered provider or charitable 
body; and 

 Development by charities for charitable purposes. 
 

9.2 CIL is charged on the gross internal floorspace9 of new development. Where 
planning permission is granted for a development that involves the extension 
or demolition and then rebuild of a building in lawful use10, the level of CIL 
payable will be calculated based on the net increase in floorspace. This means 
that the existing floorspace contained in the building to be extended or 
demolished will be deducted from the total floorspace of the new development 
when calculating the CIL liability. 

 
9.3 The Council can claw back any CIL relief where a development no longer 

qualifies for that relief within a period of seven years from the commencement 
of the development.  For example, should a charity develop a building for 
charitable purposes and subsequently sell the building to the open market 
within seven years, then the Council will be able to claw back the CIL that would 
have been charged on the building had it been originally used for private use. 
Should a self-builder find that they must sell or rent the new dwelling within 3 
years of the commencement of the development then the Council will then seek 
to clawback any CIL relief provided. 

 

                                            
7 This includes development permitted by a general consent (including permitted development) 
8 Under Part 6 of the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended) 
9 The gross internal floorspace is the internal area of the building, and should include rooms, circulation 
and service space such as lifts and floorspace devoted to corridors, toilets, storage, ancillary floorspace 
(e.g. underground parking) etc. 
10 The definition of lawful use is contained in Schedule 1 Part 1 of the CIL (Amendment) (England) (No. 
2) 2019 states that “….contains a part that has been in lawful use for a continuous period of at least six 
months within the period of three years ending on the day planning permission first permits the 
chargeable development.” 

Page 38



10 
 

9.4 Under CIL Regulation 55, a council can choose to offer exceptional 
circumstances relief, if charging CIL would have an unacceptable impact on the 
economic viability of a particular development. Exemptions can also be made 
for charitable institutions, where this would constitute State Aid (under CIL 
Regulation 45). However, in the Vale of White Horse District, neither 
discretionary charity relief nor exceptional circumstances relief are currently 
available and the Council does not propose to revise its exemptions policy. 

 

10 Spending CIL and Reporting 
 
10.1 CIL revenue will be spent on the infrastructure needed to support development 

in the Vale. How CIL is spent is currently set out within our CIL Spending 
Strategy. In addition, the Council will produce an Infrastructure Funding 
Statement which will be published annually by 31 December. The Infrastructure 
Funding Statement reports on all funds secured, received and spent in the 
previous financial year for CIL and S106. Oxfordshire County Council will also 
produce its own Infrastructure Funding Statement annually in the same way. 

 
10.2 Vale of White Horse District Council will use 5% of the CIL revenue to fund the 

administration costs of the Levy. 
 

Page 39



Appendix A – Zone 2 Inset Maps 

11 
 

 

P
age 40



Appendix A – Zone 2 Inset Maps 

12 
 

 

P
age 41



CIL Instalments Policy

September 2017

Page 42



Vale of White Horse CIL Charging Schedule Instalments Policy  

The National Planning Guidance1 recognises that few if any developments generate 
value until they are complete either in whole or in phases. Regulation 69B of the 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended), allows Charging 
Authorities to introduce an Instalment Policy.  The authority has freedom to decide 
the number of payments, the amount and the time due. The authority may also 
revise or withdraw the policy when appropriate.   

Instalments Policy 

Total CIL Liability Number of 
instalments/tranche 

Payment Tranche Period  

Up to £30,000 
 

1 Payable within 60 days* 

£30,000 - £150,000 
 

3 20% Payable within 60 days* 
40% Payable within 180 days* 
40% Payable within 1 year* 

Over £150,000 3 20% Payable within 60 days* 
40% Payable within 1 year* 
40% Payable within 2 years* 

*Of the date that we send our Demand Notice to you – this will be when development commences as described in Regulation 7 

of the CIL Regulations.   

This policy will not apply if: 

a) a commencement notice is not submitted by the developer to the Charging 
Authority prior to commencement of the chargeable development 

b) a valid liability notice has not been received by the Charging Authority prior to 
commencement of the chargeable development 

c) an instalment payment has not been made in full by the liable party to the 
Charging Authority after the end of a period of 30 days beginning with the day 
on which the instalment payment was due to be paid to the Charging Authority 

 
When sites come forward through phased development, as expressly provided for in 
a planning permission, each separate phase of development will be treated as a 
separate chargeable development as set out in Regulation 8 of the CIL regulations 
2010 (as amended).   
 
For more information on what development is CIL liable, when development is 
deemed to have commenced, or our general CIL processes and procedures, please 
see the FAQs on our website. 

                                                           

1 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 056 Reference ID: 25-056-20140612  

 

Page 43



on 01235 422600

Page 44



Cabinet Report 

 
Report of Head of Planning 

Author: Alison Williams 

Telephone: 01245 422600 

E-mail: Alison.Williams@southandvale.gov.uk 

Wards affected: All 

 

Cabinet member responsible: Debby Hallett 

Tel: 07545 241013 

E-mail: Debby.Hallett@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 

To: CABINET 

Date: 1 October 2021 

 

 

Developer Contributions Supplementary 

Planning Document (SPD) – Adoption 

Recommendations 
 
That Cabinet: 
 
(a) Adopts the Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

(b) Delegates to the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and Transformation, any necessary further minor changes to the 
document.  

(c) Agrees the proposed approach to preparing a separate Section 106 internal protocol 
document, for use by Members and Officers. 

 
Purpose of Report 

 
1. To consider the representations received during public consultation on the Developer 

Contributions SPD, together with the Council’s suggested responses and to consider 
adoption of the revised version of the SPD. 

 

Corporate Objectives 
 
2. Under Theme 1 (Providing the Homes People Need) of the Vale Corporate Plan 2020 

to 2024, developing a Section 106 obligations strategy and updating the Council’s CIL 
procedures are listed as actions to achieve the corporate objective of adopting a policy 
framework that ensures the homes people need can be delivered in a way that 
supports the environment and people living healthy lives. 

 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



 

Background 
 

3. Funding for the infrastructure necessary to support new development across the 
District can be sought in a variety of ways. The Council currently utilises the following 
main mechanisms for securing infrastructure contributions from developers: 
 

 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  

 Section 106 planning obligations (S106) 
 

4. Following the adoption of Part 1 of the Local Plan 2031 in December 2016, the Council 
adopted its current CIL Charging Schedule and Developer Contributions SPD in 
September 2017, with the commencement of CIL in November 2017. The Council 
subsequently adopted Part 2 of the Local Plan 2031 in October 2019, which included 
new site allocations and additional infrastructure requirements. There have also been 
changes to the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations1, including: 
 

 the removal of pooling restrictions for S106 obligations (i.e. the now cancelled 
requirement that no more than five S106 obligations can fund a single infrastructure 
project); 

 removing the need for a Regulation 123 list (i.e. a list of infrastructure projects to be 
funded by CIL as opposed to S106); and 

 introducing a new requirement to produce an annual Infrastructure Funding 
Statement. 

 
5. Furthermore, it is evident that the current CIL rates are not generating sufficient funds 

to help deliver the necessary infrastructure to support planned development. In 
particular, funding for education is falling short and it is now proposed, in the main, to 
secure education through S106. 
 

6. In light of all the above, the Council considered it was necessary to conduct a review of 
both the CIL Charging Schedule and Developer Contributions SPD. These reviews 
have been carried out in accordance with the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended) and 
the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 
respectively. Draft versions of each revised document, together with associated viability 
evidence, were approved by Cabinet for public consultation on 18 Dec 2020. 
 
Summary of the Consultation Process 
 

7. Public consultation on the draft Developer Contributions SPD was conducted from 11 
January to 8 February 2021, simultaneously with consultation on a revised draft CIL 
Charging Schedule and associated evidence documents.  
 

8. The Council made all consultation documentation available on its website and in hard 
copy at its offices2. A notification email or letter was sent to around 2,200 consultees on 
the Council’s planning consultation database, which provided background to the SPD 
consultation and explained where people could view the documents and the various 
ways in which they could provide comments. The Council also used its social media 

                                            
1 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010, as amended by the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(Amendment) (England) (No. 2) Regulations 2019. 
2 Due to Covid restrictions the Council offices were closed to the public. Respondents were asked to contact the Council 
if they wished to view hard copies, so appropriate options could be discussed. 

Page 46



platforms to advertise the consultation and circulated a poster via email for each of the 
town and parish councils to display, where appropriate. 

 
9. Regulation 12 of the Local Planning Regulations states that, before a local planning 

authority can adopt an SPD, it must first prepare a statement setting out the persons 
consulted during the preparation of the document, with a summary of the main issues 
raised and how they have been addressed in the SPD. This report addresses these 
requirements. 

 
10. Overall, there were 27 respondents to the consultation, making a total of 84 separate 

comments on the draft document. Of these respondents, 5 were local community 
groups/organisations, 5 were town or parish councils, 10 were statutory consultees, 4 
were district councillors and 3 were individuals. A full list of respondents can be found 
in Appendix 1 to this report. 
 
Main Issues Raised During Public Consultation 
 

11. A detailed schedule of all comments received during the public consultation period, 
including summaries, the Council’s responses and any proposed amendments to the 
SPD in light of comments raised is attached as Appendix 2. 
 

12. Below is a summary of the main issues raised by respondents, together with the 
Council’s response. Appendix 3 is a revised version of the SPD, which includes all the 
proposed amendments to address the relevant comments raised, together with some 
additional amendments made post-consultation (see paragraph 37 of this report for 
further details). 

 
Role of councillors and town/parish councils in negotiating S106 agreements 

 
13. A number of respondents raised concerns about lack of clarity in the SPD over the role 

of town/parish councils and district councillors in negotiating Section 106 agreements, 
both under the separate development typologies discussed in Section 4 and also in 
Appendix 2 to the SPD (Approach to Negotiating Planning Obligations). 
 
Council’s response: 
 

14. We have amended the draft SPD to include a new paragraph at the beginning of 
Section 4, which explains that it is good practice to involve town and parish councils, 
local community and access groups and District ward councillors at an early stage in 
discussions over infrastructure provision, prior to drawing up Section 106 agreements. 
This is particularly true in instances where they may have detailed knowledge of local 
infrastructure needs and costs.  
 

15. Appendix 2 in the adopted 2017 Developer Contributions SPD has proved useful in 
discussions between officers and developers over specific planning applications. 
However, it is not considered appropriate to include more detailed information on 
Section 106 protocol within the supplementary planning document. Consequently, 
rather than making additions to Appendix 2 to reflect the concerns raised by 
respondents, it would be preferable to produce a separate internal Section 106 protocol 
document (see Recommendation c). This protocol document would provide clarity for 
district councillors and town/parish councils on their roles and responsibilities in Section 
106 negotiations and could also include detailed information on the procedure for the 

Page 47



signing of S106 agreements.  An advantage of having a standalone document is that 
there is scope for procedural information to be quickly updated, as and when 
necessary.  
 
Local play areas and grass playing pitches 
 

16. Two parish councils suggested that the SPD required amendment to reflect the current 
‘Fields in Trust’ guidance relating to the hierarchy of play areas to be provided in 
association with new housing development.  
 

17. East Hendred Parish Council sought confirmation that, in instances where a series of 
small sites are being developed but a play area threshold is not reached on one site, 
developer contributions would still be required. The parish council also requested that 
Appendix 3 of the SPD (Distance Standards) be amended to state that the District’s 
population should be within 700m walking distance of a multi-use games area (MUGA) 
and 1200m walking distance from grass playing pitches (football, rugby and cricket).  

 
18. Sport England suggested that there should be reference in the SPD to the requirement 

of a maintenance sum for grass playing pitches of at least 10 years.  
 
Council’s response: 
 

19. The SPD needs to reflect Development Policy 33 and Appendix K of LPP2, which set 
out the Council’s standards for play provision. On reflection, we consider that inclusion 
of Table 3 (Children’s Play and Youth Provision) is confusing for developers, as it is 
based on non-statutory ‘Fields in Trust’ guidance rather than adopted Plan policy. We 
have, therefore, removed Table 3 from the SPD and replaced it with text to explain that 
play area requirements will be dependent on existing provision in the area and the 
demands from other development and may be in the form of financial contributions 
rather than on-site provision. 
 

20. Additional text now clarifies that town/parish councils can use their proportion of CIL 
receipts towards the enhancement of existing play areas in situations where either: 
there are a number of small sites being developed where, individually, each site would 
not reach the dwelling threshold required to trigger developer contributions towards 
play areas; or where there is no suitable local site to locate play facilities. Furthermore, 
it now explains that, where a site cannot accommodate its on-site play requirement due 
to exceptional site constraints, S106 contributions may be sought towards off-site 
mitigation. 

 

21. The distance standards in Appendix 3 reflect those in adopted Local Plan policy (as set 
out in Appendix K to Part 2 of the Vale Local Plan) and cannot, therefore, be revised in 
the SPD. However, we have amended the accessibility standard for MUGAs to be 
consistent with Appendix K.  
 

22. We have amended Section 5 to confirm that developers will be required to pay a 
maintenance sum for a period of at least 10 years for grass playing pitches.  
 
Carbon reduction measures 
 

23. Three respondents expressed concern that there was no reference to carbon reduction 
measures to address the global climate emergency in the draft document. 

Page 48



 
 
 
Council’s response: 

 
24. Core Policy 37 (Design and Local Distinctiveness) of LPP1 requires proposed new 

development to address sustainability and climate change intrinsically through location 
and design, by taking into account landform, layout, building orientation, massing and 
landscaping to minimise energy consumption and mitigate water run-off and flood risks. 
Planning conditions can achieve improved provision of carbon reduction measures 
(such as EV charging points) and CIL is the appropriate mechanism for securing 
developer contributions towards off-site and wider carbon reduction initiatives that are 
not directly related to a specific development, including renewable energy and energy 
storage infrastructure. We have reflected all the above in a new paragraph 4.60 in the 
SPD. 
 
Healthcare infrastructure needs 
 

25. One GP practice felt that the Council’s consideration of housing growth had failed to 
take account of increasing medical infrastructure needs. 
 

26. Oxfordshire NHS Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) also said it would like to see 
developer contributions towards healthcare facilities explicitly set out as monetary 
calculations, as an appendix to the SPD.  
 
Council’s response: 
 

27. The CCG and GP practices are consulted on all major development proposals 
involving sites over 50 dwellings. In the SPD, each infrastructure type for which S106 
contributions are sought is given a unique reference number (DEV1, DEV2 etc). Under 
DEV9 (Health Care), the SPD explains that new or increased capacity of health 
facilities will be sought through S106 from developments on allocated sites that are 
exempt from CIL. Also, that development contributions for healthcare will be sought 
through S106 from all extra care, nursing and care home developments. We take 
account of feedback from health care providers to inform the S106 contributions sought 
in relation to new development. 
 

28. We do not propose that specific monetary calculations for developer contributions 
towards healthcare provision are included in the SPD, as this type of information can 
become quickly out of date. Instead, text has been added to confirm that the Council 
will continue to liaise with the CCG to obtain their latest financial information for 
calculating contributions towards health facilities from specific developments.  
 
Affordable extra care and specialist housing 
 

29. Oxfordshire County Council suggested that the SPD should make explicit reference to 
securing S106 contributions towards affordable extra care and specialist housing. 
 
Council’s response: 
 

30. We agree that text should be added to explain that affordable housing provision may 
include affordable extra care and specialist housing for vulnerable groups (such as the 

Page 49



elderly with care needs and people with physical and learning disabilities or complex 
autism). We have done this and also explained that the Council will work with 
Oxfordshire County Council and developers to secure and deliver this provision, in 
accordance with local needs. 

 
Affordable housing monetary calculations 
 

31. Several respondents suggested that it would be helpful and more transparent to 
include information within the SPD (possibly as an Appendix) which sets out how 
developer contributions towards affordable housing (including off-site provision) are 
calculated.  
 
Council’s response: 
 

32. We agree that such information would be helpful for developers. However, we propose 
that this is included in the forthcoming Affordable Housing SPD, to be produced jointly 
by Vale of White Horse and South Oxfordshire District Councils. Until that SPD is in 
place, the Council will continue to engage with developers regarding affordable housing 
contributions on an individual site basis.   
 
Development viability 
 

33. Oxfordshire County Council asked whether there was more recent guidance from RICS 
on assessing development viability.  
 
Council’s response: 
 

34. We have updated Section 6 of the SPD to reflect the latest guidance in Assessing 
Viability in Planning Under the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 for England 
(RICS, 1st Edition, March 2021), particularly the paragraph on ‘site value’, which 
required replacing with the latest definition of ‘land value’ and an explanation of the 
‘Existing Use Value Plus’ approach to defining land value for any assessment of 
development viability.  
 
Other infrastructure provision 

 
35. A number of respondents put forward suggestions for other infrastructure items that 

they would like to see referenced in the SPD.  These included: retention and 
maintenance of hedgerows/mature trees; mobile air quality stations; Household Waste 
Recycling Centres; and contributions towards police/security infrastructure. 

 
Council’s response: 
 

36. We have included references to additional infrastructure items, where appropriate, 
throughout the document.  

 
Further Amendments to the Developer Contributions SPD 

 
37. Post consultation, the Council has made further amendments to the SPD (for example 

to reflect recent changes to Government policy guidance or in response to further 
internal officer consultation). These are summarised below: 
 

Page 50



i. Clarification under DEV1 (Affordable Housing) on how affordable housing should be 
distributed across a development site and inclusion of the dwelling threshold that 
will trigger affordable housing contributions. Also, reference to footnote 23b of LPP2 
(which confirms that the affordable housing policy CP24 will apply to sites of ten 
dwellings or more, in line with the NPPF). 
 

ii. Removal of reference to the Council seeking affordable housing contributions from 
sites of 6-9 dwellings in the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), as there is 
currently no adopted Vale Local Plan policy which allows the Council to apply this 
lower threshold in designated rural areas.  
 

iii. Reference to Core Policy 25 (Rural Exception Sites) of the Vale Local Plan 2031 
Part 1 under DEV1 (Affordable Housing) 
 

iv. Additional text under DEV1 (Affordable Housing) to highlight Government’s new 
First Homes scheme, including the requirement for at least 25% of all Section 106 
Affordable Homes to be First Homes (i.e. sold at a minimum discount of 30% of 
market value, with the discount secured in perpetuity); 
 

v. Confirmation in paragraph 4.11 that, where there is a fractional requirement for 
affordable housing (e.g. 4.5 dwellings), the fractional portion (i.e. the 0.5 in this 
example) will be secured as an off-site contribution. 
 

vi. Amendments to DEV6 (Play Areas) and supporting text to ensure it accurately 
reflects adopted Plan policy in Appendix K of the Vale Local Plan 2031 Part 2. 
 

vii. Rewording of DEV11 (Cemeteries) to clarify that, where the Local Plan or a 
neighbourhood plan identifies a need for an allocated site to provide or contribute 
towards cemetery space, this will be secured through S106.  
 

viii. Rewording of paragraphs 4.63 and 4.64 to ensure consistency with the adopted 
policy wording on biodiversity net gain, as set out in Core Policies 45 and 46 of the 
Vale Local Plan 2031 Part 1. Also, reference to the forthcoming Environment Act, 
which is likely to supersede CP46 and set a national mandatory minimum of 10% 
biodiversity net gain. 
 

ix. Amendments to DEV12 (Public Realm, including Public Art) and its supporting text 
to place greater emphasis on seeking developer contributions towards 
improvements to the wider public realm, as opposed to the SPD’s current focus 
which is primarily on the provision of public art.  
 

x. Amendments to Section 5 to provide greater clarity on the potential options for the 
future management and maintenance of various types of infrastructure (i.e. open 
spaces and buildings). 
 

xi. A new Section 6 covering how the CIL Regulations and S106 agreements relate to 
self and custom-build homes. 
 

xii. Clarification in paragraph 7.10 that the Council will include a clause in most S106 
agreements stating that £500 will be charged for each site inspection that the 
Council is required to undertake in order to check dwelling occupancy in instances 
where the developer has failed to notify us of a trigger threshold being reached. 

Page 51



 
xiii. New text (at paragraph 7.12) to explain why, in some circumstances, the Council 

may seek appropriate security from a developer, in the form of a ‘bond’, to cover 
any unforeseen circumstances resulting in the under/non-payment of deferred 
financial contributions.  
 

xiv. Further minor amendments following a grammar/Plain English sense check, for 
readability and accuracy. 

 
What Happens Next? 

 
38. The Local Planning Regulations do not require the draft SPD to be subject to 

independent examination (as was the case for the draft CIL Charging Schedule) and 
the remaining key milestones for both the SPD and CIL reviews are as shown in Table 
1 below. 

 

Table 1 – Next Steps 
 

Milestone 
 

 

Expected Dates 
 

Cabinet – Adoption of the Developer 
Contributions SPD and consideration of the 
CIL Charging Schedule for adoption by 
Council 

1 October 2021 

Council - Adoption of the CIL Charging 
Schedule 

6 October 2021 

 

Options 
 

39. Not updating the Developer Contributions SPD is an option, but this would mean 
relying on the 2017 version and the Council not having an improved, up-to-date 
document to assist developers and communities. It would also mean that the 
consultees’ efforts submitting responses and the officer time involved in updating the 
document would have been wasted. 
 

Climate and ecological impact implications 
 

40. The SPD will help to reduce the negative carbon impact of development through the 
provision of infrastructure and facilities that are on-site or within walking distance of 
new developments. CIL will be the appropriate mechanism for securing off-site and 
wider carbon reduction initiatives. The SPD also sets out where on-site and off-site 
developer contributions will be sought for biodiversity net gain, to mitigate the impacts 
of specific developments (see DEV14 of the SPD at Appendix 3 to this report). 
 

Financial Implications 
 

41. Once adopted and implemented, the updated Developer Contributions SPD 2021 will 
continue to help the Council secure significant funding towards necessary infrastructure 
in the district. 
 
 

Page 52



 

Legal Implications 
 

42. The Developer Contributions SPD has been prepared and consulted upon in line with 
the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012. There are no wider legal implications. 
 

Risks 
 

43. As due process has been followed, any risk of a legal challenge following the Council’s 
adoption and implementation of the Developer Contributions SPD is limited. 
 

Other implications 
 

44. The 2017 Developer Contributions SPD will be superseded upon the adoption of the 
2021 SPD (see Appendix 3).  
 

Conclusion 
 

45. Officers recommend that the Developer Contributions SPD is adopted by Cabinet on 1 
October 2021 so that it can come into force alongside the revised CIL rates within the 
Council’s CIL Charging Schedule and help us to deliver the necessary infrastructure to 
support development across the District, as set out in the Vale of White Horse Local 
Plan 2031 (Parts 1 and 2). 
 

Background Papers 
 

 Appendix 1 – List of respondents to the draft SPD public consultation 

 Appendix 2 – Schedule of consultation responses 

 Appendix 3 – Amended version of the Developer Contributions SPD 
 

Page 53



 

Appendix 1 
 
List of Respondents to the Draft SPD Public Consultation 
 

1 Barwell, Giles 

2 Crawford, Andy Cllr 

3 East Hendred Parish Council 

4 Hallett, Debby Cllr 

5 Historic England 

6 Natural England 

7 NHS Oxfordshire CCG 

8 North Hinksey Parish Council 

9 Oxford and District Action on Child Poverty 

10 Oxfordshire County Council 

11 Roberts, Judy Cllr 

12 Scharf, Daniel 

13 Scottish and Southern Electricity Networks 

14 Shrivenham Parish Council 

15 Soha Housing 

16 South Oxfordshire District Council 

17 Sport England 

18 Thames Valley Police 

19 Thames Water 

20 Thompson, Max Cllr 

21 Vale Liberal Democrat Group 

22 Vale of White Horse DC Housing Team 

23 Wantage Town Council 

24 Watchfield Parish Council 

25 Wilts and Berks Canal Trust 

26 Wise, Michael Dr 

27 Woodlands Medical Centre PPG 

 

Page 54



Appendix 2 – Schedule of Consultation Responses 

 

ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

1 
Crawford, 

Andrew Cllr 
Section 4 

Section 4 makes regular but intermittent 
reference for the need to liaise with parish 
councils and local councillors prior to 
drawing up S106 agreements. This is 
welcomed but it is unclear why some 
categories of infrastructure are considered 
areas for liaising (e.g Outdoor Sport and 
Recreation, Social and Community 
Facilities, Play Areas) whilst others do not 
require there to be liaison (e.g Open 
Space, Cemeteries or Public Realm). 
 

Yes, reference is made in relation to 
some infrastructure types and not 
others. This has been done where 
parishes usually play a particular role in 
provision (e.g. play areas, sports 
provision). However, for clarity, an 
appropriate paragraph could be 
provided at the beginning of Section 4 
to cover involvement of parishes, local 
community groups and ward councillors 
in relation to local knowledge of 
infrastructure and costs. 
 

Add a new paragraph after 4.2 in Section 4 as 
follows: 'It is good practice to involve town 
and parish councils, local community and 
access groups and District ward 
councillors at an early stage in 
discussions over infrastructure provision, 
prior to drawing up Section 106 
agreements. This is particularly true in 
instances where they may have detailed 
knowledge of local infrastructure needs 
and costs.' 

2 
Crawford, 

Andrew Cllr 
6.1 

Can we specifically make reference to 
discussion with Ward Councillors? 

Reference can be added to 'local 
councillors' in para 6.1. 
 

Amend para 6.1 to read: '…We encourage 
developers to discuss proposals with the local 
community, local councillors and the 
relevant town or parish council…' 

3 
Crawford, 

Andrew Cllr 
Appendix 

2 

(4) Can we include Ward councillors? 
Also, this para just relates to social and 
community facilities. 

9) It is not clear how concerns of Senior 
Officers or Cabinet Members in areas 
affected by the implications of the 
proposed S106 obligations are taken into 
account. 

(11) Helpful to explain what is required 
under the Council's Constitution. Power to 
authorise planning obligations should 
include Senior Officers and Cabinet 
Members. Could include details on 
administration and approval procedure, 
where S106s require renegotiation. 

It is recommended that a new 
paragraph is provided at the beginning 
of Section 4, which covers consultation 
with town/parish councils and local 
councillors. 

Appendix 2 of the adopted 2017 
Developer Contributions SPD has 
proved useful in discussions with 
developers. However, given that the 
SPD is a policy document and should 
not cover detailed Council procedures, 
it would be more appropriate for a 
separate protocol to be prepared on 
S106 negotiations for internal use by 
Members and Officers, if necessary.  

Add a new paragraph after 4.2 in Section 4 as 
follows: 'It is good practice to involve town 
and parish councils, local community and 
access groups and District ward 
councillors at an early stage in 
discussions over infrastructure provision, 
prior to drawing up Section 106 
agreements. This is particularly true in 
instances where they may have detailed 
knowledge of local infrastructure needs 
and costs.' 
 
Amend paragraph 6.2 to read: '...Further 
information on the Council's approach to 
negotiating planning obligations assessing the 
need for infrastructure, and authorising the 
final agreement is set out in Appendix 2.' 

P
age 55



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

4 
Watchfield 

Parish 
Council 

DEV6 

Use of, and contributions to, off-site play 
and facilities. Multiple developers should 
not be allowed to count the same land 
and/or facilities as sufficient off-site 
provision. This is especially pertinent 
where several large developments are 
happening concurrently and, therefore, 
the impact of the proposed housing and 
population increase from one 
development does not necessarily figure 
in the calculations for the provision or 
space for another development. 
 
 

Children’s play and youth provision will 
be dependent on existing provision in 
the area and demands from other 
development.  
 

Supporting text (at the end of 4.37) needs to 
explain that children’s play and youth 
provision will be dependent on existing 
provision in the area and the demands from 
other development and, in some cases, may 
be in the form of financial contributions rather 
than on-site provision. 

5 
Watchfield 

Parish 
Council 

DEV6 

In 4.37 there appears no difference 
between the LAP/LEAP/NEAP/MUGA 
provision from 81 to 500 house 
developments. The scale of provision 
should be more of a sliding scale with 
NEAP provision for 201-500 houses or all 
provisions for 201+ houses.  

The SPD needs to reflect Development 

Policy 33 and Appendix K of LPP2, 

which set out the Council’s standards 

for play provision. On reflection, we 

consider that inclusion of Table 3 

(Children’s Play and Youth Provision) is 

confusing for developers, as it is based 

on non-statutory ‘Fields in Trust’ 

guidance rather than adopted Plan 

policy. It is, therefore, proposed that we 

remove Table 3 from the SPD and 

replace it with text to explain that play 

area requirements will be dependent on 

existing provision in the area and the 

demands from other development and 

may be in the form of financial 

contributions rather than on-site 

provision. 

 
 

Delete Table 3 and replace with new text at 
the end of para 4.37 to explain that children’s 
play and youth provision will be dependent on 
existing provision in the area and the 
demands from other development and, in 
some cases, may be in the form of financial 
contributions rather than on-site provision.  
 
 

P
age 56



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

6 
Watchfield 

Parish 
Council 

DEV8 

Where improvements to existing 
community facilities are required (e.g. an 
extension to accommodate usage by new 
residents), S106 contributions should 
ensure these are fully funded by the 
development rather than pro rata for the 
increase in the population of the 
village/town. 

S106 contributions are required to be 
directly related to the development. 
Facilities like community centres will 
serve a much wider population than 
that generated by an average 
development. Contributions therefore 
need to be based on the population 
from the development. 
 
 

None required. 

7 
Watchfield 

Parish 
Council 

DEV9 

Health contributions should also be 
sought through S106 for residences built 
specifically for the older market. 

DEV9 (Health Care) states that 
development contributions for 
healthcare will be sought through S106 
from all extra care, nursing and care 
home developments. 
 
 

None required. 

8 
Watchfield 

Parish 
Council 

DEV13 

Rather than contributions towards largely 
irrelevant CEPs, S106 should be sought 
to guarantee truly local employment land 
and opportunities to reduce the need for 
commuting and lessen climate impact. 
Major developments should be required to 
prove the use of local labour for 
development and maintenance phases. 
 
 

The Vale Local Plan 2031 includes 
employment land allocations, which 
support local job opportunities and 
reduce the need to travel to and from 
work. 

None required. 

9 
Watchfield 

Parish 
Council 

DEV14 

S106 should also be used to ensure the 
retention and maintenance of existing 
hedgerows and mature trees. Money for 
retention or enhancement of mature 
boundaries and trees will have a far 
greater net biodiversity gain than planting 
immature specimens with only 5 years 
protection. 
 

Planning conditions will secure the 
retention of hedgerows and trees, 
where necessary. The biodiversity 
provided by existing vegetation is the 
base point and Core Policy 46 
(Conservation and Improvement of 
Biodiversity) requires no net loss of 
biodiversity as a result of development.  
 
Hedgerows and trees form an integral 
part of open spaces and as such, their 
maintenance should be secured as a 
whole (see Section 5 of the SPD for 

None required. 

P
age 57



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

further details on Management and 
Maintenance of Open Spaces). 
 
 

10 
Watchfield 

Parish 
Council 

DEV16 

S106 contributions should also fund 
mobile air quality stations to give 
impartial, relevant, on-site data prior to 
development rather than a reliance of 
distant permanent facilities. 

The Council will require that air quality 
assessments use relevant data. This is 
to be provided by the developer. Where 
ongoing monitoring is required as part 
of development, S106 contributions 
could be secured for this and the 
Council's Air Quality officer would 
specify the nature of that provision.  
 

None required. 

11 
Watchfield 

Parish 
Council 

DEV17 

There needs to be funding for a more 
thorough and professional audit of the 
existing drainage of the wider 
development area. Grampian-style waste 
and water agreements should no longer 
be allowed but up-front improvements to 
infrastructure required to alleviate the 
inevitable overload of existing systems. 
Just specifying a prior occupation clause 
is too easy to negotiate away. 

All development is considered by the 
Council's technical experts in relation to 
drainage and flooding issues. The 
timing of associated infrastructure 
provision is subject to their advice - in 
most instances, infrastructure needs to 
be provided before occupation and 
planning conditions secure the 
necessary provision for drainage. 
Occasionally, S106 agreements are 
needed where land is not within the 
application site.  
 
 

None required. 

12 
Watchfield 

Parish 
Council 

Section 6 

Pre-application discussions regarding 
developments and S106 contributions are 
too often cited by developers as tacit 
approval for the development by the 
parish/town council. All S106 
negotiations/discussions must be an 
entirely separate issue and not used to 
provide any evidence of support. 

The NPPF encourages developers to 
enter into pre-application discussions. 
Such discussions are helpful to explore 
technical matters. Developers are also 
advised of policy requirements, 
including infrastructure, where known.  
It is recognised that pre application 
discussions are only a preliminary 
assessment of proposals, as wider 
consultation has not been undertaken. 
In particular, a complete assessment of 

None required. 

P
age 58



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

infrastructure requirements needs to 
take place at the application stage. 
 

13 
Crawford, 

Andrew Cllr 
Section 6 

There is still a perception that 
developer/District Council negotiations of 
S106 are too subjective and held behind 
closed doors with no parish participation. 
Parishes do not necessarily receive an 
open explanation for the final figures and 
why some projects or areas are not 
funded. It appears that there is a large 
degree of disparity between officers as to 
what is advised, negotiated or followed 
through. Greater clarity would be 
beneficial to all. 

It is recommended that a new 
paragraph is provided at the beginning 
of Section 4, which covers consultation 
with town/parish councils and local 
councillors. 

Appendix 2 of the adopted 2017 
Developer Contributions SPD has 
proved useful in discussions with 
developers. However, given that the 
SPD is a policy document and should 
not cover detailed Council procedures, 
it would be more appropriate for a 
separate protocol to be prepared on 
S106 negotiations for internal use by 
Members and Officers, if necessary.  

Add a new paragraph after 4.2 in Section 4 as 
follows: 'It is good practice to involve town 
and parish councils, local community and 
access groups and District ward 
councillors at an early stage in 
discussions over infrastructure provision, 
prior to drawing up Section 106 
agreements. This is particularly true in 
instances where they may have detailed 
knowledge of local infrastructure needs 
and costs.' 
 
Amend paragraph 6.2 to read: '...Further 
information on the Council's approach to 
negotiating planning obligations assessing the 
need for infrastructure, and authorising the 
final agreement is set out in Appendix 2.' 
 

14 
Barwell, 

Giles 
Page 21 

No reference to carbon reduction or the 
climate emergency in the document. 
Various environmental impact areas are 
listed (on pages 21-25) and important, but 
VOWH should also be requiring the 
implementation of carbon reduction 
measures from developers. If included in 
the list, it would help to encourage the 
development of solutions such as PV on 
roof spaces, EV charge points, heat 
pumps, district heating etc. 

Proposed new development will need 
to address climate change mitigation 
intrinsically through location and design 
(as per Core Policy 37 of LPP1) and 
planning conditions can achieve 
improved provision of carbon reduction 
measures such as EV charging points. 
S106 contributions must be directly 
related to a specific development and 
carbon reduction measures can only be 
determined on a site by site basis. 

Add new sub-section on Climate Change 
Mitigation and include a new paragraph to 
read: 
 
‘Core Policy 37 (Design and Local 
Distinctiveness) of the LPP1 requires 
proposed new development to address 
sustainability and climate change 
intrinsically through location and design, 
by taking into account landform, layout, 
building orientation, massing and 

P
age 59



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

However, CIL is an appropriate 
mechanism to fund off-site and wider 
carbon reduction initiatives that are not 
directly related to the development.  
 
 

landscaping to minimise energy 
consumption and mitigate water run-off 
and flood risks. Planning conditions can 
achieve improved provision of carbon 
reduction measures (such as EV charging 
points) and CIL is the appropriate 
mechanism for securing developer 
contributions towards off-site and wider 
carbon reduction initiatives that are not 
directly related to a specific development, 
including renewable energy and energy 
storage infrastructure.’ 
 

15 
Scottish and 

Southern 
Electric 

  

No comments to make. Noted. None required. 

16 

North 
Hinksey 
Parish 
Council 

All, 
including 

Part 4 
and para 

4.46 

North Hinksey Parish Council fully 
supports the draft SPD, particularly the 
inclusion of local consultations detailed in 
various sub-sections of Part 4 of the 
document. We are keen to see that these 
policies are adhered to. 
 
Under section 4.46 (Cemeteries), either 
the word 'mainly' or 'mostly' needs to be 
inserted before ‘…managed by parish & 
town councils.’ 
 
 

Support noted. 
 
For clarity, paragraph 4.46 could be 
amended to say 'The majority of 
cemeteries…' 

Second sentence of para 4.46 to read: 'The 
majority of cCemeteries are managed by 
parish and town councils…' 

17 
Sport 

England 

Page 28, 
Section 5, 
para 5.10 

Suggest that a maintenance sum for at 
least 10 or more years is required. The 
sum should be based on the agronomist 
report. Also, the infrastructure to support 
playing pitches is required e.g. pavilions, 
where appropriate or at least toilets, and 
car parking. 

It is agreed that infrastructure to 
support playing pitches is required. 
S106 contributions are sought for 
sports pavilions and other supporting 
infrastructure in accordance with 
Appendix K of the LPP2 and Appendix 
3 of the SPD. 
 
There is a need to add ‘sport and 
recreation facilities’ to the types of 
infrastructure mentioned under para 
5.1. 

Add sports and recreation facilities to the 
types of infrastructure listed under para 5.1.  
 
Amend paragraph 5.10 to read:  
'Where new pitches are to be provided on 
site, the Council will require a detailed 
specification, including drainage works and 
where appropriate services, to be submitted 
at full or reserved matters stages. A 
programme of works and funding for an 
agronomist (who will check the specification, 
inspect site works, and inspect and agree 

P
age 60



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

 
Agree that reference to the requirement 
of a maintenance sum for grass pitches 
of at least 10 years should be added. 

practical completion and provide advice on 
future maintenance requirements) will be 
secured by S106 agreement. The developer 
will be required to remedy defects arising 
within the first year of use, based on the 
agronomist’s report and will also be 
required to pay a maintenance sum to 
cover a period of at least 10 years.  
 

18 
Historic 
England 

N/A No comment Noted. None required. 

19 
Scharf, 
Daniel 

General 

Document prepared before the Council's 
declaration of a climate and ecological 
emergency and the commitment to reduce 
carbon emissions to net zero by 2030. 
Also, no evidence relating to possible 
changes to the use of land and buildings 
arising from the Pandemic. The Council 
needs to explore the infrastructure needs 
of a net zero or negative carbon economy 
and one that fits with Post-Covid 
behaviours. Without this evidence, the 
SPD will be funding pre-lockdown 
lifestyles, which would frustrate and not 
assist the transition to a net zero and 
biodiverse environment. Such research is 
likely to show the emerging importance of 
local food systems, awareness of 
protecting soils and water, local 
energy/heat distribution systems, more 
local working, more active travel and a 
huge shift from new building to retrofitting. 
 
 

Agree that changing lifestyles will need 
to be carefully monitored and may well 
have a positive impact on efforts to 
reduce carbon emissions to net zero. 
Evidence will be collected to inform the 
next Local Plan.  

None required. 

20 

Oxford & 
District 

Action on 
Child 

Poverty 

Affordable 
housing 

The cost of buying a house in Oxfordshire 
is prohibitive for families on average 
incomes and impossible for those on low 
incomes. The costs of private rents are 
correspondingly high. One of the few 

Noted. This comment relates to 
Affordable Housing Local Plan Policy/ 
SPD rather than Developer 
Contributions.  

None required. 

P
age 61



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

ways for such families to obtain secure 
accommodation at rents they can afford is 
for properties to be made available at 
Social Rents. We therefore urge the 
council to build into your policy a 
requirement that houses made available 
as part of affordable housing provision 
should be let at Social Rents, as distinct 
from Affordable Rents. 
 
 

21 
Natural 
England 

General 

We welcome the opportunity to give our 
views but have no comment to make. 

Noted. None required. 

22 

Woodlands 
Medical 

Centre PPG 
(on behalf of 

Didcot 
Health 

Centre & 
The Oak 

Tree 
Medical 
Centre) 

General 

Council's consideration of housing growth 
has failed to consider medical 
infrastructure needs. The Oxfordshire 
Clinical Commissioning Group must be 
consulted and their views sought on plans 
to allocate land for housing.  
 
At Great Western Park, insufficient land 
was allocated for primary care facilities 
and the allocated site is too small and 
unfit for purpose. The minimum size for an 
efficient medical centre is now at least 
1,100 sq m. Sufficient space for car 
parking and adjoining pharmacies must 
also be included.  
 
Funding of primary care provision is 
inadequate at present and new policy 
needs to ensure developers make a 
contribution towards new local medical 
infrastructure. Rapid housing growth 
(including plans for Didcot Garden Town) 
make the need for more local facilities 
urgent, particularly as local medical 
centres are already operating at capacity.  
 

The CCG and GP practices are 
consulted on major development on 
sites over 50 dwellings.  

DEV9 (Health Care) states that new or 
increased capacity of health facilities 
will be sought through S106 from 
development on allocated sites exempt 
from CIL and that development 
contributions for healthcare will be 
sought through S106 from all extra 
care, nursing and care home 
developments.  

Feedback from health care providers 
informs the S106 contributions sought 
in relation to new development. 

None required. P
age 62



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

All new development should make 
increased financial contributions towards 
primary care provision or be subject to an 
additional medical infrastructure levy.  
 
 

23 
Wilts and 

Berks Canal 
Trust 

General 

Sets out the objectives of the Wilts and 
Berks Canal Trust. Policy DP32 (Wilts and 
Berks Canal) safeguards a continuous 
route corridor for restoration of the Wilts & 
Berks Canal. WBCT generally supports 
the SPD and would be willing to work with 
the council and landowners in relation to 
restoration of the canal. 
 
 
 

Support noted.  None required. 

24 
Wilts and 

Berks Canal 
Trust 

DEV4 

WBCT supports the inclusion of Policy 
DP32 in DEV4 as this will help towards 
delivery of the restoration of the Wilts & 
Berks Canal. 
 
 

Support noted.  None required. 

25 
Wilts and 

Berks Canal 
Trust 

DEV14 

Would be helpful to delivery of restoration 
of the Wilts and Berks Canal as green 
infrastructure for DEV14 to include 
reference to Local Plan Part 2 - Policy 
DP32 (Wilts and Berks Canal). 
 
 

Agree, Reference to Policy DP32 in 
DEV14 and under 'Biodiversity and 
Green Infrastructure' in Appendix 1 
would be helpful. 

Add DP32 in DEV14 and under 'Biodiversity 
and Green Infrastructure' in Appendix 1 

26 
Wilts and 

Berks Canal 
Trust 

Appendic
es 1 and 

4 

Supports the inclusion of Policy DP32 
(Wilts & Berks Canal) under 'Indoor and 
Outdoor Sports and Recreation' in 
Appendix 4, as this is helpful to delivery of 
the canal's restoration. Policy DP32 
should also be included against 
'Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure' in 
Appendix 1, as this would be helpful to 
delivery of the canal's restoration as green 
infrastructure. 
 

Agree. Reference to Policy DP32 under 
'Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure' 
in Appendix 1 would be helpful. 

Add DP32 under 'Biodiversity and Green 
Infrastructure' in Appendix 1.  

P
age 63



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

 

27 
Soha 

Housing 
Affordable 
housing 

Support lowering the affordable housing 
threshold from 11 to 10 homes in 
accordance with the NPPF and a 
threshold of 5 is about right for rural areas 
where affordable housing is in short 
supply.  
 
As a Registered Provider we sometimes 
redevelop our existing land assets or 
acquire land on the open market to deliver 
wholly affordable schemes. Often on such 
schemes we seek to deliver rented homes 
in preference to shared ownership as we 
perceive their social value to be greater. 
Could the SPD be amended so that, in 
circumstances where it is viable/desirable 
to do so, a greater proportion of rented 
homes can be delivered?  
 
Policy CP24 states that either Social or 
Affordable Rent can be delivered, but the 
SPD makes no mention of Social Rent. 
We feel that Social Rents are far more 
affordable for low income households in 
such a high value area. Ideally, we would 
like the SPD to state that all rented homes 
delivered via planning gain are Social 
Rent (as in West Berks and Oxford City). 
As a fallback position we would support 
this SPD being brought in line with that of 
South Oxfordshire so that 35% of all new 
affordable homes are Social Rent. 
 

In accordance with the NPPF, 
affordable housing is sought on 
development with 10 or more net 
dwellings (within the AONB, an off-site 
contribution is sought on development 
with 6 or more (net) dwellings and on-
site when 10 or more dwellings). 
 
Issues in respect of tenure can be 
considered for the next Local Plan and 
the forthcoming Joint Affordable 
Housing SPD. 

None required. 

P
age 64



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

 

28 
Wise, 

Michael Dr 
Page 8, 
para 3.3.  

Paragraph needs to be enforced. 
Neighbourhood Plans are ignored and the 
Council does not advise developers that 
they should conform to them. I have heard 
developers refer to made Neighbourhood 
Plans as ‘advisory’, or ‘a wish list’ instead 
of realising that they are part of the Local 
Plan. Planning Officers also need to 
enforce their own Local Plan policies. 

Comments noted.  
 
Made Neighbourhood Plans form part 
of the statutory development plan for 
the District and sit alongside the Vale 
Local Plan 2031 (Parts 1 and 2). All 
decisions on planning applications are 
made in line with the policies within the 
Local Plan, any made neighbourhood 
plan covering the application site and 
any other material considerations. 
 
 

None required. 

29 
Wise, 

Michael Dr 
Section 4 

All of Section 4 is to be welcomed, it is 
extremely desirable and should be 
enforced without exception. The pity is 
that many developments currently in 
process have avoided these obligations in 
whole or in part, particularly with respect 
to affordable housing and play space. 
Unfortunately, all of the major sites in 
Faringdon are under development or with 
planning permission. There will be no 
opportunity to remediate the shortfalls in 
play space. 

Support noted. None required. 

30 
Wise, 

Michael Dr 
Appendic

es 

The Appendices are to be welcomed. 
They set out clearly the infrastructure 
needs that developers should be fulfilling, 
particularly Appendices 3 and 4. These 
appendices need to be kept up to date in 
consultation with town and parish 
councils. The requirements for play space 
and allotments should be rigorously 
enforced in planning applications. 
 
 

Support noted. Any future revisions to 
the SPD once adopted, will be subject 
to further public consultation (which will 
include consultation with all town and 
parish councils in the Vale District). 

None required. 

P
age 65



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

31 
Hallett, 

Debby Cllr 

4.16 / 
DEV2 

Education 

Are all education expenses were now 
covered by S106? Does the Council's CIL 
Spending Strategy include education 
currently? 
 
 

Paragraph 4.16 is correct - in addition 
to S106 contributions, it is possible for 
CIL receipts to also be used to fund 
education facilities. 

None required. 

32 
Hallett, 

Debby Cllr 
General 

Include a promise 9a rule to consult with 
local members of the District Council as 
well as local town and parish councils. It 
has been a problem for years that S106 
negotiations go on with only a limited view 
of what is needed. 

It is recommended that a new 
paragraph is provided at the beginning 
of Section 4, which covers consultation 
with town/parish councils and local 
councillors. 

Appendix 2 of the adopted 2017 
Developer Contributions SPD has 
proved useful in discussions with 
developers. However, given that the 
SPD is a policy document and should 
not cover detailed Council procedures, 
it would be more appropriate for a 
separate protocol to be prepared on 
S106 negotiations for internal use by 
Members and Officers, if necessary.  

Add a new paragraph after 4.2 in Section 4 as 
follows: 'It is good practice to involve town 
and parish councils, local community and 
access groups and District ward 
councillors at an early stage in 
discussions over infrastructure provision, 
prior to drawing up Section 106 
agreements. This is particularly true in 
instances where they may have detailed 
knowledge of local infrastructure needs 
and costs.' 
 
Amend paragraph 6.2 to read: '...Further 
information on the Council's approach to 
negotiating planning obligations assessing the 
need for infrastructure, and authorising the 
final agreement is set out in Appendix 2.' 

33 
Hallett, 

Debby Cllr 

4.35 / 
DEV6 
Play 

Areas 

Please specify 'local district councillors'. 
This intention should apply to all the DEV 
references and this promise should be at 
an appropriate level in the document to 
apply to every DEV typology.  

It is suggested that a new paragraph is 
provided at the beginning of Section 4 
regarding consultation with town and 
parish councils and local councillors.  
The reference to 'local councillors' will 
encompass parish and district 
councillors. 

As above. 

34 
Hallett, 

Debby Cllr 

4.36 / 
DEV6 
Play 

Areas 

Specify that local district councillors are to 
be included in consultation and liaison. 

It is suggested that a new paragraph is 
provided at the beginning of Section 4 
regarding consultation with town and 
parish councils and local councillors.  
The reference to 'local councillors' will 
encompass parish and district 
councillors. 

As above. 

35 
Hallett, 

Debby Cllr 
4.40 / 
DEV8 

Strongly urge you to decide how you type 
the word onsite. Is it on-site, onsite or on 
site? 

Document to be checked for 
consistency.  

Represent as 'on-site' throughout document. 

P
age 66



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

 
 

36 
Hallett, 

Debby Cllr 
4.42 / 
DEV8 

Specify which councillors are to be 
included - district councillors. 

It is recommended that a new 
paragraph is provided at the beginning 
of Section 4 regarding consultation with 
town and parish councils and local 
councillors.  The reference to 'local 
councillors' will encompass parish and 
district councillors. 

Add a new paragraph after 4.2 in Section 4 as 
follows: 'It is good practice to involve town 
and parish councils, local community and 
access groups and District ward 
councillors at an early stage in 
discussions over infrastructure provision, 
prior to drawing up Section 106 
agreements. This is particularly true in 
instances where they may have detailed 
knowledge of local infrastructure needs 
and costs.' 
 
Amend paragraph 6.2 to read: '...Further 
information on the Council's approach to 
negotiating planning obligations assessing the 
need for infrastructure, and authorising the 
final agreement is set out in Appendix 2.' 
 

37 
Hallett, 

Debby Cllr 
4.43 / 
DEV9 

Here and throughout the document, 
specify local district councillors. 

It is suggested that a new paragraph is 
provided at the beginning of Section 4 
regarding consultation with town and 
parish councils and local councillors.  
The reference to 'local councillors' will 
encompass parish and district 
councillors. 

As Above 

38 
Hallett, 

Debby Cllr 
4.46 / 

DEV11 

Not all cemeteries are managed by towns 
and parishes. Botley cemetery is 
managed by Oxford City Council. 
 
 

Para 4.46 should be amended to say 
that the majority of cemeteries are 
owned by town and parish councils. 
 

Second sentence of para 4.46 to read: 'The 
majority of cCemeteries are managed by 
parish and town councils…' 

39 
Hallett, 

Debby Cllr 
DEV14 

How will we measure the net gain in 
biodiversity for a development? Is it 
reasonable to have a policy of net 10% 
gain? Why 10%? 

DEV14 states that all development 
should aim to deliver at least 10% net 
gain in biodiversity.  This is in line with 
the forthcoming changes to the 

Provide new text to explain the current Vale 
Local Plan policy requirements in relation to 
biodiversity net gain. 

P
age 67



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

Environment Bill (yet enacted). The 
NPPF only requires a net gain per se, as 
does CP45. Applicants are already 
required to submit a biodiversity 
assessment with planning applications 
to demonstrate net gain and the 
Council's ecologist reviews this 
information to ensure compliance with 
regulations and policy.  

40 
Hallett, 

Debby Cllr 

4.63-4.66 
/ DEV16 

Air 
Quality 

Mitigation measures should partly be 
concerned with how many more vehicles 
new developments will be adding to the 
A34 in Botley or the A415 in Marcham 
and require mitigation via s106. What sort 
of programmes exist for such mitigation? 
Air quality in dwellings and gardens 
nearby are unhealthily polluted. New 
developments should neither contribute to 
air pollution nor subject their future 
residents to pollution levels known to 
increase mortality.  

Transport strategy including traffic 
generation and promotion of alternative 
modes of transport are considered 
through policy and at the planning 
application stage. The County Council 
prepares Local Transport Plans to 
present and address transport strategy 
and advise on planning applications. 
Where sites are unacceptably affected 
by air quality, the Council's technical 
experts will advise whether mitigation 
can assist. The SPD cannot alter 
overarching policy considerations. 
However, existing policy references 
regarding the consideration of air 
quality should be added to the SPD 
under DEV16. 
 

Add reference to Local Plan Part 1 Core 
Policies 33 and 34 under DEV16. 

P
age 68



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

41 
Hallett, 

Debby Cllr 
Protocol 

When a S106 agreement is re-negotiated, 
local district councillors must be re-
consulted and the Chair of Planning 
Committee (at least) must approve the 
new terms. This ensures member 
involvement and meaningful contribution.  

It is recommended that a new 
paragraph is provided at the beginning 
of Section 4, which covers consultation 
with town/parish councils and local 
councillors. 

Appendix 2 of the adopted 2017 
Developer Contributions SPD has 
proved useful in discussions with 
developers. However, given that the 
SPD is a policy document and should 
not cover detailed Council procedures, 
it would be more appropriate for a 
separate protocol to be prepared on 
S106 negotiations for internal use by 
Members and Officers, if necessary.  

Add a new paragraph after 4.2 in Section 4 as 
follows: 'It is good practice to involve town 
and parish councils, local community and 
access groups and District ward 
councillors at an early stage in 
discussions over infrastructure provision, 
prior to drawing up Section 106 
agreements. This is particularly true in 
instances where they may have detailed 
knowledge of local infrastructure needs 
and costs.' 
 
Amend paragraph 6.2 to read: '...Further 
information on the Council's approach to 
negotiating planning obligations assessing the 
need for infrastructure, and authorising the 
final agreement is set out in Appendix 2.' 
 

42 
Hallett, 

Debby Cllr 
Protocol 

Policy must not include descriptions of 
internal processes. Policy must be 
consulted on and changes only 
infrequently. Internal procedures are 
modified in the process of ordinary 
problem solving, sometimes frequently. 
Consequently, details of internal 
procedures do not belong in a policy 
document and should be removed from 
this SPD, leaving only policy. 
 

Agree. Appendix 2 of the adopted 2017 
Developer Contributions SPD has 
proved useful in discussions with 
developers. However, given that the 
SPD is a policy document and should 
not cover detailed Council procedures, 
it would be more appropriate for a 
separate protocol to be prepared on 
S106 negotiations for internal use by 
Members and Officers, if necessary.  

Amend paragraph 6.2 to read: '...Further 
information on the Council's approach to 
negotiating planning obligations assessing the 
need for infrastructure, and authorising the 
final agreement is set out in Appendix 2.' 

P
age 69



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

43 
Hallett, 

Debby Cllr 

4.63-4.66 
/ DEV16 

Air 
Quality 

VOWH is still approving applications for 
hundreds of homes that put thousands of 
cars on the already-over-capacity A34 
and A420 and A338. What mitigation 
could we deliver via s106 obligations to 
over-crowded roads, and air quality that 
fails to meet health standards? For 
example, all the big developments near 
Abingdon bring in more cars, which 
contribute to the lethal levels of air 
pollution in the Botley AQMA alongside 
the A34. 

Transport strategy including traffic 
generation and promotion of alternative 
modes of transport are considered 
through policy and at the planning 
application stage. The County Council 
prepares Local Transport Plans to 
present and address transport strategy 
and advises on planning applications. 
Where sites are unacceptably affected 
by air quality, the Council's technical 
experts will advise whether mitigation 
can assist. The SPD cannot address 
principle policy considerations. 
However, existing policy references 
regarding the consideration of air 
quality should be added to the SPD 
under DEV16. 
 
 

Add reference to Local Plan Part 1 Core 
Policies 33 and 34 under DEV16. 

44 
Thompson, 

Max Cllr 
4.58 

Net gain in green infrastructure should 
include EV provision as mandatory on all 
major developments. 

Paragraph 4.66 explains the council's 
approach to the provision of electric 
vehicle charging points in new 
development and in council-owned car 
parks. 
 
 

None required. 

45 
Thompson, 

Max Cllr 
4.59 

Para 4.59 should list the reasons or tests 
that determine whether net gain in 
biodiversity is not possible through on-site 
provision.  
 
It should also say contributions 'will be' 
sought rather than 'may be'. 

DEV14 states that all development 
should aim to deliver at least 10% net 
gain in biodiversity.  This is in line with 
the forthcoming changes to the 
Environment Bill (yet enacted). The 
NPPF only requires a net gain per se, 
as does CP45. Applicants are required 
to submit a biodiversity assessment 
with planning applications to 
demonstrate net gain, and the 
Council's Ecologist reviews this 
information to ensure compliance with 
regulations and policy. Where possible 
net gain is sought on-site. 
 

Provide new text to explain the current Vale 
Local Plan policy requirements in relation to 
biodiversity net gain.  

P
age 70



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

 

46 
Thompson, 

Max Cllr 

4.31 & 
4.32 / 
DEV5 

Open space - more guidance about the 
location (not on outskirts or clustered). 
Also not 'we will expect' - 'we will require a 
minimum provision of 15%, otherwise the 
development will be considered 
unsustainable'. 

Agree that para 4.31 should say 'we will 
require', which is consistent with 
adopted Local Plan policy DP33. 
However, the design and configuration 
of open space will be a matter for the 
Joint Design Guide, which will also 
consider issues such as the location 
and quality of open space. 

Second sentence of para 4.31 to read: 'In 
accordance with Development Policy DP33, 
we will require expect a minimum provision of 
15% of the residential area to be laid out as 
public open space…' 

47 
Thompson, 

Max Cllr 
4.62 

Waste and recycling - applicants must 
provide drawings and specify exactly 
where bins will be stored, prior to 
approval. 
 
 

Yes, planning application drawings 
should include details of bin storage 
(location and dimensions). 

None required. 

48 
Thompson, 

Max Cllr 
4.77 

VOWH's strong preference for electric 
over gas heating should be referenced. 

The Developer Contributions SPD 
cannot alter overarching regulations or 
policy requirements. These matters can 
be addressed through the new Local 
Plan.  
 
 

None required. 

P
age 71



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

49 
Thompson, 

Max Cllr 
4.35 

Where it says liaise with local councillors 
(and throughout the document) it must be 
made clear that engagement with ward 
councillors on S106 is a prerequisite - 
failure to do so may result in committee 
deferring decisions on the application. 
This cannot be ad hoc. There must be a 
process here. 

It is recommended that a new 
paragraph is provided at the beginning 
of Section 4, which covers consultation 
with town/parish councils and local 
councillors.  

Appendix 2 of the adopted 2017 
Developer Contributions SPD has 
proved useful in discussions with 
developers. However, given that the 
SPD is a policy document and should 
not cover detailed Council procedures, 
it would be more appropriate for a 
separate protocol to be prepared on 
S106 negotiations for internal use by 
Members and Officers, if necessary.  

Add a new paragraph after 4.2 in Section 4 as 
follows: 'It is good practice to involve town 
and parish councils, local community and 
access groups and District ward 
councillors at an early stage in 
discussions over infrastructure provision, 
prior to drawing up Section 106 
agreements. This is particularly true in 
instances where they may have detailed 
knowledge of local infrastructure needs 
and costs.' 
 
Amend paragraph 6.2 to read: '...Further 
information on the Council's approach to 
negotiating planning obligations assessing the 
need for infrastructure, and authorising the 
final agreement is set out in Appendix 2.' 
 

50 
Thompson, 

Max Cllr 
General 

Sustainable' should be clarified 
throughout the document, including how it 
relates to the corporate plan and our 
commitment to net zero by 2045. 

The definition of 'sustainable' is 
provided in national policy guidance 
and within the Glossary of the Vale 
Local Plan 2031.  It is agreed that the 
Council's commitment to achieving net 
zero by 2045 needs to be reflected in 
planning policy, but this needs to be 
within the Joint Local Plan for South 
and Vale, as opposed to this Developer 
Contributions SPD. 
 
 

None required. 

P
age 72



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

51 
Vale Liberal 
Democrat 

Goup 
General 

Reference to consultation with local Vale 
members is an important improvement to 
the SPD that will help to solve several 
problems. Too often money is going to 
obscure places when the obvious ones 
are left out. Currently, by the time the 
obligations contract gets to planning 
committee it is too late. We would like to 
see places in the timeline for s106 
negotiations to include local district 
councillors, as well as parish and town 
councils and relevant local organisations. 
It would be useful to include, at a high 
level if possible (rather than in each 
specific section) something about local 
district members being included in the 
conversations throughout the course of 
negotiations. Then it will be for internal 
procedures to spell out exactly how that 
will be done, and by whom etc.  
 
 

Support noted. 

It is recommended that a new 
paragraph is provided at the beginning 
of Section 4, which covers consultation 
with town/parish councils and local 
councillors.  

Appendix 2 of the adopted 2017 
Developer Contributions SPD has 
proved useful in discussions with 
developers. However, given that the 
SPD is a policy document and should 
not cover detailed Council procedures, 
it would be more appropriate for a 
separate protocol to be prepared on 
S106 negotiations for internal use by 
Members and Officers, if necessary.  

Add a new paragraph after 4.2 in Section 4 as 
follows: 'It is good practice to involve town 
and parish councils, local community and 
access groups and District ward 
councillors at an early stage in 
discussions over infrastructure provision, 
prior to drawing up Section 106 
agreements. This is particularly true in 
instances where they may have detailed 
knowledge of local infrastructure needs 
and costs.' 
 
Amend paragraph 6.2 to read: '...Further 
information on the Council's approach to 
negotiating planning obligations assessing the 
need for infrastructure, and authorising the 
final agreement is set out in Appendix 2.' 

52 
Vale Liberal 
Democrat 

Goup 

Carbon 
Mitigation 

S106 obligations are intended to mitigate 
the harm brought to the community by the 
development. We would like to see 
something specific about how s106 
obligations can be used to mitigate carbon 
released in the construction phase and 
also over the lifetime of the property. 
(Thinking of both the Council's targets and 
Government’s, for carbon neutral in a few 
years time.) So developers who ‘do the 
right thing’ would not have a s106 for 
mitigating harm to the environment. Those 
developers who still use methods of 
construction and design that are not 
carbon zero should be charged for 
mitigation or offset. Maybe there should 
be a fund to finance the expensive retro-fit 
of houses not built to zero-carbon 
standards? 

Proposed new development will need 
to address climate change mitigation 
intrinsically through location and design 
(as per Core Policy 37 of LPP1) and 
planning conditions can achieve 
improved provision of carbon reduction 
measures such as EV charging points. 
The SPD cannot require enhanced 
requirements as these need to be 
introduced through regulations or Local 
Plan policy. 

Add new sub-section on Climate Change 
Mitigation and include a new paragraph to 
read: 
 
‘Core Policy 37 (Design and Local 

Distinctiveness) of the LPP1 requires 

proposed new development to address 

sustainability and climate change 

intrinsically through location and design, 

by taking into account landform, layout, 

building orientation, massing and 

landscaping to minimise energy 

consumption and mitigate water run-off 

and flood risks. Planning conditions can 

achieve improved provision of carbon 

reduction measures (such as EV charging 

points) and CIL is the appropriate 

mechanism for securing developer 

P
age 73



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

 
 

contributions towards off-site and wider 

carbon reduction initiatives that are not 

directly related to a specific development, 

including renewable energy and energy 

storage infrastructure.’ 

53 
Oxfordshire 

County 
Council 

Page 1 

Support the rationale for reviewing the 
adopted Developer Contributions SPD. 

Support noted. None required. 

54 
Oxfordshire 

County 
Council 

Page 4 
Executive 
Summary 

Incorrect to say S106 will be the primary 
mechanism for securing developer 
contributions only in respect of sites that 
do not make a contribution through CIL. 
S106 agreements and CIL may be 
needed. 

Agree that an amendment is required - 
suggest it should read as follows: 
 
'However, for some sites (such as 
strategic sites allocated in the Local 
Plan) that ,which do not make a 
contribution through CIL), S106 will be 
the primary mechanism for securing 
developer contributions...' 

Amend Executive summary as follows:  
 
'However, for some sites (such as strategic 
sites allocated in the Local Plan) that ,which 
do not make a contribution through CIL), 
S106 will be the primary mechanism for 
securing developer contributions...' 

55 
Oxfordshire 

County 
Council 

Page 4 
Executive 
Summary 

We support the specific reference to use 
of S278 of the Highways Act, in addition 
to CIL and S106. 
 
 

Support noted. None required. 

56 
Oxfordshire 

County 
Council 

Page 5, 
para 1.4 

The start of the sentence could be better 
phrased as follows: ‘Developer 
contributions seek both financial and 
non-financial, are secured from 
development to mitigate…’ 
 
 

Agree, amend first sentence of para 1.4 
for clarity.  

First sentence of para 1.4 to read: ' 
‘Developer contributions seek, both financial 
and non-financial, are secured from 
development to mitigate…’ 

57 

Oxfordshire 
County 
Council 

 

Page 6, 
para 1.9 

Delete 'of' before 'use'. Agreed. Para 1.9 to read: '…restriction on the of use of 
land…' 

P
age 74



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

58 
Oxfordshire 

County 
Council 

Page 10, 
DEV1 & 

new para 

Provision should be explicitly made for 
contributions to affordable extra care and 
specialist housing. Amend Policy DEV1 
as follows: 
 
‘Affordable housing will be sought in 
accordance with Core Policy 24 and 
secured through a S106 obligation. 
Contributions towards affordable extra 
care and specialist housing will be 
sought via S106, in accordance with 
Core Policy 26.’ 
 
Then add a new paragraph after 4.8 as 
explanatory text. (suggested wording 
provided). 

The Council agrees that text could be 
usefully be added at the end of 
paragraph 4.5 to explain that affordable 
housing may include extra care or 
specialist housing. However, making 
explicit reference to these typologies in 
the DEV1 Blue Box would limit the 
Council's ability to respond flexibly to 
local affordable housing needs and, in 
any case, current affordable housing 
contributions are not ringfenced to 
General Needs and can be used to 
fund extra care/ specialist housing 
provision, where local need exists.  

Add the following text to the end of para 4.5:  
 
'…Affordable housing provision may 
include affordable extra care and 
specialist housing for vulnerable groups 
(such as the elderly with care needs and 
people with physical and learning 
disabilities or complex autism). The 
Council will work with Oxfordshire County 
Council and developers to secure and 
deliver this provision, in accordance with 
local needs.' 

59 
Oxfordshire 

County 
Council 

Page 11, 
para 4.12 

Occasionally it will be necessary to fund 
temporary buildings on school sites. This 
should be mentioned by adding the 
following text at the end of the paragraph: 
‘Developers may also be required to 
fund temporary accommodation to 
provide for pupils generated from 
development prior to the opening of 
any new permanent school 
classrooms, if the timing of 
development is such as to make this 
necessary.’ 
 

Agree, suggested wording is helpful. The following wording to be added to the end 
of para 4.12: '‘Developers may also be 
required to fund temporary 
accommodation to provide for pupils 
generated from development prior to the 
opening of any new permanent school 
classrooms, if the timing of development 
is such as to make this necessary.’ 

P
age 75



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

60 
Oxfordshire 

County 
Council 

Page 11, 
para 4.14 

For accuracy the paragraph needs 
amending as follows: 'Where land is 
required for educational facilities, detailed 
discussions and sufficient evidence, 
including appropriate surveys, will be 
necessary required in order to ensure it 
is suitable for educational use and to 
agree the actual boundaries of the site 
allocated, including the location of 
surveys, accesses and services. Land will 
need to be provided fully serviced and 
remediated and suitable for educational 
use and there may be additional 
payments to cover any abnormal costs 
associated with the build. Further land 
may be required where it is necessary to 
provide for future expansion of the 
school additional facilities co-located with 
the school. Triggers on the transfer of 
land and payment of contributions will be 
secured in the S106 agreement.' 
 

Agree, amend para 4.14 for clarity. Para 4.14 to be amended to read:  
'Where land is required for educational 
facilities, detailed discussions and sufficient 
evidence, including appropriate surveys, 
will be necessary required in order to ensure 
it is suitable for educational use and to 
agree the actual boundaries of the site 
allocated, including the location of surveys, 
accesses and services. Land will need to be 
provided fully serviced and remediated and 
suitable for educational use and there may be 
additional payments to cover any abnormal 
costs associated with the build. Further land 
may be required where it is necessary to 
provide for future expansion of the school 
additional facilities co-located with the school. 
Triggers on the transfer of land and payment 
of contributions will be secured in the S106 
agreement.' 

61 
Oxfordshire 

County 
Council 

Page 12, 
DEV3 

It should be made clear that a S278 
agreement may be required by adding the 
words in blue: ‘Direct mitigation of 
individual site transport impacts (including 
roads, cycleways, footpaths, public rights 
of way, public transport and the 
monitoring of travel plans) will be secured 
through S106. Infrastructure may need to 
be delivered through the developer 
entering into a S278 agreement with the 
County Council.’ 
Local Plan policy DP17 should also be 
referred to in the text. 
 

Agree, add 'need to' after 'Infrastructure 
may' under DEV3. 
 
Also add reference to DP17 (Transport 
Assessments & Travel Plans) in the list 
of relevant policies - and under 
Transport in Appendix 1 too. 

In blue box DEV3, amend the second 
sentence to read: 'Infrastructure may need to 
be delivered…' 
 
Also add DP17 to the list of relevant Local 
Plan policies at the end of DEV3 and under 
'Transport' in Appendix 1. 

P
age 76



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

62 
Oxfordshire 

County 
Council 

Page 13, 
para 4.20 

The second sentence should be 
amended, so that there is no implication 
of needing to wait for the master planning 
stage before identifying transport 
mitigation proposals:‘…It will be important 
to identify these in the master planning 
stage at the earliest opportunity in 
liaison with the County Council to ensure 
that the transport proposals adequately 
meet the needs arising from the 
development.' 
 
There may also be a need to discuss 
proposals with Highways England, so 
third sentence should be amended as 
follows: 'Discussions with Network Rail, 
Highways England and bus operators in 
the area may also be necessary.’ 

Agree. The suggested amendments 
are helpful. 

Amend second sentence of para 4.20 to read: 
'It will be important to identify these in the 
master planning stage at the earliest 
opportunity, in liaison with the County 
Council…' 
 
Amend third sentence of para 4.20 to read: 
'Discussions with Network Rail, Highways 
England and bus operators in the area...' 

63 
Oxfordshire 

County 
Council 

Page 13, 
para 4.21 

Para 4.21 should be corrected to refer to 
cycle crossings as well as pedestrian 
crossings, and the infrastructure needed 
for public transport: 
 
‘…Traffic Regulation Orders; traffic lights; 
pedestrian and cycle crossings; signage; 
public transport infrastructure on or 
adjacent to the site; lighting and street 
furniture.’ 

Agree. The suggested amendments 
are helpful. 

Amend para 4.21 to read: '…Traffic 
Regulation Orders; traffic lights; pedestrian 
and cycle crossings; signage; public 
transport infrastructure on or adjacent to the 
site…' 

P
age 77



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

64 
Oxfordshire 

County 
Council 

Page 22, 
DEV15 

We support the particular reference to 
Household Waste & Recycling Centres. 
Additional supporting text could be 
usefully included. Oxfordshire County 
Council is responsible for providing 
Household Waste Recycling Centres 
(HWRCs) for residents to deposit 
household materials that are not usually 
collected at the kerbside. HWRCs aim to 
maximise waste reduction, reuse and 
recycling, and support the circular 
economy. The County Council may 
require developers to mitigate the impact 
of their development on HWRC facilities 
by contributing towards the cost of 
improving or providing a new HWRC site 
that will serve the development. 
 
The assessment of contributions will be 
undertaken on a case by case basis and 
will take into account several factors 
(comments include a list).  

Support noted.  
 
Agreed that further text regarding 
Household Waste Recycling Centres 
would be helpful.  

Add a new paragraph 4.63 as follows: 

'... Oxfordshire County Council is 
responsible for providing Household 
Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs) for 
residents to deposit household materials 
that are not usually collected at the 
kerbside. HWRCs aim to maximise waste 
reduction, reuse and recycling and 
support the circular economy. The County 
Council may require developers to 
mitigate the impact of their development 
on HWRC facilities by contributing 
towards the cost of improving or providing 
a new HWRC site that will serve the 
development.' 

65 
Oxfordshire 

County 
Council 

Page 24, 
para 4.71 

Typo - '…the County Council (as lead 
local flood defence authority)…' 

Agree. Amend para 4.71 as suggested. Third sentence of para 4.71 to read: 
'Developers should, therefore, liaise with the 
County Council (as lead local flood defence 
authority)…' 
 

P
age 78



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

66 
Oxfordshire 

County 
Council 

Pages 29 
& 30, 

paras 6.4 
and 6.5 

The paragraphs refer to RICS guidance 
and in the case of para 6.5 include a 
quote from the RICS guidance note dating 
from 2012. It may be that there is more up 
to date guidance and the paragraphs 
should be revised. Government guidance 
was updated in May 2019 - Paragraph 
013 Reference ID: 10-013-20190509. 

Paragraph 6.5 requires amendment to 
reflect the latest RICS guidance on 
defining land values for development 
viability assessments, as set out in 
'Assessing Viability in Planning under 
the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019 for England, RICS, 
1st Edition, March 2021'. 

Delete existing para 6.5 and replace with:  

'Definition of Land Value 

To define land value for any viability 
assessment, a benchmark land value 
should be established on the basis of the 
existing use value (EUV) of the land, plus a 
premium for the landowner. The premium 
for the landowner should reflect the 
minimum return at which it is considered a 
reasonable landowner would be willing to 
sell their land. The premium should 
provide a reasonable incentive, in 
comparison with other options available, 
for the landowner to sell land for 
development while allowing a sufficient 
contribution to fully comply with 
Development Plan policy requirements. 
Landowners and site purchasers should 
consider policy requirements when 
agreeing land transactions. This approach 
is often called ‘existing use value plus’ 
(EUV+).' 

Add footnote 7, linked to para 6.4 (March 
2021 RICS guidance). 

67 
Oxfordshire 

County 
Council 

Page 31 

A new section should be added at the end 
of Section 6 ‘Negotiation and 
Administration of Planning Obligations’. 
This new section should be entitled 
‘Bonds’ and refer to how bonds may be 
needed in some circumstances. 
 
 

Agree. New text to explain why bonds 
may be needed in certain 
circumstances would be helpful. 
 
Also recommend that a definition of 
bonds is included in the Glossary. 

Add new para 6.12 to read: 
 
‘Section 106 agreements often require the 
payment of deferred financial 
contributions, which are triggered after the 
implementation of the corresponding 
development. As these financial 
contributions have been identified as 
necessary to allow the development 
proceed, it is reasonable for the Council to 
take steps to secure their delivery in the 
event of unforeseen circumstances 
resulting in the under/non-payment of the 

P
age 79



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

obligations. Consequently, the Council 
may require appropriate security, in the 
form of a bond, to be provided by the 
developer and this requirement will 
initially be identified in the advice from the 
Council following the submission of a 
planning application.’ 

Also add to Glossary: 

‘Bond: A surety document provided by an 
approved third party (e.g. a major bank or 
insurance company) that can be called on 
if the developer defaults.’ 

 

68 

East 
Hendred 
Parish 
Council 

DEV4-7 
Indoor 

and 
Outdoor 
Sports & 
Recreatio

n 

East Hendred PC considers that the 
section related to Sports Facilities, Play 
Areas and MUGAs should be reviewed to 
reflect updated guidance in Tables 1-4 of 
the Fields in Trust's 'Guidance for Outdoor 
Sport & Play - Beyond the Six Acre 
Standard' (2015).  
 
It should also adopt the Fields in Trust 
Policy Framework, outlined on page 4 of 
this document, which places greater 
awareness on the need to promote health 
& well-being within the community, 
especially given the adverse impact of 
Covid on local residents. 

The SPD needs to reflect Development 

Policy 33 and Appendix K of LPP2, 

which set out the Council’s standards 

for play provision. On reflection, we 

consider that inclusion of Table 3 

(Children’s Play and Youth Provision) is 

confusing for developers, as it is based 

on non-statutory ‘Fields in Trust’ 

guidance rather than adopted Plan 

policy. It is, therefore, proposed that we 

remove Table 3 from the SPD and 

replace it with text to explain that play 

area requirements will be dependent on 

existing provision in the area and the 

demands from other development and 

may be in the form of financial 

contributions rather than on-site 

provision. 

Officers will refer to the ‘Fields in Trust’ 

policy framework during preparation of 

the Joint Local Plan for South and Vale. 

 
 

Delete Table 3 and replace with new text at 
the end of para 4.37 to explain that children’s 
play and youth provision will be dependent on 
existing provision in the area and the 
demands from other development and, in 
some cases, may be in the form of financial 
contributions rather than on-site provision.  
 
 

P
age 80



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

69 

East 
Hendred 
Parish 
Council 

Page 16, 
Table 3 

Where, as at East Hendred, a series of 
sites are developed of less than 25 
dwellings, no play facilities are provided at 
all under Table 3 of the draft SPD. Even 
on sites of up to 80 dwellings, only a LAP 
is provided. In Table 3, a MUGA (for 
which there is strong demand in East 
Hendred) would require a development of 
500+ dwellings for a site of 20m x 40m for 
a mixed-use facility. We, therefore, seek a 
review of Table 3, to reflect the 
benchmark guidelines in Table 2 of the 
Fields in Trust guidance (2015). If these 
guidelines had been applied, a number of 
LAPs, a LEAP and contributions towards 
a MUGA could have been sought for the 
Parish. 

It is agreed that there can be situations 
where a series of small sites are being 
developed, but a play area threshold is 
not reached on one site. All major 
development sites will generate S106 
contributions towards on-site play 
provision. However, we agree that 
additional text could usefully be added 
to explain how town/parish councils can 
use CIL receipts towards the 
enhancement of existing play areas in 
certain circumstances, including where 
a series of small sites are being 
developed which, individually, do not 
meet the threshold required to trigger 
developer contributions towards play 
provision.  
 
See above response regarding Table 3 
of the draft SPD. 

Amend paragraph 4.35 as follows: 

‘…Town/parish councils can use their 
proportion of CIL receipts towards the 
enhancement of existing play areas in 
situations where either: there are a 
number of small sites being developed 
where, individually, each site would not 
reach the dwelling threshold required to 
trigger developer contributions towards 
play areas; or where there is no suitable 
local site to locate play facilities. Where a 
site cannot accommodate its on-site play 
requirement, due to exceptional site 
constraints, S106 contributions may be 
sought towards off-site mitigation.’ 

 

P
age 81



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

70 

East 
Hendred 
Parish 
Council 

Appendix 
3 - 

Distance 
Standards 

We seek a review of the distance 
standards in Appendix 3. This requires a 
football, cricket and rugby pitch and 
MUGA of 0.3 hectares (3,000 sq m) per 
1000 population, but only within 15 mins 
drive-time in rural areas. In urban areas it 
is 10 mins walk time. How are school 
children in rural areas expected to be able 
to take a 15 min drive to reach such 
facilities? 
 
Larger Villages such as East Hendred 
with a population of 1,000 residents 
should meet the Guidelines for 6.55 
hectares (16 acres) of formal & informal 
open space per 1,000 population, as set 
out in Table 1 & 3 of the Fields in Trust 
guidance. For example, East Hendred 
should have a MUGA of 0.3 hectare 
(3,000 sq.m) within 700 metres of all 
residents in the village, instead of within a 
15-minute drive-time, as proposed in the 
Draft SPD. 
 
 

The distance standards in Appendix 3 
reflect those in adopted Plan policy (as 
set out in Appendix K of Vale Local 
Plan Part 2) and cannot therefore be 
revised in the SPD.  
 
However, the accessibility standard for 
MUGAs in Appendix 3 of the SPD does 
require amendment to accurately 
reflect Appendix K.  
 

Amend Appendix 3 to state that the distance 
standard for MUGAs is: 
 
‘The whole population within a 1000m walking 
catchment.’ 

71 
Oxfordshire 
NHS CCG 

Page 18, 
DEV9 

The CCG would like to see the 
incorporation of an amount of developer 
contributions expressed as a specific 
figure of £360 per person, in addition to 
there being general statements made that 
'new or increased capacity of health 
facilities will be sought through S106 from 
development on allocated sites exempt 
from CIL'. Cherwell District Council 
Developer Contributions SPD 2018 
(Appendix 15) has a good example. 

Whilst it is acknowledged that Cherwell 
District Council's SPD includes 
calculations of contributions towards 
health and wellbeing at Appendix 15, it 
is not proposed that specific monetary 
calculations for developer contributions 
towards healthcare provision be 
included in the SPD, as this type of 
information can become quickly out of 
date. Instead, text will be added to 
confirm that the Council will continue to 
liaise with the Clinical Commissioning 
Group to obtain their latest financial 
information for calculating contributions 
towards health facilities from specific 
developments. 

Amend para 4.43 to read: 
 
‘…in respect of new facilities funded through 
S106 and will obtain the latest financial 
information from the CCG for calculating 
contributions towards health facilities 
from specific developments.’ 

P
age 82



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

 

72 
Shrivenham 

Parish 
Council 

All 

Shrivenham Parish Council supports the 
proposals within the draft SPD and 
welcomes the proposed liaison with parish 
councils on the provision of community 
facilities. We do, however, require 
clarification within the document that the 
town/parish portion of any CIL contribution 
will not be affected by the proposals in the 
SPD, nor by the ability to pool CIL 
contributions for larger projects.  

Support noted. 
 
The town/parish portion of any CIL 
receipts is not affected by any aspects 
of the Developer Contributions SPD, 
nor by amendments to the CIL 
Regulations in 2019, which removed 
pooling restrictions for S106 obligations 
(i.e. the requirement that no more than 
five S106 obligations could previously 
fund a single infrastructure project).   
 
 

None required. 

73 
Roberts, 
Judy Cllr 

Page 8, 
para 3.3 

This section does not include the County 
Council documents with policies on 
transport and education infrastructure or 
the Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Plan. 
Nor are Didcot Garden Town and the 
Dalton Garden Village mentioned and 
they have policies in place. I think the use 
of blue boxes later in the document could 
be replicated in the section on 
S106/CIL/S278 agreements, to make it 
clearer how they are linked.  

This SPD relates specifically to the 
policies in the Vale Local Plan Parts 1 
& 2 and other district level plans and 
strategies. There are currently no 
separate statutory planning documents 
covering Didcot Garden Town and 
Dalton Garden Village. 
 
Table 1 on page 7 demonstrates the 
links between CIL, S106, S106, S278 
Agreements and planning conditions. 

None required. 

P
age 83



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

74 
Roberts, 
Judy Cllr 

Page 10/ 
DEV 1 

The other types of affordable (sheltered, 
extra care) need to be added. West 
Oxfordshire have custom and self-build 
added. Can we add 'encourage' because 
of the increased statutory information 
required? 

Agree that it would be helpful to add 
text at the end of paragraph 4.5 to 
explain that affordable housing may 
include extra care and specialist 
housing.  

Add the following text to the end of para 4.5:  
'…Affordable housing provision may 
include affordable extra care and 
specialist housing for vulnerable groups 
(such as the elderly with care needs and 
people with physical and learning 
disabilities or complex autism). The 
Council will work with Oxfordshire County 
Council and developers to secure and 
deliver this provision, in accordance with 
local needs.' 

75 
Roberts, 
Judy Cllr 

Page 12/ 
DEV 3 

Can we specify the core policy contents, 
especially the public transport and active 
travel (CP33 and CP35). NPPF also 
requires cycle paths to link into cycle 
routes up to 5 km from site access. 

Policies CP33 and CP35 are high level 
policies promoting public transport, 
cycling and walking, rather than 
offering specific detail on S106 
requirements.  
 
Add 'and cycle' after 'pedestrian' in 
paragraph 4.21.  
 
 

Amend para 4.21 to read: '…Traffic 
Regulation Orders; traffic lights; pedestrian 
and cycle crossings; signage; public 
transport infrastructure on or adjacent to the 
site…' 

76 
Roberts, 
Judy Cllr 

Page 23/ 
DEV16 

Need to add the active travel policies 
CP33 and CP35, as they both have a 
positive impact on air quality. 

Agree. Adding reference to policies 
CP33 and CP35 in DEV16 would be 
helpful. 
 
 

Add CP33 and CP35 to the list of relevant 
Local Plan policies in DEV16  

77 
Roberts, 
Judy Cllr 

All 

There is very little information on the 
detail of how the calculations are made. 
Mendip have a secondary document, a 
Developers Guide to 106 and CIL 
contributions but Burnley put the 
calculations within their SPD. This 
information could be an appendix but by 
whatever system is preferred, having this 
information in the public domain would be 
more transparent and probably provide a 
more uniform officer response when these 
negotiations take place.  
 

Agree that it would be useful to have 
further information/guidance on 
affordable housing calculations, 
including part/fractional and off-site 
provision. However, it is proposed that 
this is included in the forthcoming Joint 
Affordable Housing SPD, to be 
produced by the two councils. In the 
main, on-site provision is required and 
CIL will fund off-site provision.  

New paragraph 4.9 to read as follows: 

'The Council will provide further guidance 
on the calculation of contributions 
towards affordable housing provision, 
within a forthcoming Joint Affordable 
Housing SPD.' 

P
age 84



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

78 
Wantage 

Town 
Council 

DEV10 
Fire & 

Rescue 

In some cases S106 and CIL may apply 
to a development and currently the 
wording of DEV10 could preclude one 
method from being discarded. Suggest 
that it is reworded as 'Improvements to 
the fire and rescue services can be 
funded through S106 and/or CIL.' 

 

Agree. Suggested amendment to 
DEV10 would be helpful. 

Amend DEV10 to read: 'Improvements to the 
fire and rescue services can be funded 
through S106 and/or CIL.' 

79 
Wantage 

Town 
Council 

Appendix 
3 

Needs to be a definition in Glossary of 
'Drive Time' as it varies throughout the 
day dependent on roads taken.  
 
In order to measure/monitor the metrics 
(shown as Standards in the Appendix), it 
would be advantageous to provide current 
implementation of these standards and 
show the short-fall in order to identify 
priority for implementation.  
 
For instance, indoor bowls 0.08 rinks per 
1,000 population, but 15 minute driving 
time for whole population.  Does this 
equate to only within Vale of White Horse 
District or utilise surrounding districts/city 
areas?  

Drive times, as set out in Appendix 3, 
are based on the findings of the Vale of 
White Horse Leisure and Sports 
Facilities Study 2013-2031 (prepared 
for the Council by Nortoft Partnerships). 
The study itself used Sport England's 
'Active Places Power' tool to produce 
maps which indicated the approximate 
travel times by car to a range of 
facilities, taking account of facilities in 
adjoining authorities. Maps were 
produced for facility types other than 
sports halls, swimming pools and 
artificial grass pitches (as accessibility 
of these was better assessed using 
Sport England's Facilities Planning 
Model). Sport England research 
identified that the maximum travel time 
to most built facilities was about 20 
minutes, usually either on foot or by 
car. This criterion was therefore used in 
the consultant's report as the basis for 
determining whether facilities were 
sufficiently accessible. 
 
Future reviews of sports and leisure 
needs will need to consider current 
provision and shortfalls.  
 

None required. 

P
age 85



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

80 
Thames 
Water 

Para 4.76 

Thames Water supports the inclusion of 
text on waste water and utilities. However, 
para 4.76 requires amendment to reflect 
Thames Water's position. 

Agree with Thames Water's proposed 
amendments to para 4.76. 

Amend 4.76 to read '…To ensure timely 
housing delivery, developers will be expected 
to engage with the water authority to agree 
a housing and infrastructure delivery plan 
to ensure that development does not 
outpace the delivery of off-site 
infrastructure. to contribute towards the 
payment of interest, to enable Thames Water 
to take loans and bring forward the provision 
of waste water treatment infrastructure ahead 
of schedule. Any such agreements should be 
made directly between the developer and 
Thames Water.' 

81 
Thames 
Water 

Para 4.77 

Thames Water supports the need for 
developers to engage in pre-application 
discussions on utilities. Para 4.77 could 
be strengthened, which requires 
developers to liaise with Thames Water at 
an early stage of development through 
their pre-planning service. 

Agree with Thames Water's proposed 
amendments to para 4.77. 

Amend 4.77 to read: 'Developers need to 
consider the net increase in water and 
waste water demand to serve their 
developments and also any impact the 
development may have off-site or further 
down the network, if no/low water 
pressure and internal/external sewage 
flooding of property is to be avoided. 
Thames -Water encourages developers to 
use their free pre-planning service 
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/preplanning. This 
service can tell developers at an early 
stage if there will be capacity in Thames 
Water and/or waste water networks to 
serve their development, or what they will 
do if there is not. The developer can then 
submit this communication as evidence to 
support a planning application and 
Thames Water can prepare to serve the 
new development at the point of need, 
helping avoid delays to housing delivery 
programmes.' 

82 

South 
Oxfordshire 

District 
Council 

All 

South Oxfordshire District Council 
supports the revised SPD, which sets out 
clear guidance on when S106 agreements 
will be sought to fund infrastructure. 
 
 

Support noted. None required. 

P
age 86



ID Respondent 

Section, 
Para or 

DEV 
reference 

Summary Officer Response Amendments 

83 

Vale of 
White Horse 
DC Housing 

Team 

Page 10, 
para 4.7 

Suggest para 4.7 is rewritten as follows: 
'The affordable housing provided 
should be distributed evenly across 
the site, and depending on the size and 
tenure of dwellings this should be in 
clusters of: i) around 4 dwellings in the 
case of schemes of 30 dwellings and 
less and ii) up to eight dwellings for 
blocks of flats and schemes over 30 
dwellings, except for strategic sites 
where up to 14 dwelling houses may 
be acceptable. Affordable dwellings 
located adjacent to each other, but 
located in a separate perimeter block, 
will be considered to comprise the 
same cluster.' 
 
 

Agree, suggested wording is helpful. Para 4.7 to read: 'The affordable housing 
provided should be distributed evenly 
across the site and, depending on the size 
and tenure of dwellings this should be in 
clusters of: i) around 4 dwellings in the 
case of schemes of 30 dwellings and less; 
and ii) up to eight dwellings for blocks of 
flats and schemes over 30 dwellings, 
except for strategic sites where up to 14 
dwellings may be acceptable. Affordable 
dwellings located adjacent to each other, but 
located in a separate perimeter block, will be 
considered to comprise the same cluster.' 

84 
Thames 
Valley 
Police 

Page 18, 
DEV10 

Thames Valley Police wish to be included 
as an acknowledged potential recipient of 
S106/CIL monies in the same way as our 
Blue Light Partners, the Fire Service. 
Growth in households and population 
places an additional demand on police 
resources. Without developer 
contributions, TVP has to deal with this 
additional demand from its existing 
(limited) resources, which impacts new 
and existing communities. Paras 8, 26 32 
and 92 of the NPPF support this request 
and Para 20 specifically states that 
policies should deliver development that 
makes sufficient provision for security 
infrastructure.  

Agree. Add reference to the Police in 
DEV10 and para 4.44. 

Expand para 4.44 to read: 
 
'....Growth in households and population 
also places an additional demand on 
police resources. The NPPF confirms that 
sustainable development includes 
securing a safe environment through the 
delivery of social infrastructure needed by 
communities, with paragraph 20 making 
explicit reference to the need for policies 
to deliver development that makes 
sufficient provision for security 
infrastructure.'  
 
Also add 'Police' to the title and text of 
DEV10. 

 

 

P
age 87



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

1 

Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document  

Delivering Infrastructure to Support Development 

 

  Page 

 Executive Summary  

1. Introduction  

 Purpose of this document  

 Developer Contributions  

 Community Infrastructure Levy  

 S106 Planning Obligations  

 Section 278 Agreements  

 Planning Conditions  

2. Relationship between CIL, S106 Planning 

Obligations, S278 Agreements and Planning 

Conditions  

 

3. Policy Framework  

4. Developer Contributions  

 Affordable housing  

 Education  

 Transport  

 Recreation and Leisure:  

  Outdoor Sports & Recreation  

  Open Space  

  Play Areas  

  Allotments  

  Social & Community Facilities  

 Essential Services:  

  Health Care  

  Fire & Rescue and Police  

  Cemeteries  

 Placemaking and Public Realm  

 Employment, Skills and Training 

 

 

Page 88



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

2 

 Environmental Impacts:  

  Climate Change Mitigation  

  Biodiversity & Green Infrastructure  

  Waste & Recycling  

  Air Quality  

  Flood Protection & Water Management  

  Waste Water  

 Utilities  

 Street Naming  

5. Management and Maintenance of On-Site 

Infrastructure 

 

 Open Space  

 Buildings  

 Public Art  

 Equipped Play Areas  

 Pitches  

6 Self Build and Custom Build   

7. Negotiation and Administration of Planning 

Obligations 

 

 Approach to negotiating planning obligations  

 Viability and deliverability  

 Definition of land value  

 Legal, administration and monitoring  

 Interest on late payment and enforcement  

 Indexation  

 Bonds  

 Appendices  

 Appendix 1 – Summary table of relevant Local Plan policies  

 Appendix 2 – Approach to negotiating planning obligations  

 Appendix 3 – Standards for indoor and outdoor sport  

 Appendix 4 – Specifications for children’s play provision  

 Glossary  

 

Page 89



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

3 

Executive Summary 

New development plays an important role in creating new homes and jobs in our 
communities. However, new development can have a significant impact on the 
capacity of local infrastructure such as schools and health facilities and can put 
additional pressure on local green space and other important community facilities. 

There are a number of ways in which councils can seek developer contributions 
towards the provision of necessary infrastructure to support new development and 
mitigate impact on the local community.  

This Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) provides guidance on planning 
obligations under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended), which are more commonly known as S106 Agreements and are a 
mechanism used by councils to mitigate the direct impacts of a particular development.  

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is another important mechanism which 
councils can use to raise funds from certain new developments towards the provision 
of infrastructure throughout the district. However, for some sites (such as strategic 
sites allocated in the Local Plan), which do not make a contribution through CIL, S106 
will be the primary mechanism for securing developer contributions towards 
infrastructure provision.  

In addition to CIL and S106 developer contributions, Oxfordshire County Council can 
use S278 of the Highways Act to seek contributions from developers for improvements 
or changes to public roads.  

There are different purposes and legislative rules for each of the developer 
contributions mechanisms (CIL, S106 and S278). This document gives guidance as 
to when S106 contributions will be sought, ensuring the provision of sustainable 
development in line with the policies of the Development Plan and other relevant 
considerations. 

 

Page 90



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

4 

1. INTRODUCTION 

Purpose of this document 

1.1 Supplementary Planning Documents (or SPDs) are documents which add 

further detail to the policies in a Local Plan. They can be used to provide further 

guidance for development on specific sites or on particular issues, such as 

design or developer contributions. SPDs are capable of being a material 

consideration in planning decisions but are not part of the development plan. 

The requirements for producing Supplementary Planning Documents are set 

out in Regulations 11 to 16 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 

(England) Regulations 2012. Whilst SPDs relate specifically to adopted Local 

Plan policies, in instances where more recent national planning policy or targets 

have been published, it is those national policies or targets that will take 

precedence. 

1.2 This Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is relevant to all development 

proposals (including residential, employment and retail) and its purpose is to: 

 outline the differences between each of the mechanisms for securing 
developer contributions and to explain the relevant legislative and planning 
policy context within which contributions are sought; 
 

 identify which contributions mechanisms will be used in which 
circumstances; and 
  

 explain what is expected of applicants and what the applicant can expect 
from the Council in relation to securing infrastructure through S106 planning 
agreements. 

 

1.3 This SPD sets out the Council’s specific S106 requirements by type. For ease of 
reference, in Section 4 of the document each type of infrastructure is given a 
unique reference number (DEV1, DEV2 etc) and the specific requirements are 
highlighted in boxes, alongside a cross reference to relevant Local Plan policies. 
In instances where allocated sites are mentioned, these could be sites in either 
the Local Plan or any made neighbourhood plan. Additional commentary on the 
rationale behind certain requirements is also provided. 

1.4 This SPD takes effect from the date of adoption by the Council. 

Developer Contributions 

1.5 We secure developer contributions, both financial and non-financial, from 
development to mitigate the negative impacts of development, address 
infrastructure needs, contribute towards placemaking and meet Local Plan policy 
requirements.  

1.6 There are three main mechanisms used to secure infrastructure funding and 
provision from developers:  

Page 91

https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Supplementary_planning_document
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Regulations
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Town_and_Country_Planning_(Local_Planning)_(England)_Regulations_2012
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Town_and_Country_Planning_(Local_Planning)_(England)_Regulations_2012


Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

5 

 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 Planning obligations under Section106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 (as amended); and 

 Agreements made with the County Council under Section 278 of the 

Highways Act.   

1.7 In some circumstances, planning conditions attached to planning permissions 
may also be used to secure non-financial mitigation, to define timing or apply 
standards. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

1.8 CIL is charged on certain new development in the district, in accordance with the 
Council’s CIL Charging Schedule and the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended). 
The monies received from CIL are pooled together to help fund infrastructure to 
support development in the district. CIL has been set at a level that does not 
threaten the viability and delivery of development identified in the Vale of White 
Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1 (LPP1) and Part 2 (LPP2).  

1.9 The Council publishes a CIL Spending Strategy, setting out how the spending of 
CIL funds will be prioritised and administered. In accordance with the CIL 
Regulations, a proportion of the CIL monies is passed to the local town or parish 
council. The District Council is required to spend CIL on infrastructure and the 
Council’s adopted CIL Spending Strategy allocates funds to stakeholders such 
as Oxfordshire County Council and the Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group. The Spending Strategy is regularly reviewed.  

1.10 There are several exemptions and reliefs to CIL that applicants can apply for to 
reduce or remove the amount of CIL payable. The Vale of White Horse CIL 
Charging Schedule and supporting documents can be found on the Council’s 
website  here . 

Section 106 Planning Obligations 

1.11 S106 agreements are used to secure the infrastructure required to mitigate the 
direct impact of a particular development and/or to meet specific planning policy 
requirements. Developer contributions via S106 can be: financial contributions; 
affordable housing provision; the provision of land or restriction on the use of 
land; or the direct delivery of facilities. 

1.12 As set out in CIL Regulation 122, S106 obligations should only be used to secure 
infrastructure where: 

 necessary to make a development acceptable in planning terms 

 directly related to a development 

 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development 

 

Page 92

https://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/vale-of-white-horse-district-council/community-support/infrastructure-to-support-communities-2/community-infrastructure-levy-or-cil-header-page/community-infrastructure-levy-cil-payments-and-procedures/cil-charging-schedule/


Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

6 

1.13 As set out in Government’s Planning Practice Guidance, tariff-style S106 
contributions cannot be sought from small-scale, self-build or starter homes 
developments. 

1.14 A planning obligation is usually an agreement between interested parties, (e.g. a 
developer, landowner, the District Council and the County Council). However, it 
can also be in the form of a unilateral undertaking (where the developer makes 
an unconditional promise) that is offered to the District Council to make an 
application acceptable in planning terms.  

Section 278 Agreements 

1.15 A legally binding agreement made under S278 of the Highway Act 1980 between 
the developer and the County Council (as Highway Authority) to fund, or 
undertake, alterations or improvements to the public highway, where the County 
Council considers the agreement is of benefit to the public.  

Planning Conditions 

1.16 In addition to developer contributions, planning conditions attached to a planning 
permission may set out details or required standards/timeframes for works which 
must be carried out at set stages. Failure to comply with planning conditions can 
make a development unlawful and un-implementable in its original form. 
Planning conditions cannot require the payment of money or the transfer of land 
ownership and these matters should be covered in a S106 or S278 agreement. 

2. RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN CIL, S106 PLANNING OBLIGATIONS, S278 
AGREEMENTS AND PLANNING CONDITIONS 

2.1 Table 1 below summarises the relationship between the three key developer 
contributions mechanisms (CIL, S106 and S278) and planning conditions. 

Table 1: Interaction between CIL, Section 106, Section 278 Agreements and 
planning conditions 

Mechanism Purpose  Use 

Community 
Infrastructure 
Levy  

A financial payment which can be 
used for any infrastructure needed 
to support the development of the 
district. 

District-wide and local 
infrastructure. 

Section 106 
planning 
obligation 

Can secure on-site infrastructure 
and contributions towards off-site 
infrastructure required to make 
development acceptable in 
planning terms. 

To secure planning policy 
requirements (e.g. 
affordable housing).  

To address/mitigate direct 
impacts of development, 
including the provision of 
infrastructure. 

Page 93



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

7 

Section 278 
Agreements 

Allows developers to fund 
alterations and improvements to 
the public highway in the public 
interest. 

Highway improvements and 
alterations to address the 
impact of new development 
on the network. 

Planning 
condition 

To mitigate the potential adverse 
effects of the proposed 
development and ensure 
compliance with development plan 
policy. To enable development 
proposals to proceed where it 
would otherwise be necessary to 
refuse planning permission.  

To make the development 
acceptable (where the 
requirement does not 
involve the payment of 
money or the transfer of 
land ownership).  

 

3. POLICY FRAMEWORK  

3.1 Nationally, policies relating to developer contributions are set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF), with additional guidance provided in 
Government’s Planning Practice Guidance.  

3.2 All development proposals should be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise1. The 
development plan comprises the Local Plan, made neighbourhood plans and the 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan. It will also include the Joint Local Plan and the 
Oxfordshire Plan 2050, which are currently in preparation. In summary, at a local 
level, development proposals must be considered in line with the following: 

 Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1 (LPP1) 

 Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2 (LPP2) 

 Any made (adopted) Neighbourhood Plan covering the area in which the 
development is proposed 

 Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan Part 1 Core Strategy and saved 
policies from the Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 1996 

 Oxfordshire Plan 2050 (currently in preparation) 

 Joint South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse Local Plan (currently in 
preparation) 

 Any relevant Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) 
 
3.3 This SPD supports the delivery of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Parts 

1 and 2 and is an important material planning consideration in the decision-
making process of planning applications. The main development plan policy that 
this document seeks to support is LPP1 Core Policy 7: Providing Supporting 
Infrastructure and Services, which reads as follows: 

‘All new development will be required to provide for the necessary on-site 

and, where appropriate, off-site infrastructure requirements arising from 

                                                      
1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

Page 94



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

8 

the proposal. Infrastructure requirements will be delivered directly by the 

developer and/or through an appropriate financial contribution prior to, or 

in conjunction with, new development. Where appropriate, developers 

will be expected to collaborate on the provision of infrastructure which is 

needed to serve more than one site. In ensuring the timely delivery of 

infrastructure requirements, development proposals must demonstrate 

that full regard has been paid to the Infrastructure Delivery Plan and all 

other relevant policies of this plan.   

If infrastructure requirements could render the development unviable, 

proposals for major development should be supported by an independent 

viability assessment on terms agreed by the relevant parties including the 

Council and County Council and funded by the developer. This will 

involve an open book approach. Where viability constraints are 

demonstrated by evidence, the Council will:   

i. prioritise developer contributions for essential and then other 

infrastructure in line with the definitions as set out in paragraph 4.42 and 

the detail of requirements outlined in the IDP, and/or 

ii. use an appropriate mechanism to defer part of the developer 

contributions requirement to a later date, or  

iii. as a last resort, refuse planning permission if the development would 

be unsustainable without inclusion of the unfunded infrastructure 

requirements taking into account reasonable contributions from 

elsewhere including CIL. 

The Council’s Delivering Infrastructure Strategy will include both a CIL 

Charging Schedule and a Supplementary Planning Document for Section 

106 and Section 278 legal agreements that will provide more detail about 

its approach to securing developer contributions. 

Upon adoption of the CIL Charging Schedule, CIL will be used to pool 

developer contributions towards a wide range of new and improved 

infrastructure necessary to deliver new development. 

Where not covered by the CIL Charging Schedule, infrastructure and 

services, including provision for their maintenance, should be delivered 

directly by the developer through the development management process 

and in accordance with the Regulation 122 Tests*. 

Infrastructure and services will be sought through the negotiation of 

planning obligations, conditions, levy, undertaking and/or other 

agreement as secured through the planning permission, to mitigate the 

direct impacts of development and secure its implementation.’ 

Page 95



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

9 

3.4 A summary table of other relevant Local Plan policies is set out in Appendix 1. 

4. DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS  

4.1 The overarching LPP1 core policies relating to the provision of affordable 
housing and infrastructure are CP4, CP7, CP24, CP37, and CP38. LPP2 then 
includes additional site and sub-area strategy policies, as well as detailed 
development policies. In order to achieve sustainable development and deliver 
high quality places, development proposals need to be consistent with all 
relevant Local Plan policies, as well as contributing towards identified 
infrastructure requirements. 

4.2 It is essential that all infrastructure requirements are factored into the cost of a 
potential development when negotiating to buy or take an option on a site. 
Infrastructure provision must be considered an integral part of any development 
proposal and planning application submission. Developers should read the 
Council’s most recent Infrastructure Delivery Plans for help in identifying the 
likely infrastructure requirements.  Further information (for example, on the costs 
of delivery of different infrastructure types and the associated financial 
contributions that will be sought from development) is available on the District 
Council’s website. This information is updated annually to take account of 
indexation and inflation. 

4.3 It is good practice to involve town and parish councils, local community and 
access groups and District ward councillors at an early stage in discussions over 
infrastructure provision, prior to drawing up Section 106 agreements. This is 
particularly true where they may have detailed knowledge of local infrastructure 
needs and costs. 

Affordable Housing 

4.4 The NPPF advises that, where there is an objectively assessed need for 
affordable housing in a market area, local planning authorities (LPAs) should set 
policies to meet this need. It refers to the size, type, tenure and range of housing 
that should reflect local demand.  

DEV1 Affordable Housing 

Residential 

For all sites providing a net gain of 10 or more dwellings, 35% of the total 

number of dwellings will be secured as affordable housing through a S106 

obligation. 

Relevant Local Plan policies include: LPP1 - CP24 & CP25. Also Footnote 

23b of LPP2. 

 

4.5 Core Policy 24 of the LPP1 states that 35% affordable housing will be sought, 
with a tenure mix of 75% affordable rented and 25% intermediate housing, on 

Page 96



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

10 

sites of eleven or more dwellings. However, in line with updated NPPF policy, 
the Council is now seeking affordable housing on sites of ten or more dwellings 
(this position was recognised in footnote 23b to LPP2). Affordable housing 
provision may include affordable extra care and specialist housing for vulnerable 
groups (such as the elderly with care needs and people with physical and 
learning disabilities or complex autism). The Council will work with Oxfordshire 
County Council and developers to secure and deliver this provision, in 
accordance with local need.  

4.6 Government’s First Homes scheme comes into force on 28 June 2021 and, from 
this date, national policy will require at least 25% of all affordable homes 
delivered by developers under Section 106 agreements to be First Homes. 
Government guidance on aspects of the scheme (including a First Homes 
definition, eligibility criteria, transitional arrangements and guidance on how 
developer contributions can be secured for First Homes) can be found at 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/first-homes. 

4.7 LPP1 Core Policy 24 advises that planning permission will be refused for 
development proposals where it appears that a larger site has been sub-divided 
into smaller development parcels in order to avoid the requirements of the 
affordable housing policy. On occasions where it is not apparent that this is the 
case as part of the initial scheme, any subsequent application for more 
development on the same land or adjoining land will be treated as an application 
for planning permission for the wider development and the affordable housing 
requirement will be applied to the combined sites. 

4.8 Core Policy 25 covers rural exception sites and is aimed at providing homes for 
local people who are unable to rent or buy property on the open market in rural 
locations. Affordable housing schemes will be permitted on such sites, that would 
not otherwise be acceptable for housing development, provided the scheme 
would satisfy a series of detailed criteria. This includes meeting a clearly 
established local need identified through a robust housing needs assessment. 

4.9 Affordable housing should be distributed evenly across a site and, depending on 
the size and tenure of the dwellings, this should be in clusters of: (i) around 4 
dwellings in the case of schemes of 30 dwellings and less; and (ii) up to 8 
dwellings for blocks of flats and schemes over 30 dwellings, except for strategic 
sites where up to 14 dwellings may be acceptable. Affordable dwellings located 
adjacent to each other, but located in a separate perimeter block, will be 
considered to comprise the same cluster.  

4.10 Affordable housing should be indistinguishable from market housing. Car parking 
provision, layout, location, landscaping and external features should be 
comparable in design to market units. Where apartment blocks are proposed for 
affordable housing, this should also be reflected in the market provision. 

4.11 Affordable housing should be provided on-site unless there is robust justification 
for off-site contributions as set out in CP24. Where there is a fractional 
requirement for affordable housing (e.g. 4.5 dwellings), the fractional portion (i.e. 
the 0.5 in this example) will be secured as an off-site contribution. The Council 

Page 97

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/first-homes


Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

11 

will provide further guidance on the calculation of off-site contributions towards 
affordable housing provision, within a forthcoming Joint Affordable Housing SPD. 

Education  

4.12 As set out in the NPPF, the Government attaches great importance to ensuring 
that a sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the needs of existing 
and new communities. Education provision includes nursery, pre-school, 
primary, secondary, sixth form and special needs education.  

4.13 The County Council publishes a Pupil Place Plan2 which sets out how it expects 
school provision to change over the next few years and explains the issues that 
the County Council will face in meeting its statutory duties for providing nursery 
and school places, including those due to new housing.   

DEV2 Education 

Residential: 

Provision or extension of educational facilities relating to particular sites will 

generally be secured through S106. 

Contributions towards land for educational facilities will be secured through 

S106. 

 

4.14 Where a site is due to make an education contribution through S106, a 
calculation of expected pupil numbers will be made by the County Council so that 
S106 contributions towards nursery, primary, secondary (including sixth form) 
and special educational needs can be sought. 

4.15 Contributions towards educational infrastructure will be calculated by assessing 
the number of pupils, of the appropriate age, arising from the net increase in 
dwellings and the cost of providing the infrastructure required to meet the needs 
of the pupils generated. Developers may also be required to fund temporary 
accommodation to provide for pupils generated from development prior to the 
opening of any new permanent school classrooms, if the timing of development 
is such as to make this necessary. 

4.16 The requirement for new provision for planned development has been set out in 
the Council’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan. It will be important to identify the 
proposed school site at the master planning stage and ensure that it is of a size 
sufficient to meet the needs arising from the development and allow for 
expansion of future needs. 

4.17 Where land is required for educational facilities, detailed discussions and 
sufficient evidence, including appropriate surveys, will be required in order to 

                                                      
2 Planning enough school places | Oxfordshire County Council 

Page 98

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/schools/our-work-schools/planning-enough-school-places


Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

12 

ensure it is suitable for educational use and to agree the actual boundaries of the 
site allocated, including the location of accesses and services. Land will need to 
be provided fully serviced and remediated and there may be additional payments 
to cover any abnormal costs associated with the build.  Further land may be 
required where it is necessary to provide for future expansion of the school. 
Triggers on the transfer of land and payment of contributions will be secured in 
the S106 agreement. 

4.18 In circumstances where it is not possible to provide school places within a 
reasonable walking distance, an additional contribution towards the cost of 
providing transport for children to school may be required and secured through 
a S106 planning obligation. The contribution would reflect the cost of providing 
the transport for a defined period of time. 

4.19 For the strategic allocations identified in LPP1 and LPP2, which are exempt from 
CIL, education provision (both land and funds) will be secured through S106. 
With other developments, financial contributions collected through CIL could also 
be used to fund education facilities.   

Transport 

4.20 Section 9 of the NPPF requires the planning system to promote sustainable 
transport. The provision of viable transport infrastructure, necessary to support 
sustainable development in the district, also makes an important contribution 
towards Government’s wider sustainability and health objectives. 

4.21 New development in the district will place additional pressure on local transport 
and highway networks, including public transport infrastructure, bus services and 
pedestrian and cycle routes. Core Policy 7 of LPP1 states that new development 
must be served and supported by appropriate on and off-site infrastructure and 
services. Core Policy 35 also states that new developments, which generate 
significant amounts of movement, must be supported by a transport assessment 
and travel plan where appropriate.  

4.22 Development Policy DP16 (Access) in LPP2 includes requirements for 
acceptable off-site improvements to the highway infrastructure (including traffic 
management measures), cycleways, public rights of way and the public transport 
network. 

DEV3 Transport 

All development 

Direct mitigation of individual site transport impacts (including roads, 

cycleways, footpaths, public rights of way, public transport and the monitoring 

of travel plans) will be secured through S106.  Infrastructure may need to be 

delivered through the developer entering into a S278 agreement with the 

County Council. 

Page 99



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

13 

Contributions towards strategic transport infrastructure projects will be 

secured where necessary in accordance with the Local Plan and the 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

Grampian condition(s) may be necessary where off-site measures are 

required to enable development to come forward. 

Relevant Local Plan policies include: LPP1 - CP12, CP17, CP21, CP33, 

CP35, CP37 and LPP2 - CP12a, CP18a, DP16, DP17 

 

4.23 New development proposals will be required to provide for appropriate specific 
works and improvements, both on-site and off-site, to mitigate the direct impact 
of the development scheme on the transport network, including highways, buses 
and the rail network. It will be important to identify these at the earliest 
opportunity, in liaison with the County Council, to ensure that the transport 
proposals adequately meet the needs arising from the development. Discussions 
with Network Rail, Highways England and bus operators in the area may also be 
necessary. 

4.24 Site-related transport works required as direct mitigation will have been identified 
in a Transport Assessment and may include: works to footways/cycle ways 
including public rights-of-way; raised kerbs; new junctions; access roads to and 
within the site; link roads; Traffic Regulation Orders; traffic lights; pedestrian and 
cycle crossings; signage; public transport infrastructure on or adjacent to the site; 
lighting and street furniture. 

4.25 S278 Agreements are made between the developer and the County Council as 
Highway Authority, and will generally refer to: 

 the relevant planning permission and authorisation under which the works are 
to be carried out; 

 schedule and drawings detailing the works; 

 the full costs of the works and costs of managing the agreement to be paid 
by the developer; 

 location and amount of land being conveyed to the Highways Authority 
(County Council); 

 details of bonds/surety; 

 who will design, manage and undertake the works; and 

 details of any commuted sum for future maintenance. 

4.26 In addition to the provision of infrastructure improvements, Travel Plans can form 
an important part of a planning application proposal with the aim of reducing car 
usage and increasing the use of public transport, walking and cycling, in support 
of the Council’s sustainable transport objectives (SO8 and SO9 in the Local Plan 
Part 1). Travel Plans will normally be sought via a planning condition, with 
contributions towards monitoring of the Travel Plan secured through S106.  

 

Page 100



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

14 

 

 

Recreation and Leisure 

Outdoor Sports and Recreation 

4.27 The NPPF recognises the contribution that access to sport and recreation 
facilities can make in promoting the health and well-being of communities.    

4.28 LPP2 Development Policy DP34 requires new housing developments to provide 
or contribute towards indoor and outdoor leisure facilities in accordance with the 
standards set out at Appendix K of the Local Plan.  

DEV4 Indoor and Outdoor Sports and Recreation 

Residential  

On-site provision of sports and recreation facilities will be secured through 

S106.  

The provision and enhancement of off-site sports and recreation facilities will 

be funded through S106 or CIL. 

Relevant Local Plan policies include: LPP1 - CP37 and LPP2 - DP32, DP34, 

Appendix K 

 

4.29 Further information on the standards the Council will use as a basis for 
calculating the levels of contribution sought is set out in Appendix K of the Local 
Plan Part 2 (and reproduced at Appendix 3 to this document). The Council will 
liaise with the relevant sporting representative body and town or parish council 
and local councillors to establish the most appropriate form of provision, taking 
account of the location, scale and form of the proposed development.  

4.30 On allocated sites, especially where several are in close proximity, the Council 
will seek to cluster the on-site provision of sports facilities, for example by 
devoting all the outdoor sport provision on a particular site towards a single 
sport. This will enable the provision of sporting facilities that will attract, and can 
sustainably be used by, local clubs, with resultant benefits in long term 
management and maintenance. It will also enable the provision of more 
specialist sports facilities within the district. 

4.31 Where development generates a need for on-site provision that cannot be met 
on-site, for instance due to exceptional site constraints, or the Council prefers 
off-site mitigation to meet a required need, as identified above, off-site 
mitigation in the form of S106 contributions will be sought. If, in exceptional 
circumstances, the loss of a sport or recreation facility becomes necessary, 
substitute provision will be secured through S106 agreement.   

Page 101



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

15 

4.32 The quality and design of sports facilities should reflect current best practice, 
including design guidance from Sport England and the national governing body. 

Open Space 

4.33 LPP2 Development Policy DP33 requires developers to provide safe, attractive 
and publicly accessible public open space, in accordance with the requirements 
set out in Appendix K of LPP2 (see Appendix 3 of this SPD).  

DEV5 Open Space 

Residential 

On-site provision and management of open space and landscaping, amenity 

space and green space will be secured through S106 or conditions.   

Where off-site mitigation is required the enhancement of open space and 

landscaping, and green space will be secured through S106. 

Where open space is to be transferred to the District Council, town or parish 

council or other management body, a commuted sum for sufficient funds for 

ongoing maintenance is required.  

Relevant Local Plan policy: LPP2 - DP33 

 

4.34 The need for open space and informal amenity areas will be assessed on a site 
by site basis, taking into account: features of the site; the nature of the 
development; and the accessibility of other provision within the locality. In 
accordance with Development Policy DP33, we will require a minimum 
provision of 15% of the residential area to be laid out as public open space, 
additional to space for play, youth provision, allotments biodiversity and 
mitigation works. 

4.35 Open space is an integral part of creating sustainable places and should be 
provided as an amenity within a development to promote healthy living, informal 
areas of play and to create a sustainable, accessible, distinctive and attractive 
development. All open space should, therefore, be usable, have a purpose and 
be of a size, location and form appropriate for the intended use, avoiding space 
left over after planning (SLOAP) requirements or pushing open space to the 
periphery of development. It should be located outside areas liable to flood and 
should not comprise road verges or noise embankments. Where possible, open 
space should not be located where users would be subject to unacceptable 
noise levels. 

4.36 Section 5 of this SPD covers requirements for future management and 
maintenance of open space and other community infrastructure. 

Play Areas 

Page 102



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

16 

4.37 Play space for children is vital to their health and development. Consideration 
must also be given to the need to provide young teenagers with areas to 
assemble and play, as well as to the provision of play equipment for children 
with disabilities. 

4.38 Development Policy DP33 endorses the Fields in Trust (formerly the National 
Playing Fields Association) standards for children’s play and youth provision. 

DEV6 Play Areas 

Residential  

On-site delivery of play space is required on major development sites and 

secured through S106. 

Relevant Local Plan policies include: LPP2 - DP33 & Appendix K 

 

4.39 The District Council will liaise with town/parish councils and local councillors to 
establish the most appropriate form of provision, taking account of the location, 
scale and form of the proposed development. Provision should be made taking 
into account any existing play facilities within the local area, in order to avoid 
duplicating existing play equipment. Town/parish councils can use their 
proportion of CIL receipts towards the enhancement of existing play areas in 
situations where either: there are a number of small sites being developed 
where, individually, each site would not reach the dwelling threshold required 
to trigger developer contributions towards play areas; or where there is no 
suitable local site to locate play facilities. Where a site cannot accommodate its 
on-site play requirement, due to exceptional site constraints, S106 contributions 
may be sought towards off-site provision.    

4.40 On sites where provision is to be made for young people, developers should 
work with the District Council and town or parish councils to carry out 
consultation with young people in the local area to identify their needs and seek 
their input into the design of facilities. 

4.41 The Council endorses the general design principles set out in ‘Planning and 
Design for Outdoor Sport and Play’ (NPFA, Fields in Trust) and further 
specifications for children’s play provision are set out in Appendix 4. Children’s 
play and youth provision will be dependent on existing provision in the area and 
the demands from other development and, in some cases, may be in the form 
of financial contributions rather than on-site provision. 

Allotments 

4.42 Development Policy 33 requires the provision of allotments in accordance with 
the standards set out in Appendix K of LPP2. Allotments are valuable 
community spaces that provide people with the opportunity to enjoy an active 
and healthy lifestyle. The Council seeks the provision of 0.4ha of allotments per 
1000 population and 0.23 ha per 1,000 population in the Market Towns (in line 

Page 103



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

17 

with recommendations in the Joint Recreational Space, Local Leisure Facilities 
and Playing Pitch Strategy, which formed part of the LPP2 evidence base). The 
Council will liaise with the town and parish councils regarding provision and 
management of allotments, which will usually be offered to town and parish 
councils.  

DEV7 Allotments 

Residential  

Provision of on-site allotments will be provided on allocated sites where 

required and on other greenfield sites over 400 dwellings, to be secured 

through S106. Elsewhere, allotments will be sought in accordance with the 

standards where a local need is identified. 

Relevant Local Plan policies include: LPP2 - DP33 & Appendix K 

Social and Community Facilities 

4.43 The NPPF sets out the need to take account of and support local strategies to 
improve health, social and cultural wellbeing for all, and deliver sufficient 
community and cultural facilities and services to meet local need. 

4.44 Core Policy 7 seeks to ensure that social and community and facilities are 
delivered alongside new development. 

DEV8 Social and Community Facilities 

Residential 

Allocated Local Plan sites will provide social and community facilities either 

on-site, where required in the Infrastructure Delivery Plans, or contribute to 

off-site provision through S106. 

For other development, improvements to existing social and community 

facilities will generally be funded through CIL. 

Relevant Local Plan policy: LPP2 - DP8 

 

4.45 Community and social facilities include: community centres/halls; indoor leisure 
facilities; libraries; museums; adult day care services; adult learning services and 
indoor youth facilities. These provide for the social, welfare, learning and cultural 
needs of residents and help to create and maintain sustainable communities.  

4.46 On large and strategic sites, the number of new residents and the need to provide 
a focus of social activity for the new community may generate a need for a new 
community building(s) on-site or improved provision nearby. Whether a need 

Page 104



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

18 

exists for such facilities is usually identified in the allocation or application 
process and, sometimes, the limited capacity and distance from existing facilities 
warrants a new or improved facility. The Council will liaise with the local 
community including town and parish councils, local councillors and community 
groups to identify appropriate provision. A new community development worker 
to encourage active participation and support community groups, activities and 
local resident associations may also be required and will be secured by a S106 
obligation. It will be necessary to identify responsibilities for management (which 
may be the district, town or parish council or another organisation) and ongoing 
maintenance for new facilities will also be required. In some instances, it may be 
preferable to secure improvements to existing facilities, provided those facilities 
are within recommended travelling distances.   

Essential Services 

Health Care 

4.47 Core Policy 7 of the Local Plan 2031 sets out the Council’s approach to the 
delivery of infrastructure to support development, whilst Strategic Objective SO4 
of the Plan seeks to improve the health and well-being of Vale residents, as well 
as seeking to reduce inequality, poverty and social exclusion within the district. 
The Council will liaise with the Clinical Commissioning Group, GP practices, town 
and parish councils and local councillors in respect of new facilities funded 
through S106 and will obtain latest financial information from the CCG for 
calculating contributions towards health facilities from specific developments. 

DEV9 Health Care 

Residential 

New or increased capacity of health facilities will be sought through S106 

from development on allocated sites exempt from CIL. 

Development contributions for healthcare will be sought through S106 from 

all extra care, nursing and care home developments.  

For other residential development, the provision and enhancement and/or 

extension of healthcare facilities will generally be funded by CIL.  

Relevant Local Plan policy: LPP1 - CP26 

 

Fire & Rescue and Police 

4.48 Any new development can increase demands on the fire and rescue service, 
both by extending an area of fire risk and increasing the level of fire risk in an 
area. The demands placed on the fire and rescue service manifest themselves 
in a variety of forms depending on the scale and nature of the proposed 
development. Growth in households and population also places an additional 
demand on police resources. The NPPF confirms that sustainable development 

Page 105



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

19 

includes securing a safe environment through the delivery of social infrastructure 
needed by communities, with paragraph 20 making explicit reference to the need 
for policies to deliver development that makes sufficient provision for security 
infrastructure. 

DEV10 Fire & Rescue and Police 

All development 

Improvements to the fire and rescue and police services can be funded 

through S106 and/or CIL. 

 

4.49 It will generally be a requirement that external fire hydrants are provided to the 
satisfaction of the Oxfordshire Fire & Rescue Service.  

Cemeteries 

4.50 Increased population within the district will require the provision/expansion of 
cemeteries. The majority of cemeteries are managed by town or parish councils 
who would need to undertake future responsibility secured through the S106, 
together with appropriate maintenance.  

DEV11 Cemeteries 

Residential  

Where the Local Plan or a neighbourhood plan identifies a need for an 

allocated site to provide or contribute towards cemetery space, this will be 

secured through S106. 

Placemaking and Public Realm  

4.51 The NPPF states that the Government attaches great importance to the design 
of the built environment. It is important to plan positively for high quality and 
inclusive design for all development, including individual buildings, public and 
private spaces and wider area development proposals. This includes responding 
to a site’s heritage context and local character. 

4.52 LPP1 Core Policy 37 (Design and Local Distinctiveness) requires all proposals 
for new development to be of high quality design that provides a clear and 
permeable structure of streets, routes and spaces that are legible and easy to 
navigate through because of the street typology, views, landmarks, public art and 
focal points. CP37 also requires new development to secure a high quality public 
realm with well managed and maintained public areas, which are overlooked to 
promote greater community safety.  

4.53 LPP2 Development Policy 20 requires that for all major development proposals 
and sites larger than 0.5 hectares, the provision of public art will be sought that 

Page 106



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

20 

makes a significant contribution towards the appearance of the scheme or the 
character of the area or which benefits the local community. 

DEV12 Public Realm, including Public Art 

All development 

Enhancement of the public realm (for example through the provision of 

street furniture, signage, wayfinding and links to wider walking and cycling 

networks) will be secured, where appropriate, through S106.  

Major development sites 

Strategic public realm improvements, including town centre improvements to 

increase accessibility for people with disabilities, may be sought through 

S106. 

On all major developments or sites over 0.5ha, developers should 

incorporate public art into their development or in the local area (for example, 

through the design of spaces and buildings).   

Relevant Local Plan policies include: LPP1 - CP37 & LPP2 - DP20 

 

4.54 Public art integrated into developments will assist in delivering buildings and 
spaces that provide visual interest and a sense of identity. The involvement of 
the local community alongside professional artists in the design and 
commissioning of bespoke public art is important in creating a unique sense of 
place. 

4.55 The provision of public art, including its location and design, should be in 
accordance with the Council’s Design Guide SPD. The Council’s Arts 
Development Officer should be involved in the master planning of major schemes 
at an early stage. A written public art statement, setting out the commissioning 
process, location, budget and artist briefs, is expected to be in place prior to the 
commencement of the development. Timescales for delivery of public art should 
also be secured.  

4.56 Where public art remains in private ownership the provision will be secured by 
condition. If the land is to be transferred into public ownership the provision, 
including management will be secured through S106. The budget/contribution for 
each development will be based on the public impact, visibility and profile of the 
development. 

Employment, skills and training 

4.57 The NPPF supports economic growth to create jobs and prosperity. It is important 
that local people are able to access the benefits of such growth in the district. 

Page 107



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

21 

4.58 Core Policy 38 of LPP1 requires major development to provide access to 
education and training facilities to meet the needs of the community. 

DEV13 Employment, Skills and Training 

Contributions towards employment, skills and training initiatives (including 

Community Employment Plans) will be secured through S106 from non-

residential development over 1,000 sqm/ 1 hectare and residential 

development of 500 or more dwellings. 

Relevant Local Plan policy: LPP2 - DP11 

 

4.59 Community Employment Plans are employer-led initiatives which seek to 
mitigate the impacts of development through ensuring that local people can 
better access job opportunities arising from the development. Outcomes 
contained within CEPs should relate to outcomes flowing from the ‘construction’ 
phase and ‘end user’ phase and are likely to include apprenticeships, 
employment/training programs for all ages, and best endeavours to maximise 
local labour. 

Environmental Impacts 

Climate Change Mitigation 

4.60 Core Policy 37 (Design and Local Distinctiveness) of the LPP1 requires proposed 
new development to address sustainability and climate change intrinsically 
through location and design, by taking into account landform, layout, building 
orientation, massing and landscaping to minimise energy consumption and 
mitigate water run-off and flood risks. Planning conditions can achieve improved 
provision of carbon reduction measures (such as EV charging points) and CIL is 
the appropriate mechanism for securing developer contributions towards off-site 
and wider carbon reduction initiatives that are not directly related to a specific 
development, including renewable energy and energy storage infrastructure. 

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure 

4.61 Green infrastructure comprises parks and gardens, accessible natural and semi 
natural green space, green links, watercourses and canals, ecological networks, 
and nationally and locally designated nature conservation sites. These provide 
important informal recreation facilities and a biodiversity resource.  

4.62 The NPPF highlights the role that planning plays in the protection, enhancement 
and management of biodiversity networks and requires planning policies to 
minimise impacts on and provide net gains for biodiversity. The Biodiversity 2020 
Strategy3 sets out Government’s objectives to conserve enhance and restore the 
diversity of England’s wildlife and to contribute to rural renewal and urban 

                                                      
3 Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for England’s wildlife and ecosystem services, Department for Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs, August 2011 

Page 108



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

22 

renaissance, by enhancing biodiversity in green spaces among developments. 
Biodiversity enhancements will generally be secured by restrictive conditions 
through the Biodiversity Offsetting Scheme, requiring a certificate confirming the 
agreement of an Offsetting Provider to deliver a Biodiversity Offsetting Scheme. 
The details of biodiversity enhancements shall be documented by the Offset 
Provider and issued to the Council for their records. 

4.63 In some circumstances where specific mitigation or compensation is required to 
make a development scheme acceptable, a separate planning obligation through 
S106 may also be required.  

4.64 Core Policy 45 of the LPP1 states that a net gain in green infrastructure, including 
biodiversity, will be sought either through on-site provision or off-site 
contributions. The South and Vale Green Infrastructure Strategy (October 2017) 
identifies the level of provision for all the major settlements and areas of need.  

4.65 Core Policy 46 of the LPP1 goes on to state that opportunities for biodiversity 
gain will be actively sought and that a net loss of biodiversity will be avoided. The 
forthcoming Environment Act is likely to supersede this, setting a national 
minimum figure for 10% biodiversity net gain and making this a mandatory 
requirement for all development.  

4.66 Policy DP31 of LPP2 states that the Council will actively seek opportunities to 
improve the accessibility and the addition of new connections and status 
upgrades to the existing rights of way network, including National Trails. 

DEV14 Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure 

All development 

Biodiversity mitigation and enhancements will be secured through conditions 

or S106. This can include off-site mitigation and enhancement measures for 

both the direct and indirect impacts of a development scheme. All 

development should aim to deliver at least 10% net gain in biodiversity4.  

Strategic habitat creation, enhancement and restoration would most 

appropriately be funded through CIL. 

Relevant Local Plan policies include: LPP1 - CP37, CP45, CP46 and LPP2 - 

DP30, DP31, DP32. Also, the forthcoming Environment Act.  

 

Waste & Recycling 

4.67 Development Policy DP28 requires development to make adequate provision for 
the management of waste in new developments. 

                                                      
4 A minimum 10% net gain in biodiversity will become a statutory requirement with the passage of the Environment Act. 

Page 109



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

23 

DEV15 Waste & Recycling 

Residential: 

Site related provision of household recycling and waste bins will be secured 

through S106. 

Improvements to or provision of Household Waste & Recycling Centres may 

be secured through S106. 

Relevant Local Plan policies include: LPP1 - CP43 and LPP2 - DP28 

 

4.68 New development will require the provision of new waste and recycling bins. The 
Council will seek a financial contribution towards the provision of bins to new 
properties on sites of 11 or more units through Section 106. On smaller sites of 
10 or fewer units, the Council will issue an invoice to the applicant. 

4.69  Oxfordshire County Council is responsible for providing Household Waste 
Recycling Centres (HWRCs) for residents to deposit household materials that 
are not usually collected at the kerbside. HWRCs aim to maximise waste 
reduction, reuse and recycling and support the circular economy. The County 
Council may require developers to mitigate the impact of their development on 
HWRC facilities by contributing towards the cost of improving or providing a new 
HWRC site that will serve the development. 

Air Quality 

4.70 Core Policy 43 of the LPP1 requires new development to have regard to air 
quality and any Air Quality Management Areas. Development Policy 26 of LPP2 
also requires new development to minimise the impact on air quality through 
design of mitigation measures. 

4.71 There are three Air Quality Management Areas (in Botley, Abingdon and 
Marcham) where, due to traffic issues, air pollution exceeds the levels set by 
European and UK regulations. In Abingdon, an action plan has been put into 
place to alter the movement of traffic in the town centre.  At Botley, the 
designation is due to high levels of traffic on the A34. At Marcham, the AQMA 
follows both sides of the A415, as it passes through the built-up area. 

DEV16 Air Quality 

All development 

Mitigation measures (required directly as a result of a specific development 

and cumulative impacts) and wider Air Quality Measures associated with 

development will be secured through S106. Relevant Local Plan policies 

include: LPP1 - CP33, CP34, CP35, CP43 and LPP2 - DP26 

Page 110



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

24 

 

4.72 For developments which are likely to have an impact on air quality, an air quality 
assessment will need to be submitted as part of the planning application. It will 
need to consider cumulative impacts upon air quality. The overall aim of an air 
quality assessment is to determine whether the development will have a 
significant impact on air quality or whether the existing air quality environment is 
unacceptable for the proposed development. It will identify likely impacts on air 
quality and the need for additional monitoring.  

4.73 The Council’s Air Quality Action Plan (2015) aims to increase the provision of 
electric vehicle charging points in new development and in Council-owned car 
parks.  Planning conditions will be used to secure the provision of electric vehicle 
charging points. Electric vehicle charging points will be required for all dwellings 
with on-plot parking and communal charging facilities will be required for flats / 
apartments. For commercial development, at least one electric vehicle charging 
point will be required per 1,000m2 of floorspace. 

Flood Protection and Water Management 

4.74 Section 14 of the NPPF deals with the challenges of climate change, flooding 
and coastal change. It states that planning authorities should adopt proactive 
strategies to mitigate and adapt to climate change, taking full account of flood 
risk, coastal change and water supply and demand considerations. 

4.75 Core Policy 42 of the LPP1 requires new development over 1 hectare in flood 
zone 1, plus all new development in flood zones 2 and 3, to provide a site specific 
flood risk assessment.  All development will be required to provide a drainage 
strategy. 

DEV17 Flood Protection 

All development 

Provision and maintenance of off-site flood protection and water 

management, i.e. Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS), will be secured 

through conditions and S106.  

Relevant Local Plan policy: LPP1 - CP42 

 

4.76 The flood risk measures required to mitigate a development proposal should be 
managed on-site by way of planning obligation or condition. In some 
circumstances, a Section 106 agreement may be needed for on and/or off-site 
measures. These may cover design and maintenance of sustainable drainage 
systems or flood management features. The Council will expect any flood 
management measures to be in place prior to occupation of the development.  

4.77 Potential flooding and pollution risks from surface water can be decreased by 
reducing the volume and rate of water entering the sewerage system and 

Page 111



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

25 

watercourses. SuDS seek to manage surface water as close to its source as 
possible and mimic surface water flows arising from a site prior to its 
development. 

4.78 The use of SuDS is required for all new development, where appropriate, and 
should be carefully designed as a structural feature of the development. SuDS 
are often integral to a development and cannot easily be accommodated within 
a site once a layout has been planned. Developers should, therefore, liaise with 
the County Council (as lead local flood authority) and the District Council at an 
early stage to discuss options for an appropriate and sustainable approach to 
site drainage. Full details of the proposed SuDS and/or how the proposed 
development meets the County Council’s Flood Risk Management Strategy is 
required as part of the planning application. 

4.79 When planning a sustainable drainage system, developers need to ensure their 
design allows for maintenance of the system, so that it continues to provide 
effective drainage for the development. A poorly maintained system can increase 
flood risk rather than reduce it. Developers need to make arrangements for the 
future maintenance of sustainable drainage systems. SuDS associated with 
adopted highway provision will be dealt with under S278 and S38 of the 
Highways Act 1980. 

4.80 All drainage should be designed in accordance with Oxfordshire County Council 
and District Council local standards as well as comply with the non-statutory 
technical standards for sustainable drainage and Sewerage Sector Guidance 
approved documents. To secure suitable future maintenance arrangements, all 
drainage eligible for adoption, must be offered for adoption under S104 of the 
Water Industry Act to the statutory water authority covering the district, with a 
suitable proposed S104 agreement plan provided prior to commencement of the 
development. A copy of the associated technical approval certificate and signed 
adoption agreement should be provided to the District Council prior to first 
occupation. 

Waste Water 

4.81 Core Policy 7 requires all new development to provide the necessary on-site 
infrastructure. This includes demonstrating that there is adequate water supply, 
surface water drainage, foul drainage and sewerage treatment capacity both on 
and off-site to service the development.  

4.82 There are known capacity issues with waste water treatment in the district as 
evidenced in the Water Cycle Study 2015 and the Addendum to the Water Cycle 
Study (2018)5. The Infrastructure Delivery Plan identifies those strategic sites 
where Thames Water have indicated that works are required to facilitate 
development. 

4.83 Necessary improvements to sewerage water treatment infrastructure will be 
programmed by the water companies and need to be completed prior to 
occupation of the development. To ensure timely housing delivery, developers 

                                                      
5 Addendum to the Water Cycle Study 2018 

Page 112

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=FolderView&ID=627990642&CODE=5B5E037FB8EDDB17AA1EFFC78D0AE00A&NAME=WWF01.1+Vale+of+White+Horse+District+Council+Water+Cycle+Study+%28September+2015%29&REF=Local%20Plan%202031%20Part%201%20Examination%20Library


Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

26 

will be expected to engage with the water authority to agree a housing and 
infrastructure delivery plan to ensure that development does not outpace the 
delivery of off-site infrastructure. This is usually secured by condition. 

Utilities 

4.84 With regard to utilities such as gas, electricity, water supply, water quality and 
waste water treatment, the developer will need to work closely with relevant 
providers to ensure adequate capacity to serve the development. Some site-
specific requirements for larger sites may involve the provision of new electric 
substations, water pumping stations, supply pipe work etc., depending on their 
scale, location and nature. The Council will want assurance that the developer 
and utility providers have put in place arrangements for the delivery of this type 
of infrastructure and that its provision has been planned for at the early the stages 
of the development.  The developer should liaise with utility providers at an early 
stage (pre-application) to identify any capacity issues and how to overcome 
these. 

4.85 Developers need to consider the net increase in water and waste water demand 
to serve their developments and also any impact the development may have off-
site or further down the network, if no/low water pressure and internal/external 
sewage flooding of property is to be avoided. Thames Water encourages 
developers to use their free pre-planning service. This service can tell developers 
at an early stage if there will be capacity in Thames Water and/or waste water 
networks to serve their development, or what they will do if there is not. The 
developer can then submit this communication as evidence to support a planning 
application and Thames Water can prepare to serve the new development at the 
point of need, helping avoid delays to housing delivery programmes. 

Street Naming 

4.86 Vale of White Horse District Council is the Street Naming and Numbering 
authority for this district and carries out these functions under the provisions of 
the Oxfordshire Act 1985. For new development of 10 dwellings and above, that 
requires new street names and street nameplates, the Council will seek financial 
contributions for street naming and the provision of street nameplates through 
Section 106.  

DEV18 Street Naming 

Residential  

Contributions towards street naming and numbering will be funded through 

S106. 

Relevant Local Plan policy: LPP1 - CP7 

 

  

Page 113

https://www.thameswater.co.uk/preplanning


Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

27 

5. MANAGEMENT AND MAINTENANCE OF INFRASTRUCTURE 

Open Space 

5.1 On-site infrastructure may comprise open space, sport and recreation facilities, 
play areas, green infrastructure, allotments, public art and community 
centre/halls etc.  The laying out and maintenance and management of the 
infrastructure is the responsibility of the developer, who will be required to 
demonstrate that satisfactory provision for indefinite future maintenance has 
been made. 

5.2 Where the District Council or local town/parish council has expressed an interest 
in managing the open space and other facilities or on-site infrastructure, the 
Council will explore this option with the applicant and town/parish council, to 
ensure that satisfactory long term maintenance is met and provided for, including 
a commuted sum for the long term maintenance. In the case of open space, this 
should cover a 20 year period. In these instances, the S106 agreement will allow 
for the town/parish council to be offered the option of taking the land or facility 
and to have a set period in which to consider, usually 3 months. If the town/parish 
council accepts the transfer, there must be opportunity for the town/parish council 
to inspect the ongoing works. Once open space is completed, the Council and/or 
the town/parish council will be required to check the completed works, involving 
relevant expertise, before accepting the transfer. If necessary, the developer 
should fund the procurement of the relevant expertise. The land or facility should 
be transferred upon completion, together with the commuted sum. The Council 
will consider the merits of each case as to whether a direct transfer and payment 
to the town/parish council can be made or should come to the District Council 
initially. If the transfer / payment is direct to the town/parish, the developer shall 
provide evidence of the transfer and payment to the Council within 1 week of the 
transactions. 

5.3 Additional options for management and maintenance could include: 

(1)  the land being owned by the District Council and leased to the town or 
parish council or another organisation, with the commuted sum being 
released on an annual basis; or 

(2) the land being owned by another organisation (e.g. a Management 
Company or other body with long-term stewardship goals, such as a 
development specific organisation or community/land trust). 

5.4 If the land is not to be transferred to a third party management body, the applicant 
will need to demonstrate how the open space will be managed and funded, 
usually through the creation of a management company including the allocation 
of funds to the management company to cover a 20 year maintenance and 
management period. The developer may need to consider service charges for 
new residents. However, affordable housing will be exempt from such charges 
(or charges shall be capped) and this will be specified in the S106 agreement. 
Where the third party body is a Management Company, the principal objective of 
the Management Company shall be providing for the maintenance of the Public 
Open Space / Facility. The management company shall also be limited by shares 

Page 114



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

28 

or by guarantee and membership shall be restricted, for instance to the Owner, 
the Developer, the transferees or lessees of General Market Housing Units and 
Shared Ownership Units, the Registered Provider and Town or Parish Council. 
The District Council and town or parish council shall be advised of the contact 
details of the management company and these details also displayed at the site. 
Any change in ownership / contact details shall be notified to the District Council 
and the sign / town or parish council updated. 

5.5 In some circumstances, the Council may seek a commuted sum for the 
management of off-site infrastructure. This would apply, for instance, in cases 
where off-site provision is agreed in lieu of on-site facilities. 

Buildings 

5.6 The Council will need to establish the future ownership and management of 
community buildings that are provided as part of a new development. The facility 
should be offered to the District Council, town/parish council or a relevant 
organisation (such as a sports club) in the first instance or fall back to a 
management company if the option is not taken up. 

5.7 Where community buildings are provided, the Council will require certain 
safeguards to ensure the building is built in accordance with relevant standards, 
including those on energy performance. The buildings will often need to be 
provided to a specification beyond usual building control standards, e.g. in 
accordance with Sport England or other governing bodies standards. Sufficient 
funds will be secured through the S106 for the Council to employ a relevant 
expert with liability insurance to advise on these matters. The Council will seek 
the following type of information: 

 a detailed specification (based on an outline specification to be attached to 
the S106 agreement) to a standard agreed by the Council  

 details of the identity of the contractor and the terms of the construction 
contract 

 details of the identity of the professional team including the architect/designer, 
structural engineer, M&E consultant, and sub-contractors with design input 
into the target building, together with copies of the terms upon which each is 
appointed 

 the build programme 

 access to the Council’s nominated representative to inspect the construction 
at all reasonable times on reasonable notice together with an obligation to 
take into consideration points made by the nominated representative 

 a commitment that all defects and omissions are remedied within an agreed 
timescale 

 collateral warranties in favour of the Council or at the nomination of the 
council in favour of a third party from the contractor and from all members of 

Page 115



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

29 

the professional team and from all sub-contractors which have design input 
into the target building 

5.8 In addition, the Council will normally require a bond or another form of guarantee 
to ensure the facility is implemented as agreed. Should it be determined that the 
Council is required to undertake this function, sufficient funds should be secured 
in the S106 agreement to cover the costs of appointing external expertise with 
the necessary insurances in place.  

5.9 The Council will require specifications as part of the S106 and planning process 
and the Infrastructure and Development team will be part of any discussions 
around including community facilities in new agreements. 

Public Art 

5.10 Where the ownership of on-site art features is to pass to anyone other than the 
site owner/developer, the Council will require a commuted sum. This will 
represent 7% of the value of the works to cover the costs associated with 
monitoring, repairs and maintenance over a 15-year period. 

Equipped Play Areas 

5.11 Post installation equipped play areas will be subject to a post installation   RoSPA 
inspection, which must be supplied to the Council. An inspection regime must be 
incorporated in the management and maintenance plan.   

5.12 A detailed maintenance schedule and management plan for 15 years 
maintenance will be submitted with detailed / reserved matter applications to be 
approved by condition. The maintenance and management must address safety 
inspections including weekly visual inspections and 3 monthly RoSPA 
inspections. The management shall include arrangements for litter picking, dog 
waste clearance, dog waste and general waste collection. 

Pitches 

5.13 Where new pitches are to be provided on-site, the Council will require a detailed 
specification, including drainage works and where appropriate services, to be 
submitted at full or reserved matters stages. A programme of works and funding 
for an agronomist (who will check the specification, inspect site works, inspect 
and agree practical completion and provide advice on future maintenance 
requirements), will be secured by S106 agreement. The developer will be 
required to remedy defects arising within the first year of use, based on the 
agronomist’s report and will also be required to pay a maintenance sum to cover 
a period of at least 10 years. 

6. SELF-BUILD AND CUSTOM-BUILD HOUSING 

6.1 The CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended) introduced an exemption from paying 
CIL for self-build and custom-build dwellings, subject to compliance with 
necessary processes and requirements set out in the Regulations. Such 
development is, however, still liable for S106 developer contributions (as set out 
in this SPD). The Council may also require obligations in a S106 agreement for 

Page 116



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

30 

self or custom-build housing to require that the Council is notified in the event 
where self or custom-build plots are not taken up. Dwellings constructed and sold 
in a conventional way by housebuilders will be liable for CIL. 

6.2 The CIL Regulations state that commencement of development triggers payment 
of CIL and that any application for self-build exemption from CIL must be made 
prior to commencement by the person assuming liability for each plot. 
Consequently, applicants for development comprising multiple self or custom-
build plots should apply for a ‘phased’ planning permission, which would allow 
each plot to be a separate chargeable development. This would prevent the CIL 
charge being triggered for all the plots within the wider development, as soon as 
development commences on the first plot. Each self-builder should apply for their 
CIL exemption before they commence works on their plot. Where necessary 
infrastructure works are intended to be undertaken first (e.g. access, utilities) in 
order to enable the plots to be made available as serviced plots, a phased 
permission, with the first phase being the enabling works, would allow this 
enabling work to take place without triggering CIL liability for the wider site. It can 
also ensure that, if a disqualifying event for CIL exemption occurs affecting one 
unit, it does not trigger a requirement for all plots to pay CIL. Under CIL 
Regulation 8(3A), schemes can be ‘phased’ for CIL purposes for both detailed 
and outline applications. For multiple plot self and custom-build schemes, the 
phasing should be set out in the planning permission or secured through a pre-
commencement condition. 

7. NEGOTIATION AND ADMINISTRATION OF PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 

Approach to Negotiating Planning Obligations 

7.1 Applicants will be expected to enter into pre-application discussions prior to 
submitting planning applications. The provision of infrastructure and affordable 
housing and the mechanisms to secure infrastructure will be part of these 
discussions. These pre-application discussions should help to identify any issues 
and assist in ensuring that the Council can determine applications without 
unnecessary delays. We encourage developers to discuss their proposals with 
the local community, local councillors and the relevant town or parish council and 
to engage with utility providers and stakeholders.  

7.2 Following these discussions, the planning application submission should clearly 
set out how the policies of the development plan will be addressed, including the 
provision of infrastructure and affordable housing. ‘Heads of Terms’ for the S106 
agreement must be agreed prior to recommendation on the planning application. 
Further information on the Council’s approach to negotiating planning obligations 
is set out in Appendix 2. 

Viability and Deliverability 

7.3 The Council expects development to be delivered in accordance with the policies 
of the Development Plan and NPPF, including the policies for affordable housing, 
infrastructure and place making requirements. The growth objectives and 
policies to create sustainable developments set out in the LPP1, LPP2 and the 
Community Infrastructure Levy have been tested for viability and deliverability. 

Page 117



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

31 

This is a strong foundation for delivering plan led growth in the Vale of White 
Horse District. 

7.4 Infrastructure provision, including affordable housing provision, is a necessary 
cost that needs to be factored into overall development costs. Similarly, clear up 
costs arising from previous uses need to be included in development cost 
calculations. For those sites allocated in the Local Plan, viability will have already 
been considered through the formal Local Plan preparation process and 
associated infrastructure requirements will have been included in the Council’s 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan. It is, therefore, expected that identified affordable 
housing and infrastructure requirements will not be challenged once 
development proposals reach the stage of a planning application. Government’s 
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) states that viability assessments should not 
normally be required for individual development schemes. However, any viability 
assessment undertaken will need to be based on the requirements of the NPPF 
and PPG. In all cases, land value should reflect policy, S106 and CIL (in 
accordance with latest RICS guidance6), provide a competitive return to willing 
developers and land owners and be informed by comparable, market-based 
evidence, wherever possible (but where transacted bids are significantly above 
the market norm they should not be used).  

Definition of Land Value 

7.5 To define land value for any viability assessment, a benchmark land value should 
be established on the basis of the existing use value (EUV) of the land, plus a 
premium for the landowner. The premium for the landowner should reflect the 
minimum return at which it is considered a reasonable landowner would be willing 
to sell their land. The premium should provide a reasonable incentive, in 
comparison with other options available, for the landowner to sell land for 
development while allowing a sufficient contribution to fully comply with 
Development Plan policy requirements. Landowners and site purchasers should 
consider policy requirements when agreeing land transactions. This approach is 
often called ‘existing use value plus’ (EUV+).  

7.6 The land value should also reflect the requirements to meet policy and 
infrastructure provision and known abnormal costs.  For major development sites 
where there are exceptional circumstances (and abnormal costs could not 
reasonably have been foreseen) and where the applicant considers that the 
proposed development cannot viably support the Council’s policy requirements 
and other identified needs, the Council will require the applicant to submit a 
viability assessment (see Core Policy 7 of the LPP1). The viability assessment 
should clearly explain why the development cannot bear the requirements of the 
Development Plan, which has been viability tested, and specify what has 
changed since the plan was adopted. It should identify and justify what affordable 
housing and infrastructure can be delivered as part of the development and 

                                                      
6 Assessing Viability in Planning Under the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 for England – 1st Edition March 2021, 

RICS 

Page 118



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

32 

when. The Council will need to independently assess the viability assessment 
and the developer will fund the costs of this independent review.  

Open Book Approach 

7.7 In accordance with Policy CP7 of the LPP1, the assessment will be an ‘open 
book’ viability assessment. The developer will be required to pay for the District 
and County Councils’ independent review of the viability assessment. The results 
of this review will then be considered as a material consideration in the 
assessment of the development proposal. Where it has been demonstrated that 
infrastructure requirements could render the development unviable, the Council 
will prioritise the needs for developer contributions for essential infrastructure/ 
affordable housing and/or use an appropriate mechanism to defer part of the 
developer’s required contribution to a later date. In accordance with Core Policy 
7 and as a last resort, if the development cannot meet policy requirements for 
affordable housing or provide the necessary infrastructure to ensure a 
sustainable development in line with the wider objectives of the Local Plan, 
planning permission will be refused. 

Legal, Administration and Monitoring 

7.8 The District and County Councils will require their legal costs of preparing a 
planning obligation to be borne by the developer/ applicant.  These costs will 
depend upon the form and complexity of the obligation and the amount of work 
necessary to settle the draft and proceed to completion.  Developers will need to 
meet reasonable legal fees even if the planning obligation is not completed. Both 
Councils’ solicitors will negotiate legal fees on a case by case basis.   

7.9 The Council also needs to administer and monitor the provisions of a planning 
obligation and will require the applicant/developer to bear the cost of monitoring 
S106 agreements. There will be no charge where the applicant pays upfront all 
the contributions with a unilateral undertaking. The County Council will similarly 
require its administration and monitoring costs of developments to be met by the 
applicant/developer. Costs are available on the Council’s website. 

Interest on late payment and enforcement 

7.10 Trigger points, including triggers for payments, will vary for each individual 
obligation within the Section 106 agreement. The developer is bound in each 
Section 106 agreement to notify the District and County Councils of certain 
trigger points, including commencement of the development. Where the councils 
are not notified and obligations become overdue, they will seek to enforce the 
obligation and will activate the default interest clause. A clause included in the 
Section 106 agreement will encourage prompt payment by inserting a provision 
for payment of interest at a default rate where payments are overdue. Most 
Section 106 agreements will also include a clause stating that £500 will be 
charged for each site inspection that the Council is required to undertake in order 
to check the number of dwelling occupancies, in instances where the developer 
has failed to update the Council of a trigger being reached. Non-financial 
obligations are also legally binding. As a final recourse, where obligations are not 

Page 119



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

33 

subsequently enforced, the District Council and/or the County Council will take 
legal action against those in breach of a Section 106 agreement. 

Indexation 

7.11 Financial contributions are based upon the costs of infrastructure. Financial 
contributions will be indexed to ensure that they retain their original ‘real value’. 
The base date of the indexation will be stipulated when costs are prepared. An 
appropriate index will be used for the type of infrastructure sought.  

Bonds 

7.12 Section 106 agreements often require the payment of deferred financial 
contributions, which are triggered after the implementation of the corresponding 
development. As these financial contributions have been identified as necessary 
to allow the development proceed, it is reasonable for the Council to take steps 
to secure their delivery in the event of unforeseen circumstances resulting in the 
under/non-payment of the obligations. Consequently, the Council may require 
appropriate security, in the form of a bond, to be provided by the developer and 
this requirement will initially be identified in the advice from the Council following 
the submission of a planning application.  

 

  

Page 120



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

34 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDICES 

 

 

 

  

Page 121



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

35 

Appendix 1 - Summary Table of Relevant Local Plan Policies 

 
 Local Plan 2031 Part 1 Local Plan 2031 Part 2 

 

Infrastructure provision 
 

CP7 (Providing Supporting 
Infrastructure & Services) 
 
CP4 (Meeting Our Housing Needs) 
 
CP8 (Spatial Strategy for Abingdon-
On-Thames and Oxford Fringe 
Sub-Area) 
 
CP15 (Spatial Strategy for South 
East Vale Sub-Area) 
 
CP20 (Spatial Strategy for Western 
Vale Sub-Area) 
 
Appendix A (Site Development 
Templates) 
 
CP38 (Design Strategies for 
Strategic and Major Development 
Sites) 
 
 

CP4a (Meeting Our Housing 
Needs) 
 
CP8a (Additional Site 
Allocations for Abingdon-On-
Thames and Oxford Fringe 
Sub-Area) 
 
CP8b (Dalton Barracks 
Strategic Allocation) 
 
CP15a (Additional Site 
Allocations for South East 
Vale Sub-Area) 
 
CP15c (Grove 
Comprehensive Development 
Framework) 

Affordable housing CP24 (Affordable Housing) 
 
CP25 (Rural Exception Sites) 
 
 

 

Education CP30 (Further and Higher 
Education) 
 
 

 

Transport CP12 (Safeguarding of Land for 
Strategic Highway Improvements 
within the Abingdon-On-Thames 
and Oxford Fringe Sub-Area) 
 
CP17 (Delivery of Strategic 
Highway Improvements within the 
South East Vale Sub-Area) 
 
CP18 (Safeguarding of Land for 
Transport Schemes in the South 
East Vale Sub-Area) 
 
CP21 (Safeguarding of Land for 
Strategic Highway Improvements 
within the Western Vale Sub-Area) 
 
CP33 (Promoting Sustainable 
Transport and Accessibility) 
 
CP35 (Promoting Public Transport, 
Cycling and Walking) 

CP12a (Safeguarding of Land 
for Strategic Highway 
Improvements within the 
Abingdon-on Thames and 
Oxford Fringe Sub Area) 
 
CP18a (Safeguarding of Land 
for Strategic Highway 
Improvements within the 
South-East Vale Sub-Area) 
 
DP16 (Access) 
 
DP17 (Transport Assessment 
and Travel Plans) 

Page 122



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

36 

 
CP37 (Design and Local 
Distinctiveness 
 

 Local Plan 2031 Part 1 Local Plan 2031 Part 2 
 

Indoor and outdoor 
recreation and sports 
facilities 
 

CP37 (Design and Local 
Distinctiveness) 

DP32 (The Wilts and 
Berkshire Canal) 
 
DP34 (Leisure and Sports 
Facilities) 
 

Open space 
 

 
 

DP33 (Open Space) 
 

Play areas 
 

 
 

DP33 (Open Space) 
 

Allotments 
 

 DP33 (Open Space) 

 
Social and community 
facilities 
 

 DP8 (Community Services 
and Facilities) 
 

Health care 
 
 

CP26 (Accommodating Current and 
Future Needs of the Ageing 
Population) 
 

 

Public realm (including 
public art & community 
safety) 
 
 

CP37 (Design and Local 
Distinctiveness) 

DP20 (Public Art) 

Employment, skills & 
training 
 

 DP11 (Community 
Employment Plans) 
 

Biodiversity & green 
infrastructure 
 

CP37 (Design and Local 
Distinctiveness) 
 
CP45 (Green Infrastructure) 
 
CP46 (Conservation and 
Improvement of Biodiversity) 
 
 

DP30 (Watercourses) 
 
DP31 (Protection of Public 
Rights of Way, National Trails 
and Open Access Areas) 
 
DP32 (Wilts and Berks Canal) 
 

Waste & recycling 
facilities 
 

CP43 (Natural Resources) 
 

DP28 (Waste Collection and 
Recycling) 
 

Air Quality 
 

CP33 (Promoting Sustainable 
Transport and Accessibility) 
 
CP34 (A34 Strategy) 
 
CP35 (Promoting Public Transport, 
Cycling and Walking) 
 
CP43 (Natural Resources) 
 
 

DP26 (Air Quality) 

Flood protection & 
sustainable drainage 
systems 

CP42 (Flood Risk)  

Page 123



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

37 

 

 

  

Page 124



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

38 

Appendix 2 – Approach to Negotiating Planning Obligations  

The Council will negotiate planning obligations on the following basis: 

1. Developers of large or complex sites will enter into pre-application discussions with 
the District Council and infrastructure providers. This will include draft S106/S278 
agreements or detailed Heads of Terms addressing the requirements that cannot 
reasonably be addressed by the submission or conditions. The Council highlights 
the need to engage with all parties involved at an early stage. 

2. The District Council and /or the County Council, for large or complex sites, will seek 
to enter into a planning performance agreement with the applicant. 

3. The District Council will, in co-operation with the County Council and other bodies, 
identify the impacts expected to arise from development proposals on 
infrastructure such as transportation, highway works, schools and libraries. The 
need for planning obligations should be identified as early in the application 
process as possible. 

4. On sites where social and community facilities will be secured through Section 106, 
the District Council will discuss with internal services, relevant sporting bodies, the 
local parish or town council and councillors on the need and type of infrastructure, 
relating to outdoor recreation and sports facilities, play areas and community 
facilities. Neighbourhood Plans and Community Led Plans will help identify the 
need for necessary infrastructure. 

5. Where the need arises for provision and/or contributions for services not 
administered by the District Council, it will work with the County Council and other 
agencies. 

6. Where the applicant considers that the proposed development cannot viably 
support the identified infrastructure requirements, they will submit a viability 
assessment at the earliest possible opportunity (preferably pre-application) in 
accordance with LPP1 Core Policy 7. 

7. Where an application is made that is part of a wider development area then master 
planning for the wider site must also be shown, with appropriate landowner 
agreements shown to be in place, so that infrastructure needs are planned in for 
the wider area. 

8. The developer must demonstrate that they have the necessary control of the land 
subject to the S106 agreement. Legal fees will be paid by the developer. 

9. Detailed draft ‘Heads of Terms’ for a S106 should be agreed before a planning 
application is referred to Planning Committee, who will be asked to agree those 
heads of terms.    

10. All parties will need to act efficiently, effectively and reasonably to secure the timely 
completion of agreements prior to the issuing of any planning permission. If there 
has been a material change in circumstances (e.g. viability) or infrastructure 
requirements in the period from resolution to the final draft agreement, the 
applications and heads of terms may be referred back to the Planning Committee 
for agreement.  

11. The S106 agreement will be prepared and finalised in accordance with the 
Council’s constitution.  

Page 125



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

39 

12. The legal agreement must be signed before the issue of a planning permission. 
The absence of a necessary planning obligation may be sufficient for the Council 
to refuse permission. 

 

Page 126



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

40 

Appendix 3 – Standards for Indoor and Outdoor Sport 

Sport Provision Standards Distance Standards 

Squash courts 0.1 squash court per 1,000 people. The whole population within 
20 minutes’ drive of the 
nearest court. 

Sports Halls 0.29 badminton courts per 1,000 people  The whole population within 
20 minutes driving time of the 
closest hall. 

Swimming pool 11.36 sqm of indoor swimming pool per 1,000 people. 

The new replacement pool at the proposed Wantage/Grove leisure centre should have:  

• 25 m x 6 lane main swimming pool 

• Teaching pool with moveable floor 

The whole population within 
20 minutes’ drive of the 
nearest pool. 

Artificial grass 
pitches 

0.03 large size AGP per 1,000 population  

The whole population within 20 minutes’ drive of the nearest AGP. 

 

Athletics tracks The retention of one outdoor track for community use at Tilsley Park. 

In Faringdon, the provision of a small outdoor athletics training facility (subject to feasibility study).  

The whole population within 
30 minutes driving time of 
nearest facility. 

Health and Fitness 5.64 stations per 1,000 population. 

The area for each indoor fitness station is taken to be an average of 5 sq m. It is appropriate that 
developers should be asked for a contribution towards the building cost for the health and fitness 
space, but not the equipment which is often supplied on a contract basis. The cost of the building 
space is currently estimated to be £16,400 per station, or £2733.33 per sq m 

 

Indoor bowls 0.08 rinks per 1,000 population. The whole population within 
15 minutes driving time of 
nearest facility. 

Outdoor tennis 0.39 courts per 1,000 population.  

Multi Use Games 
Areas (MUGAs) 

0.3ha MUGA per 1,000 population. The whole population within 
1000m walking catchment. 

P
age 127



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

41 

Sport Provision Standards Distance Standards 

Grass playing 
pitches - football, 
cricket and rugby 

1.16ha sports pitches per 1,000 population. 

Football 

52% of pitches should be football pitches. 

Cricket 

27% of pitches should be cricket pitches. 

Rugby 

21% of pitches should be rugby pitches. 

All grass playing field sites used by the community require no or minimum informal use and should 
be fenced.  

There is also a requirement for developers to contribute towards the cost of clubhouses/pavilions 
and ancillary facilities at playing field sites. This requirement is based on the following assumption:  

• Football: 1 x 4-team changing room pavilion for 3 ha pitch space  

• Cricket: 1 x clubhouse per 2 ha ground  

• Rugby: 1 x 4 team changing room clubhouse for 4 ha pitch space 

Football 

The whole population within 
10 minutes walking 
catchment or 15 minutes 
driving time. 

Cricket 

The whole population within 
15 minutes driving time. 

Rugby 

The whole population within 
20 minutes driving time. 

 

  

P
age 128



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

42 

Appendix 4 - Specifications for Children’s Play Provision 

A detailed specification must be submitted with a full application or at Reserved Matters stage and will be subject to community consultation.  

Type Minimum 
Size 

Equipment/Facilities Design 
Considerations 

Distance 
from 
dwellings 

Boundary Treatment Management 

Local Area for 
Play (LAP) 

100 sqm A designed space for natural play, 
using changes in level, natural 
features such as boulders, logs or 
small dips, and planting with a range 
of textures, scents and colours. 

Creating a space that will stimulate 
senses and enable young children 
to claim the space as their own. 

Provision of seating. 

Appropriate to 
community 
needs. 

Unique to the 
development. 

Taking into 
account natural 
features. 

Integrated within 
the open space. 

Accessible to 
children with 
disabilities. 

Good natural 
surveillance. 

Safer surfacing. 

Generous use of 
planting. 

Located where 
they are of most 
value to the 
community to be 
served. 

5m from 
boundary 

Incorporated within open 
space, planting may be 
used to indicate 
boundaries. Perimeter 
fencing is not appropriate. 

The open space itself may 
be fenced from roads if 
appropriate. 

Arrangements for 
graffiti removal, litter 
picking, dog waste 
clearance, dog waste 
and general waste 
collection. 

Locally 
Equipped Area 
for Play 
(LEAP) 

400 sqm At least 5 types of play equipment, 
providing a range of activities7, 
avoiding duplication of nearby play 
facilities. 

Planting to provide a range of 
textures, scents and colours. 

Seating in sun and shade. Litter 
bins. 

20m from 
facade 

Recognisable by either 
fencing or landscaping. 
Perimeter fencing is 
generally inappropriate 
although the site may be 
fenced from adjoining 
roads and other hazards. 

In addition to LEAP 
requirements –  

Post installation 
RoSPA inspection. 

Inspection regime 
incorporated in 
management and 
maintenance plan. 

Weekly visual 
inspections. 

3 monthly inspections 
to a recognised 
standard. 

Neighbourhood 
Equipped Area 
for Play 
(NEAP) 

1000 
sqm 

In addition to LEAP requirements - 
minimum activity zone of 1,000m2, 
with play equipment and structures. 

Hard surfaced area of 465sqm for 
five a side football and other games. 

Separation of more adventurous 
play. 

30m from 
boundary 

                                                      
7 Running, balancing, sliding, climbing, swinging, crawling and jumping, socialising, playing ball games and being generally active. 

P
age 129



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

43 

 
Children’s Play - further guidance 
• Vale of White Horse Design Guide SPD 
• Guidance for Outdoor Sport and Play - Beyond the Six Acre Standard 

(Fields in Trust, 2015) 
• Design for Play: A guide to creating successful play spaces (Play England, 

2008)   
• ROSPA’s guidance on accessible play areas (http://www.rospa.com/play-

safety/inspections/disabled-people/)

Page 130

http://www.rospa.com/play-safety/inspections/disabled-people/
http://www.rospa.com/play-safety/inspections/disabled-people/


Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

44 

Glossary 

 
Air Quality Assessment: An assessment of the impact of a development on 
the levels of certain pollutants in the local area.  
 
Affordable Housing: Social rented, affordable rented and intermediate 
housing, provided to eligible households whose needs are not met by the 
market. Eligibility is determined with regard to local incomes and local house 
prices. Affordable housing should include provisions to remain at an affordable 
price for future eligible households or for the subsidy to be recycled for 
alternative affordable housing provision. (See also First Homes, a new 
category of affordable housing introduced in 2021) 

In accordance with the NPPF affordable housing is to be met on-site unless: a) 
off-site provision or an appropriate financial contribution in lieu can be robustly 
justified; and b) the agreed approach contributes to the objective of creating 
mixed and balanced communities. Provision of affordable housing should not 
be sought for residential developments that are not major developments, other 
than in designated rural areas (where policies may set out a lower threshold of 
5 units or fewer). 

Bond: A surety document provided by an approved third party (e.g. a major 
bank or insurance company) that can be called on if the developer defaults. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL): The Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) is a charge which can be levied by local authorities on new development 
in their area to help fund supporting infrastructure. CIL can only be applied in 
areas where, firstly, a local authority has identified a funding gap to deliver the 
necessary infrastructure and, secondly, where it has consulted on (and 
approved) a charging schedule which sets out its CIL charging rates and has 
published the schedule on its website. Vale of White Horse District Council has 
taken these steps and operates CIL. 

CIL Regulations: CIL Regulations came into force in 2010 and have been 
amended several times. On the 1st September 2019, the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) (England) (No. 2) Regulations 2019 came 
into force, removing the requirement for a Regulation 123 List. 

 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy 

CIL Charging Schedule: Sets out the CIL charging rates for development 
types in defined zones across the Vale of White Horse District.   

CIL Spending Strategy: The Council’s non-statutory CIL Spending Strategy 
sets out how the spending of CIL funds on infrastructure will be prioritised and 
administered for the district. It is reviewed annually, in line with Council 
priorities. In accordance with the CIL Regulations, a proportion of the CIL 
monies is passed to the local town or parish council. The Spending Strategy 
also allocates funds to stakeholders such as Oxfordshire County Council and 
the Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group.  

Page 131

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy


Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

45 

Development Plan: Is defined in section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004, and includes adopted local plans, neighbourhood plans 
that have been made and published spatial development strategies, together 
with any regional strategy policies that remain in force. Neighbourhood plans 
that have been approved at referendum are also part of the development plan, 
unless the local planning authority decides that the neighbourhood plan should 
not be made. 

First Homes: The government’s preferred discounted market tenure which 
should account for at least 25% of all affordable housing units delivered by 
developers through planning obligations from June 2021. First Homes are 
defined as discounted market sale units that: 

a) must be discounted by a minimum of 30% against the market value; 

b) are sold to a person or persons meeting the First Homes eligibility criteria; 

c) on their first sale, will have a restriction registered on the title at HM Land 
Registry to ensure this discount (as a percentage of current market value) and 
certain other restrictions are passed on at each subsequent title transfer; and 

d) after the discount has been applied, the first sale must be at a price no higher 
than £250,000. 

Infrastructure: Service provision, physical infrastructure and amenity. 

Intermediate Housing: Homes for sale and rent provided at a cost above 
social rent, but below market levels, subject to the criteria under the Affordable 
Housing definition in Annex 2 of the NPPF. These can include shared equity 
(shared ownership and equity loans) and other low cost homes for sale and 
intermediate rent, but not affordable rented housing. 

Local Area for Play (LAP): Small area of unsupervised open space specifically 
designated for young children for play activities close to where they live  

Locally Equipped Area for Play (LEAP): Unsupervised play area equipped 
for children of early school age  

Local Plan: A plan for the future development of a local area, drawn up by the 
local planning authority in consultation with the community. In law this is 
described as the development plan documents adopted under the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. A local plan can consist of either strategic or 
non-strategic policies, or a combination of both.  

MUGA (Multi Use Games Area): Unsupervised area where a number of 
games can be played by children or adults 

NEAP (Neighbourhood Equipped Area for Play): Unsupervised site serving 
a substantial residential area, equipped mainly for older children but with 
opportunities for play for younger children.  

Planning condition: Requirement attached to a planning permission to limit or 
direct the manner in which a development is carried out.  

Page 132

https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Rent
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Cost
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Rent
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Affordable_housing
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Affordable_housing
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Shared_equity
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Shared_ownership
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Equity
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Loan
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Cost
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Rent
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Affordable_rented_housing


Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

46 

Planning contributions (also known as developer or Section 106 
contributions): Contributions which are, prior to the determination of a 
planning application, considered necessary to be paid to the local planning 
authorities in order to mitigate the impacts of development and to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms. 

Planning obligation: Legal agreement between a planning authority and a 
developer, or undertaking offered unilaterally by a developer, which ensures 
that planning contributions and/or works related to a development are 
undertaken (for example, the provision of highways). Sometimes called Section 
106 agreements.  

Residential: For the purposes of this document, the term ‘residential’ includes 
student accommodation, houses in multiple occupation (HMOs), age restricted 
and sheltered housing, extra-care, nursing and care homes 

Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980 – Relates to the adoption of roads within 
a development site and who is responsible for their future maintenance. 

Section 106 (Legal) agreement: A legal agreement under Section 106 of the 
1990 Town and Country Planning Act. Section 106 agreements are legal 
agreements between a planning authority and a developer/landowner, or 
undertakings offered unilaterally by a developer (see planning obligation).  

Section 278 (Legal) agreement: A legal agreement made with Oxfordshire 
County Council (or occasionally, in the case of strategic highways, the 
Highways Agency) regarding improvements to the public highway. 
 
Self-build and custom-build housing: Defined in the Self-Build and Custom 
Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended by the Housing and Planning Act 2016), 
“self-build and custom housebuilding” means the building or completion by 
individuals, associations of individual, or persons working with or for them, of 
houses to be occupied as homes by those individuals. But it does not include 
the building of a house on a plot acquired from a person who builds the house 
wholly or mainly to plans or specifications decided or offered by that person. In 
interpreting the definition above, the Act also sets out that: ‘home’, in relation to 
an individual, means the individual’s sole or main residence; ‘completion’ does 
not include anything that falls outside the definition of ‘building operations’ in 
section 55(1A) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD): Provides supplementary 
information in respect of the policies in Development Plan Documents. It can 
constitute a material planning consideration but does not form part of the 
development plan and is not subject to independent examination. 
 
Sustainable transport modes: Any efficient, safe and accessible means of 
transport with overall low impact on the environment, including walking and 
cycling, low and ultra-low emission vehicles, car sharing and public transport. 
 
Unilateral undertaking: A type of planning obligation distinct from an 
agreement, in which only one party makes an express promise or undertakes 

Page 133



Vale of White Horse Developer Contributions SPD 
 

47 

a performance, without first securing a reciprocal agreement from the other 
party. 
 

Page 134



Vale of White Horse District Council – Scrutiny work programme  - 1 July 2021 Page 1 16/07/21 

Scrutiny work programme 
1 July 2021 

 
 
 

MEETING 
 

AGENDA ITEM  PURPOSE CABINET MEMBER CONTACT OFFICER 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 13 Jul 
2021 
 

Oxfordshire Plan 2050 
 
 

To respond to the 
consultation draft plan   
 

Councillor Neil 
Fawcett 
 

Adrian Duffield 
adrian.duffield@southand
vale.gov.uk 

Scrutiny Committee 26 
Jul 2021 
 

Developer 
Contributions 
Supplementary 
Planning Document 
 
 

 
 

 
Councillor Debby 
Hallett 

Alison Williams 
Alison.williams@southan
dvale.gov.uk 
 

Scrutiny Committee 26 
Jul 2021 
 

CIL Charging Schedule 
2021 
 
 

 
 

 
Councillor Debby 
Hallett 

Alison Williams 
Alison.williams@southan
dvale.gov.uk 
 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 14 Sep 
2021 
 

Strategic property 
review 
 
 

 
 

Councillor Andrew 
Crawford 
 

Catrin Mathias 
catrin.mathias@southand
vale.gov.uk 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 14 Sep 
2021 
 

Community Safety 
Partnership report 
 
 

 
 

Councillor Helen 
Pighills 
 

Diane Foster 
diane.foster@southandva
le.gov.uk 

P
age 135

A
genda Item

 8

mailto:adrian.duffield@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrian.duffield@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:Alison.williams@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:Alison.williams@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:Alison.williams@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:Alison.williams@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:catrin.mathias@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:catrin.mathias@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:diane.foster@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:diane.foster@southandvale.gov.uk


 

MEETING 
 

AGENDA ITEM  PURPOSE CABINET MEMBER CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Vale of White Horse District Council – Scrutiny work programme  - 1 July 2021 Page 2 16/07/21 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 14 Sep 
2021 
 

SABA car park contract 
review 
 
 

 
 

Councillor Neil 
Fawcett 
 

John Backley 
john.backley@southandv
ale.gov.uk 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 14 Sep 
2021 
 

Biffa annual report 
 
 

 
 

Councillor Catherine 
Webber 
 

Ian Matten 
ian.matten@southandval
e.gov.uk 

Scrutiny Committee 23 
Sep 2021 
 

Office accommodation 
 
 

 
 

Councillor Andrew 
Crawford 
 

Adrianna Partridge 
adrianna.partridge@sout
handvale.gov.uk 

Scrutiny Committee 23 
Sep 2021 
 

Inter Authority 
Agreements 

 
 

 Suzanne Malcolm 
suzanne.malcolm@south
andvale.gov.uk 
Adrianna Partridge 
adrianna.partridge@sout
handvale.gov.uk 
 

Scrutiny Committee 23 
Sep 2021 
 

Q1 2021/22 
performance 
management report 
 
 
 

 
 

Councillor Debby 
Hallett 
 

Harry Barrington-
Mountford 
harry.barrington-
mountford@southandval
e.gov.uk 

Scrutiny Committee 12 
Oct 2021 
 

Planning appeals 
 
 
 

To consider the annual report   
 

Councillor Bethia 
Thomas 
 

Adrian Duffield 
adrian.duffield@southand
vale.gov.uk 

P
age 136

mailto:john.backley@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:john.backley@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:ian.matten@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:ian.matten@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:suzanne.malcolm@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:suzanne.malcolm@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:harry.barrington-mountford@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:harry.barrington-mountford@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:harry.barrington-mountford@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrian.duffield@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrian.duffield@southandvale.gov.uk


 

MEETING 
 

AGENDA ITEM  PURPOSE CABINET MEMBER CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Vale of White Horse District Council – Scrutiny work programme  - 1 July 2021 Page 3 16/07/21 

Scrutiny Committee 12 
Oct 2021 
 

A34 diversion routing 
 
 

Council adopted a motion on 
9 October 2019 asking 
Scrutiny Committee to 
consider this.   
 

Leader of the Council 
 

Adrian Duffield 
adrian.duffield@southand
vale.gov.uk 

Scrutiny Committee 12 
Oct 2021 
 

2020/21 financial out-
turn report 
 
 

 
 

Councillor Andrew 
Crawford 
 

Simon Hewings 
simon.hewings@southan
dvale.gov.uk 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 16 Nov 
2021 
 

Joint South and Vale 
Statement of 
Community 
Involvement 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Adrian Duffield 
adrian.duffield@southand
vale.gov.uk 

Items for future meetings (dates to be determined) 
 

Scrutiny Committee 
 

District role in 
Oxfordshire Growth 
Deal - tbc 
 
 

 
 

Councillor Neil 
Fawcett 
 

Andrew Down 
andrew.down@southand
vale.gov.uk 

Scrutiny Committee 
 

Delivery of Affordable 
Housing 
 
 

To receive a progress report 

 
Councillor Judy 
Roberts 
 

Jayne Bolton 
jayne.bolton@southandv
ale.gov.uk 

P
age 137

mailto:adrian.duffield@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrian.duffield@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrian.duffield@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrian.duffield@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.down@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.down@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.bolton@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.bolton@southandvale.gov.uk


 

MEETING 
 

AGENDA ITEM  PURPOSE CABINET MEMBER CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Vale of White Horse District Council – Scrutiny work programme  - 1 July 2021 Page 4 16/07/21 

Scrutiny Committee 
Between  1 Sep 2020 
and 30 Nov 2020 
 

Public consultations 
 
 

To review how consultations are 
run 

 

Councillor Debby 
Hallett 
 

Shona Ware 
shona.ware@southandva
le.gov.uk 

Scrutiny Committee 
 

Flooding - partnership 
roles and 
responsibilities 
 
 

 
 

Councillor Neil 
Fawcett 
 

Andrew Down 
andrew.down@southand
vale.gov.uk 

Scrutiny Committee 
 

Abingdon 
redevelopment 
 
 

 
 

Councillor Andrew 
Crawford 
 

Catrin Mathias 
catrin.mathias@southand
vale.gov.uk 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Didcot Garden Town - 
project update 
 
 

 
 

Cabinet member for 
partnership and 
Didcot Garden Town 
 

Marybeth Harasz 
marybeth.harasz@south
andvale.gov.uk 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Oxfordshire Growth 
Board - review outcome 
 
 

 
 

Leader of the Council 
 

Andrew Down 
andrew.down@southand
vale.gov.uk 

Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

GLL performance 
report 
 
 

 
 

 
Councillor Helen 
Pighills 

Melanie Smans 
Melanie.smans@southan
dvale.gov.uk 
 
 

P
age 138

mailto:shona.ware@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:shona.ware@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.down@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.down@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:catrin.mathias@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:catrin.mathias@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:marybeth.harasz@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:marybeth.harasz@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.down@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.down@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:Melanie.smans@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:Melanie.smans@southandvale.gov.uk

	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes
	minutes March2021 Vale scrutiny
	Minutes


	6 Vale Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging schedule
	Appendix 1 - Examiner's report with recommendations
	Appendix 2 - Vale CIL Charging Schedule
	Appendix 3 - Vale CIL Instalments Policy
	CIL Instalments Policy
	2017-05-25 Instalments Policy REVISED
	infrastructure back cover


	7 Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) - Adoption
	Appendix 1 - List of Respondents to the Public Consultation
	Appendix 2 - Schedule of Consultation Responses
	Appendix 3 - Amended Version of the Developer Contributions SPD

	8 Work schedule and dates for all South and Vale scrutiny meetings

